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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT S

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “Magment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” section imit& of this report, and other materials accompagytms Annual
Report orForm 10-K contain forwardeoking statements within the meaning of and safedr provided by Sectic
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as daterand Section 27A of the Securities Act of 188&mended.
We attempt, whenever possible, to identify theseafal- looking statements by words such as “intehtisill,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “may,” “estimates,” “believes,” “should,” “projects,” or “continue,” or the
negative of those words and other comparable w@dsilarly, statements that describe our businésgegy,
goals, prospects, opportunities, outlook, objecjy@ans or intentions are also forwelooking statements. These
statements may relate to, but are not limited xpeetations of future operating results or finahgarformance,
capital expenditures, introduction of new producégjulatory compliance, plans for growth, expeatednomic
conditions, and future operations, as well as agstions relating to the foregoing.

”ou

These statements are based on current expectatimhassumptions regarding future events and busines
performance and involve known and unknown risksetainties and other factors that may cause actwants ol
results to be materially different from any futeneents or results expressed or implied by thederstents. These
factors include those set forth in the followingalission and within Item 1“Risk Factors” of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and elsewhere within this report.

You should not place undue reliance on these fa@oking statements, which apply only as of the détais
Annual Report olForm 10-K. You should carefully review the risktéas described in other documents that we file
from time to time with the U.S. Securities and Bxgfe Commission, or SEC. Except as required byicgipe law,
including the rules and regulations of the SEC,deenot plan to publicly update or revise any forddwoking
statements, whether as a result of any new infaomatuture events or otherwise, other than throtigi filing of
periodic reports in accordance with the Securitie&change Act of 1934, as amenc




PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We provide a leading global digital marketing ifitgdhce and measurement platform that helps oupmess
make better-informed business decisions and impiemere effective digital business strategies. @uoducts and
solutions offer our customers deep insights intoesconer behavior, including objective, detailed infation
regarding usage of their online properties andetaigheir competitors, coupled with information @msumer
demographic characteristics, attitudes, lifestgled offline behavior.

Our digital marketing intelligence platform is coriged of proprietary databases and a computational
infrastructure that measures, analyzes and reporthgital activity. The foundation of our platforimdata collected
from our comScore panel of approximately two millimternet users worldwide, which is comprised efgons and
households with at least one computer being agtivelasured by us within the previous thirty-dayigubthat have
granted us explicit permission to confidentiallyasare their Internet usage patterns, online artdinasffline
buying behavior and other activities. By applyimtyanced statistical methodologies to our panel, deggproject
consumers’ online behavior for the total online gplagion and a wide variety of user categories. Beigig in
Summer 2009, the panel information has been congitad by comScore Media Metrix 360, a “Unified Dadi
Measurementsolution to digital audience measurement that ldgrahel and server methodologies into an app!
that provided a direct linkage and reconciliati@veen server and panel measurement. In 2010, pandgd our
customer offerings through our acquisitions of Nisxiinc., or Nexius, in July and Nedstat, B.V.Nedstat in
August. Nexius provides mobile carrier-grade sohsgithat deliver network analysis focused on theeggnce of
wireless subscribers, as well as network intelliggewith respect to performance, capacity and candigon
analytics. Nedstat is a provider of web analyticd eideo measurement solutions.

We deliver our digital marketing intelligence thghuour comScore Media Metrix product suite our coor8
Marketing Solutions products, our comScore mohilettons and our comScore web analytics solutibdfexdia
Metrix delivers digital media intelligence by prding an independent, thigghrty measurement of the size, beha
and characteristics of Web site and online adviegisetwork audiences among home, work, mobilewanidersity
Internet users as well as insight into the effextess of online advertising. Our Marketing Solwipnoducts
combine the proprietary information gathered frév®d tomScore panel with the vertical industry experbf
comScore analysts to deliver digital marketinglligence, including the measurement of online atisieig
effectiveness, customized for specific industriée. typically deliver our Media Metrix products efemically in the
form of weekly, monthly or quarterly reports. CustErs can access current and historical Media Mdata and
analyze these data anytime online. Our Marketingt®ms products are typically delivered on a ménthuarterly
or ad hoc basis through electronic reports andyaaal

Industry Background
Growth of Digital Commerce, Content, Advertising difCommunications

The Internet is a global digital medium for comnegrcontent, advertising and communications. Attime
population has grown and continues to grow, therfrgt has and is increasingly becoming a tooldsearch and
commerce and for distributing and consuming me&iiertisers have shifted more of their marketingdpets to
digital channels as consumers have increasingly teeInternet to research and make purchasearmhsume
digital media. As advertisers spend more of theirkating budgets to reach Internet users, we belieat digital
marketing will continue to grow.

In addition to the growth in online commerce, comt@nd marketing, a number of new digital techn@s@nd
devices are emerging that enable users to accatnt@nd communicate in new ways. Internet-enatoieklile
phones, or “smart” phones, and digital tablets emndaders allow users to access digital conteitit as@ames,
music, video and news on their mobile devices thhoa wireless connection to the Internet. Otheitalig
communications technologies such as voice overratgrotocol (VolP) utilize the Internet networkriastructure
to enable efficient and cost-effective personal mamications such as chat and VolP-based telephaeljery of




digital television services over a network infrasture using Internet Protocol, or IPTV, has a nendf advantage
over conventional television, including two-way amemications, digital content and features, and-auivity. We
believe these and other new digital media and conications devices and services offer a similar opymity as the
Internet for us to measure and analyze user behavio

Importance of Digital Marketing Intelligence

The interactive nature of digital media such asltiternet on computers and mobile devices enahlsmésses
to access a wealth of user information that wasiaily unavailable through offline audience meamest and
marketing intelligence techniques. Digital mediayde businesses with the opportunity to measutaildd user
activity, such as how users interact with Web pag@ent; to assess how users respond to onlineetirggk such as
which online ads users click on to pursue a traim#cand to analyze how audiences and user beheeiopare
across various Web sites. This type of detailed data can be combined with demographic, attitudind
transactional information to develop a deeper wtdading of user behavior, attributes and prefeasndnlike
offline media such as traditional television andioawhich generally only allow for the passive m@a&ment of
relative audience size, digital media enable bssieg to actively understand the link between dig@atent,
advertising and user behavior.

We believe that the growth in the online and digitedia markets for digital commerce, content, atisiag
and communications creates an unprecedented opgrtar businesses to acquire a deeper understgrafiboth
their customers and their competitive market positBusinesses can use accurate, relevant andiobjdmital
marketing intelligence to develop and validate &gtegies and improve performance. For exampkb, avdeep
understanding of the size, demographic compos#imhother characteristics of its audience, an erdontent
provider can better communicate the value of itience to potential advertisers. With detailed mston the
effectiveness of an online advertising campaigntan that campaign influences online and offlineghasing
behavior, a business can refine its marketingaities. With insight into market share and custobsdravior and
preferences, a business can understand not onlythaligital business is performing relative todtsmpetitors but
also the drivers behind such performance. Moredwetising the appropriate digital marketing intgince,
businesses can refine their digital content, corsmeadvertising and communications initiativesribance the
effectiveness and return on investment of theirket@mg spending, enabling them to build more susfeés
businesses.

Challenges in Providing Digital Marketing Intelligece

While the interactive and dynamic nature of digitedrkets creates the opportunity for businessgaitodeep
insights into user behavior and competitive stagdihere are a number of issues unique to thenate¢hat make it
challenging for companies to provide digital maitkgtintelligence. Compared to offline media suchedsvision or
radio, the markets for digital media are signifitgmore fragmented, complex and dynamic. We belithat there
are several thousand global Web sites that eaeliveeat least 500,000 unique visitors per montlzomspared to
only a few hundred channels typically availablehwsitandard digital cable or satellite televisiod &noadcast or
satellite radio. The complexities of online usetivdty and the breadth of digital content and adigarg make
providing digital marketing intelligence a techrigahallenging and highly data-intensive process.

Digital media continues to develop at a rapid paee includes numerous formats such as textual oonte
streaming and downloadable video and music, instestsaging, VolP telephony, online and social ggraim
email. Digital advertising also includes multipehats such as display, search, rich media andyvdetailed user
activity such as viewing, clicking or downloadingrious components of a Web site across digital anedi
interacting with various advertising formats creaesubstantial amount of data that must be capturea
continuous basis. The data must also be cleansepifdity, relevancy and privacy protection andobganized to
enable companies to obtain relevant digital manigeimtelligence. This capture of audience datapgrane extremel
challenging when it involves millions of Internetars with varying demographic characteristics ainggens of
thousands of Web sites across diverse geographiaddition, the ongoing evolution of Rich Media@\gations
that leverage new and evolving technologies couteib to the challenge of accurately measuring astérity. For
example, online publishers and advertisers haveedtto use new techniques that




allow Web applications to quickly make incrementptlates without having to refresh the entire Wedep®&rior to
the wide adoption of Rich Media Application, makkastrelied heavily on page view statistics to [@ad evaluate
their online media spending programs. With this méags of applications, we believe marketers aginnéng to
guestion the definition of, and need for, page gieand are seeking alternative metrics for meaguhe usage and
effectiveness of online media. To maintain thelievance, audience and media measurement technelogist kee
pace with the continued evolution and increasingmexity of digital media.

Need for Accuracy and ReliabilityRelevant digital marketing intelligence requieegess to accurate and
reliable global data that measure online user iagtiEgxisting data collection methodologies, inchglthose that
rely on third party sources, surveys or panels fgnificant challenges and limitations. Surveypanel
methodologies must measure a sufficiently largerapdesentative sample size of Internet usersdorately
capture data that is statistically projectablehtltroader Internet population. In addition, therinational
composition of Internet audiences requires a ggically dispersed sample to accurately capturbajldigital
activity. Digital marketing intelligence that demknsolely on third-party sources to obtain Intemelience usage
data has the potential to be biased, may be camstidy the data that the third party is capableapituring, and
may be limited in its application. For example péution that relies on data supplied by an Intessgtice provider,
or ISP, may show a bias toward the demographic ositipn or other characteristics of that ISP’s as&e believe
that a meaningful digital media sourcing methodglowist be based on data sourced from a large, sepiaive
global sample of online users that can be parsdg@reed, mined and analyzed; must evolve rapidiybenflexible
to adapt to changing technologies; and must betatgeovide actionable digital marketing intelligenthat can be
used to improve business decision-making.

Need for Third-Party Objectivity.We believe that the availability of objectiverthiparty data that measure
digital audience size, behavior, demographic atididinal characteristics represents a key facidhe continued
growth of digital content, advertising and commeffais is similar to offline media markets, suchesvision and
radio, whose development was significantly enhargethe introduction of third-party audience measuent
ratings that provided a basis for the pricing ofextising in those media. As the buying and selbhgnline
advertising continues to grow, we believe that camgs on both sides of the advertising transaetidn
increasingly seek third-party marketing intelligerio assess the value and effectiveness of digidia. In
addition, as advertisers work with Web site puldishto target online advertising campaigns to reaspecific
demographic or behavioral user profile, the needlgective audience and user information, unbidsedither
party to the transaction, will become increasirigiportant.

Need for Competitive Informationin addition to the scope, complexity and rapidlation of online digital
media, the lack of data on competitors makes ficdit for companies to gain a comprehensive vidwser
behavior beyond their own digital businesses. Wiitelucts and tools exist that enable companiesderstand
user activity on their own Web sites, these proglace unable to provide a view of digital audieactvity on other
Web sites or offline. In order for publishers, netdes, merchants and service providers to bemefit iccurate and
comprehensive digital marketing intelligence thegd to understand user activity on Web sites athaskiternet
and how online consumer behavior translates irflmefactions.

The comScore Digital Marketing Intelligence Platfom

We provide a leading digital marketing intelligenaatform that enables our customers to devise and
implement more effective digital business strateg®@ur platform is comprised of proprietary datasssnd a
computational infrastructure that measures, analgpel reports digital activity from our global pbok
approximately two million Internet users. This plinéormation is complemented by a Unified Digitdeasuremer
solution to digital audience measurement. Unifiegital Measurement blends panel and server metlogiks into i
solution that provides a direct linkage and reckatton between server and panel measurement. ée adir
customers deep insights into consumer behavioh@n éwn online properties and those of their cotibqes,
including objective, detailed information on usatemographic characteristics, attitudes, lifestgied multi-
channel buying activity. We also provide industpesific metrics to our customers.

We deliver our digital marketing intelligence thgéuour comScore Media Metrix suite, our comScore
Marketing Solutions products , our comScore mobdkitions and our comScore web analytics solutibtedia




Metrix provides intelligence on digital media usagpeluding a measurement of the size, behavior and
characteristics of the audiences for individual VE&bs and advertising networks within the globatle, work and
university Internet user populations as well agyimisinto the effectiveness of online advertisi@ur Marketing
Solutions products combine the proprietary infoioragathered from our user panel with the vertiedustry
expertise of comScore analysts to deliver digitatketing intelligence customized for specific indlies. Media
Metrix and Marketing Solutions products are tydicalelivered electronically in the form of periodieports,
through customized analyses or are generally aleailanline via a user interface on the comScore Biteb

Key attributes of our platform include:

« Panel of global Internet user Our ability to provide digital marketing intelégce is based on information
continuously gathered from a broad cross-sectiappfoximately two million Internet users worldwidéo
have granted us explicit permission to confidehtialeasure their Internet usage patterns, onligkecantain
offline buying behavior and other activities. Thgbuour proprietary technology, we measure detditeztne
audience activity across the spectrum of digitatent and marketing channels. Many comScore paselis
also participate in online survey research thaturap and integrates demographic, attitudinalstyfe and
product preference information with Internet bebawdata. The global nature of our Internet panabées us
to provide digital marketing intelligence for ovferty individual countries. Our global capability valuable
to companies based in international markets asagdlh multi-national companies that want to better
understand their global Internet audiences anéffieetiveness of their global digital businessiatives. Thit
panel information is complemented by a Unified BigMeasurement solution to digital audience
measurement. Unified Digital Measurement blendspand server methodologies into a solution that
provides a direct linkage and reconciliation betwserver and panel measurem:

« Census data collection and measureme®ur Unified Digital Measurement solution combimpasel
measurement of people and audience demographicawitmprehensive and accurate representatiore of th
consumption of a site’s media, which is accomplishg site owners including comScore “beacons” or
reporting pixels on all of their site content. Cesisneasurement using web beacons reports evegr st
that the site owner would register from all loca@nd devices, allows for full representationhese
audiences and devices, and fully reconciles Meditrid site audience measurement with publisherterna
server logs or web analytics metri

« Scalable technology infrastructuréeWe developed our databases and computationakinficture to support
the growth in online activity among our global Imtet panel and the increasing complexity of digitahtent
formats, advertising channels and communicationiegions. The design of our technology infrastuuetis
based on distributed processing and data captuimaments that allow for the collection and orgaation
of vast amounts of data on online activity, inchglusage of proprietary networks, instant messagimg
audio and video streaming. Our award-winning dagabafrastructure currently captures billions oflUR
records each week from our global Internet pane.bMieve that our efficient and scalable technplog
infrastructure allows us to operate and expandiata collection infrastructure on a cost-effectiasis. In
addition to the ability to scale linearly and eiéistly in processing panel based data, we haveaalded the
ability to scale quickly and efficiently in suppatftour Media Metrix 360 effort. While supportinigi$ large
growth in tracking events we also reduced the msiog time for delivering this data to our clieimt®ur
comScore Direct web interface to a few hours aftemnt recordatior

Benefits of our platform include:

¢ Advanced digital marketing intelligenc We use our proprietary technology to compile \asbunts of data
on Internet user activity and to organize the dattadiscrete, measurable elements that can betased
provide actionable insights to our customers. Weebe that our digital marketing intelligence ptati
enables companies to gain a deeper understandthgiofligital audiences, which allows them to éett
assess and improve their company and product-#peoifnpetitive position. Because our marketing
intelligence is based on a large sample of glomt@rhet users and can incorporate melignnel transaction
data, we are able to provide companies with anrergthunderstanding of digital audience activitydoely
their own Web sites and the ability to better as$les link between digital marketing a




offline user activity. Digital content providersarketers, advertising agencies, merchants anitser
providers can use the insights our platform prasitbecraft improved marketing campaigns and stiasegn!
to measure the effectiveness and return on invegtafeéheir digital initiatives

« Objective third-party resource for digital markegimtelligence. We are an independent company that is not
affiliated with the digital businesses we measure analyze, allowing us to serve as an objectiird-{barty
provider of digital marketing intelligence. Becaumesinesses use our data to plan and evaluateithegse
and sale of online advertising and to measure ffieeteveness of digital marketing, it is importahat we
provide unbiased data, marketing intelligence, respand analyses. We deploy advanced statistical
methodologies in building and maintaining the com®alobal Internet user panel and utilize provatad
capture, and computational practices in collectiatistically projecting, aggregating and analgzin
information regarding online user activity. We ek that our approach ensures that the insigh{srawgde
are as objective as possible and allows us toefgtitxoducts and services that are of value to ostoeers it
their key business decision-making. We believe tih@tmedia industry views us as a highly recognazsd
credible resource for digital marketing intelligen&or example, our information on digital activése
regularly cited by well-known media outlets suchtes Associated Press, Reuters, Bloomberg, CNBE, Th
New York Times and The Wall Street Journal. Moreowany of the leading Wall Street investment bz
also purchase and cite our data in their publiskedarch reports prepared by financial analystscthaer
Internet businesse

« Vertical industry expertise.We have developed expertise across a varietydofsiries to provide digital
marketing intelligence specifically tailored to theeds of our customers operating in specific itrgius
sectors. We have dedicated personnel to addresaitbmotive, consumer packaged goods, entertainment
financial services, media, pharmaceutical, retadhnology, telecommunications and travel secibfes.
believe that companies across different industraase distinct information and marketing intelligenteeds
related to understanding their digital audienceslaunyers, evaluating marketing initiatives and ustinding
company or product-specific competitive positionr Example, a pharmaceutical company may want to
understand how online research by consumers infkgeenew prescriptions for a particular drug, while
financial services company may want to assessftbetigeness of its online advertising campaignsigning
up new consumers and how this compares to thetefibits competitors. By working with companies in
various industries over the course of multiple geare have developed industry-specific applicatiminsur
data and our client service representatives havelaleed industry-specific knowledge and expertie t
allow us to deliver relevant and meaningful mankgtinsight to our customet

« Ease of use and functionalit The comScore digital marketing intelligence mati is designed to be easy
use by our customers. Our Media Metrix and webydital products are available through the Intersétgia
standard browser. Customers of these productslsamun customized reports and refine their analyséng
an intuitive interface available on our Web siteir Marketing Solutions products are available eitheougt
the Internet or by using standard software apptiaatsuch as Microsoft Excel, Microsoft PowerPaint
SPSS analytical software. Our customers do not teatstall additional hardware or complex software
access and use most of our prodt

Strategy

Our objective is to be the leading provider of glbthigital marketing intelligence products. We ptarpursue
our objective through internal initiatives and, gratfally, through acquisitions and other investrseithe principal
elements of our strategy are to:

« Deepen relationships with current custome We intend to work closely with our customers malgle them
to continuously enhance the value they obtain foumdigital marketing intelligence platform, inciad
many of the additional product offerings now aualdaas a result of recent acquisitions. Many of our
customers are Fortune 2000 companies that depldjpraunarketing initiatives, and we believe marfyoar
customers would benefit from more extensive usauofproduct offerings to gain additional insightsoi theil
key digital initiatives. We will work to develop drexpand our customer relationships to increase our
customer’ use of our digital marketing intelligence platfor




Grow our customer baseAs the digital media, commerce, marketing and momications sectors continue
to grow, we believe the demand for digital markgiimtelligence products will increase. To meet thigeas
in market demand, we intend to invest in saleskatarg and account management initiatives in aorefd
expand our customer base. We intend to offer betfegal and industry-specific digital marketing prots
that deliver value to a wide range of potentiaftoneers in current and new industry vertici

Expand our digital marketing intelligence platfor We expect to continue to increase our produ@rof§s
through our digital marketing intelligence platfarAs digital markets become more complex, we beligal
companies will require new information and insigiitsneasure, understand and evaluate their digital
business initiatives. We intend to develop new igptibns that leverage our digital marketing ingglhce
platform to be able to provide the most timely agl@vant information to our custome

Address emerging digital med The extension of digital media and communicatimnisclude new formats
such as content for mobile phones, VolIP, IP telemisand next generation gaming consoles creates ne
opportunities to measure and analyze emergingadligiedia. We intend to extend our digital marketing
platform to capture, measure and analyze userigciivthese emerging digital media and communarei
formats both through technology developed orgalyiea well as through strategic acquisitions and
partnerships

Grow internationally. While we are currently in the early stages ofvdimg customers with international
services, we believe that a significant opportuakists to provide our product offerings to muigitional anc
international companies. Approximately half of thasting comScore Internet user panel residesaeitsi

the United States. We plan to expand our salesrarleting and account management presence oulside t
U.S. as we provide a broader array of digital minkeintelligence products that are tailored toalooountry
markets as well as the global marketplace. Our 8Mgiétrix product, which measures global digital maed
usage, samples online users from countries thapdsenapproximately 95% of the global Internet
population. We have also completed acquisitionSertifica in Latin America and Nedstat in Europe in
recent years, which we believe will increase oobgl reach

Extend technology leadersh We believe that the scalability and functionatifyour database and
computational infrastructure provide us with a cefitive advantage in the digital media intelligemearket.
Accordingly, we intend to continue to invest ingasch and development to extend our technology
leadership. We intend to continue to enhance almtgogy platform to improve scalability, perforncananc
cost effectiveness and to expand our product oifst

Build brand awareness through media expos Our digital media, commerce and marketing infdiora
are frequently cited by media outlets. In additiwe, proactively provide them with data and insights we
believe may be relevant to their news reports atides. We believe that media coverage increases
awareness and credibility of the comScore and MeHdiix brands and supplements our marketing effort
We intend to continue to work with media outlets;luding news distributors, newspapers, magazines,
television networks, radio stations and online fslidrs, to increase their use of comScore datariteat tha
discusses digital sector activi

Our Product Offerings

We deliver our digital marketing intelligence thghuour comScore Media Metrix product suite anddgfooul

comScore Marketing Solutions, comScore mobile smiistand comScore web analytics products.

comScore Media Metrix

Media Metrix provides its subscribers, consistimgnarily of publishers, marketers, advertising agies and

advertising networks, with intelligence on digitaédia usage and a measurement of the size, belzendor
characteristics of the audiences for Web sitesaatv@rtising networks among home, work and univetsiternet
populations. Media Metrix also provides insightwithe effectiveness of online advertising. Mediatiik data can
be used to accurately identify and target key @ndindiences, evaluate the effectiveness of digitaketing and




commerce initiatives, support the selling of onlatertising by publishers, and to identify andleitpelative
competitive standing. The vast majority of our MeMetrix subscribers access selected reports aalgsms throug
the MyMetrix user interface on our Web site.

Our flagship product, Media Metrix, details theioelactivity and site visitation behavior of Intetrusers,
including use of instant messaging, e-mail, anémothgital applications. Beginning in summer 200&dia Metrix
was made available on the Media Metrix 360 Unifiadital Measurement platform, which combines panel
measurement of people and audience demographiesvill and accurate representation of the consiompf a
site’s media. Our customers subscribe to ongoiegsscto our digital marketing intelligence repamsl analyses,
including:

« comprehensive reports detailing online behaviohfime, work and university audienc

« demographic characteristics of visitors to Wehsséed properties

 buying power metrics that profile Web site audienloased on their online buying behav

+ detailed measurement and reporting of online bendei over 35 countries and over 100 U.S. locatkets;
* measurement of key ethnic segments, including tiiee@Hispanic population; ar

» reach and frequency metrics for online adsertj campaigns that show the percent of a targéence
reached and the frequency of exposure to advegtisiessage:

In addition to our core offering, customers canssuibe to the following additional products in tiedia
Metrix product suite:

Plan Metrix. Plan Metrix is a product that combines the cardirsly and passively observed Internet
behavior provided by Media Metrix with comprehemsattitude, lifestyle and product usage data ctabbc
through online surveys of our U.S. Internet userghaPlan Metrix provides advertising agencies eatisers
and publishers with multiple views of Web site andies including their online behavior, demographics
lifestyles, attitudes, technology product ownerspi@duct purchases and offline media usage. Ttigtseare
used in the design and evaluation of online mamgetampaigns. For example, an online auto retedald use
Plan Metrix to help understand which Web sitesaspective automobile purchaser is most likely styirior
to making a purchase decision.

World Metrix. We provide insights into worldwide Internet adinhrough our World Metrix product,
which delivers aggregate information about the bihmaof online users on a global basis, for appmately 30
individual countries and for regional aggregatisash as Latin America, Europe and Asia Pacific.&s@mple
a content publisher can understand its market sifete global Internet audience using our Worldiize
product.

Video Metrix. Video Metrix provides insights into the viewinfsireaming video by U.S. Internet users.
The product measures a wide range of video play@tformats, including Windows Media, Flash, Realie
and QuickTime. Video Metrix offers site-level meemment and audience ratings by demographics and
time-of-day to assist agencies, advertisers antighdns in designing and implementing media pléas t
include streaming video. For example, an advertisaris seeking to maximize the exposure of itsaghing
video ads to its target audience could use Videtriki® help understand on which sites and at winags of
the day its target audience is viewing the mosiasiting video.

Ad Metrix. Available through the Media Metrix client intecky Ad Metrix provides advertisers, agencies
and publishers with a variety of online advertisingtrics relating to impressions, or advertisementa Web
site that reach a target audience. Ad Metrix heitomers determine the impressions delivered tgréding
campaigns across Web sites and online propentielsiding how many visitors are reached with adgertients
and how often. In addition, Ad Metrix allows custers to determine the demographic profile of theeatilsing
audience at a particular site, as well as how therme of impressions changes over time on that Eite Ad
Metrix data are consistent with offline media plemgnmetrics such as GRPs, or gross rating poirtsgiw
measure the percent of a target audience thaacheel with an advertisement weighted by the




number of exposures. For example, an advertisentraige Ad Metrix to plan the online portion of an
advertising campaign for a sports product on shiashave previously successfully delivered adsej
impressions to a target demographic audience. Aighds might use Ad Metrix data to measure its slwdr
advertising impressions relative to competitive lfliers.

Segment Metrix. Segment Metrix is a product that enables mediaersy agencies and advertisers to tt
analyze and report Internet activity on their mogtortant consumer groups. Segment Metrix provities
flexibility to integrate behavioral, geographic nadegraphic and proprietary, client-defined segmaeuitis our
comScore panel. Agencies and advertisers can ygaebg Metrix to gain better insights into how tack
important target customers and advertisers andisanhe product to better integrate offline marigeti
segmentation schemes with our online panel to aflem to track, analyze and report online behawioa
segmented basis.

comScore Marketer.comScore Marketer is an interactive search igelice service that enables search
marketers and Web site operators to benchmark plegiormance versus that of their competitors gotthoze
their search marketing efforts. comScore Marke&#pshenhance search strategy by delivering insigbitpaid
and organic search results, including an analyffssearcher demographics and online behavior. Famgie,
customers can use comScore Marketer to create efficient and cost-effective search campaigns,tifien
better-performing search terms and analyze thenpatitors’ search marketing strategies.

MobiLens. MobilLens provides our customers with market-wiggtrics on mobile subscribers, mobile
handset adoption and use, and mobile media congamiptthe U.S. and certain major markets in Europe
MobiLens provides monthly market projections détgilmobile media consumption, the demographic [@sfi
of mobile subscribers, and granular technologyil@®bf every handset in active use in the U.S.saamported
European markets.

M:Metrics Mobile Metrix. Mobile Metrix measures the actual behavior ofrtist active segment of
mobile media consumers so customers can evaludierme demographics, brand reach, frequency and
duration of usage. Mobile Metrix continuously captudetailed information on mobile user behaviaros-
device meters with an opt-in panel of smartphoneer&and delivers it monthly via an intuitive Walkegy.

Ad Metrix Mobile. Ad Metrix Mobile tracks mobile display advertigiin the U.S. and UK to provide
clients with insight into which brands are adventiswith which publishers on the mobile Web.

Some examples of Media Metrix digital marketingelligence measurements and their customer uses are
described in the following table.

Digital Marketing Intelligence Measurement Examples of Customer Use

Site Traffic & Usage Intensity » rank Web sites based on online usage metrics sighigue visitors,
page views or minutes of u
+ drill-down to standard or customer-defined sitesatb such as
channels osuk-channels(such as Yahoo! Finance and Yahoo! Spc
 analyze statistics over time such as trends invsteors within
demographic segmer
» assess which Web site audiences are growing oindeg;|which sites
are most attractive to particular demographic segsner which sites
or digital applications have the highest level shge
« identify the source of traffic to a particular Wsite or channel within
a site
Quantitative Consumer Information « profile site users based on life-stage or offliebdwvior such as
panelist-reported TV usage, car ownership, healtiditions or offline
purchase:
« efficiently identify and target a particular usegment (e.g., people
who say they are likely to buy a car in the nextrsbnths)




Digital Marketing Intelligence Measurement

Online Buying Power

Competitive Intelligence

Reach and Frequency

comScore Marketing Solutions

Examples of Customer Use

guantify the audience overlap between differenscomer segments or
Web sites to identify the number of unique visitagachec

quantify the propensity of a particular Web sit@glience to purchase
certain categories of products (e.g., consumetrelgics) online
compare the standings of Web sites within particodmtent
categories, such as finance or health informe

quantify audience size relative to competitorsiuding share of usage
within a category and usage trends across compge

track major competitors, quantify their growth, addntify initiatives
to promote growth and market shi

identify and quantify the size of audiences readhedhdividual Web
sites and determine how often they reach thosesaods

assist with the planning of online advertising caigps that need to
achieve specific reach or frequency objectivesrexyai targeted
audience across multiple Web si

design the most cost-effective media plans thatachieve campaign
objectives for reach and frequer

comScore Marketing Solutions products use our dgloatbase, computational infrastructure and aff of
experienced analytical personnel to help customiesgyn more effective marketing strategies thakeiase sales,
reduce costs, deepen customer relationships ainghtdly enhance a customer’s competitive positiie. offer
solutions tailored for specific industry verticalsgluding the consumer packaged goods, entertaifrfieancial
services, media, pharmaceutical, retail, techngltglgcommunications and travel sectors. Many of\darketing
Solutions products are delivered to subscribera mturring schedule such as monthly or quartérlgome cases,
we provide customized reports and analyses thabimour expertise with other proprietary inforrmatio address

a specific customer need.

The core information products offered by comScoarléting Solutions include:

Market Share ReportsThese reports track a company’s share of maskateasured by industry-specific
performance metrics. The metrics of choice varyriojustry vertical, including as examples: sharerdine
credit card spending for credit card issuers; sbammline travel spending for travel companiesshare of
subscribers for ISPs. In each case, market shpogtseprovide an ongoing measurement of competitive
performance and insight into the factors drivingrodpes in market share.

Competitive Benchmark Reportd.hese reports allow customers to compare themséb/competitors
using various industrgpecific metrics. For example, retailers may lobknatrics such as the rate of conver:
of site visitors to buyers, average order sizeate of repeat purchases among existing customarksBnay
focus on the percentage of bank customers usingeohill payment services, or compare the effectdss of
customer acquisition programs as reflected by #regmtage of leads they acquire that ultimately sig for an
online account. In each case, a customer may dafidebtain best-of-category metrics and use thea a
benchmark to monitor its business performance tnes.

Loyalty and Retention AnalysisThese analyses provide an understanding of ttemeto which
consumers are also engaged with competitors, amdifg loyalty drivers to assist customers in cajpty a
higher share of the consumer’s wallet. For examgteavel company might quantify the potential bass lost
when consumers visit its site, do not completeralpase but then visit a competing site to boolaaetr
reservation. Retention or churn analyses quantilfsamer losses to competitors and the key driviesaah
losses. For example, a narrowband Internet seprméder may track the rate of attrition amongcstomer
base, identify which competitors are capturing ¢hlost customers, and analyze the characteristitgedost
customers in order to gain insight into ways torove retention.
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Customer Satisfaction Reportsihese reports are based on panelist responsesviey questionnaires tr
ascertain the degree of satisfaction with variaaslpcts or services offered to consumers. Thigimétion is
often integrated with the online usage informatioat we collect from our panelists in order to itifgrwhich
digital media usage activities affect customers$atition. For instance, a sports portal may ussetheports to
determine which features, such as participatinfgiasy sports leagues or viewing streaming vidips caffect
customer satisfaction and loyalty the most.

gSearch. This product is a monthly scorecard of the seararket that provides a comparison of search
activity across portals and major search engirtd®elps identify the reach of a search engineldhalty of its
user base, the frequency of search queries, areffdaiveness of sponsored links displayed onckeasult
pages in driving referrals to advertiser sites.ajfeis used by major search engines and adveytgjancies i
planning search campaigns.

Ad Effx Campaign Essentials (formerly Campaign Mgtr This product provides detailed information
about specific online advertising campaigns. Theperts, available through a Web-based interfagscribe
for each advertising image, or “creatiwgithin an advertising campaign, the size and dewguigjc compositiol
of the audience exposed to that particular adeertest, the average number of impressions delivenddther
details regarding ad formats and ad sizes usdtkicampaign. An advertiser, agency or publisheldcose Ad
Effx Campaign Essentials to gain insight into tifeaiveness of an online advertising campaign xgneining
the number of unique users exposed to the campdigmumber of times on average that a uniquewasr
exposed to the campaign and whether the campaéghed the targeted audience demographic.

Ad Effx Brand Lift and Action Lift (formerly Bramdetrix). Ad Effx Brand Lift provides reports showing
the test compared to control effectiveness of apeaagm using survepased metrics that we collect from our
Recruit technology. For example, a Brand Lift repeould illustrate the changes in brand awarenagmnt anc
attitudes that were driven by an advertising cagmpahd Effx Action Lift measures the lift in the aettiser’s
site visitation and the lift in searching for theabd's trademark. Each report can be customizéioeto
advertisers needs and typically delivered in PowitPExcel and SPSS data files, often with a retur
investment analysis.

Ad Effx Online Lift and Offline Lift. These services provide an understanding of fieetefeness of
particular advertising campaigns by measuring tileme and offline behavior of a “target group” afraScore
panelists, following their exposure to a particiddwertisement, and comparing their behavior todha
“control group” of comScore panelists who were exgposed to such advertisements. These services allo
marketer to understand the impact of their adviagisampaign and to estimate the return on thegstment it
online marketing.

Survey-Based ProductsThese products leverage our ability to administeweys to our panel member:
obtain valuable information that can be seamleissggrated with online behavioral data to provide dients
with additional insights into the drivers of consembehavior.

Xplore Mobile Network Analytics ProductOur Xplore Mobile Network Analytics Products anebile
carrier-grade solutions designed to deliver netvaoriilysis focused on the experience of wirelessailiers,
as well as network intelligence with respect tofgrenance, capacity and configuration analytics. Xipéore
product suite enables network operators to enhapegational efficiencies and prioritize capital erfitures
based on customer demand in a rapidly changingamwient. Xplore products provide operators withbiiisy
over how the network impacts the customer expeeieKplore allows a user to quickly extrapolate refate,
and render information from disparate point prodw@etd data stores across the communications previdess
functional organizations.

Web Analytics ProductsOur web analytics products and video measureswuations help organizations
optimize customer experiences and maximize themeatn digital media investments. Because theseygted
are highly customizable, they allow marketers titect, view and distribute information tailoredttweir
specific business requirements. Our web analytetfgom is designed to integrate data from multiple
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sources including web, mobile and social mediarautgons as well as CRM, call center and back-effic
systems.

Customers

As of December 31, 2010, we had 1,752 customerkjdimg 82 Fortune 500 customers. Our custometadec
at least a majority of each of:

« the top twenty online properties, based oal tohique visitors, including Microsoft, Yahoo!, AGnd
Google;

« the top ten U.S. Internet service provide

« the top ten investment banks, based on global imasg banking fees revenus

« the top 50 creative, media and digital agenciesett@n Ad Age

* the top seven consumer banks, based on total g@sits as ranked by the FDI

« the top four wireless carriers, based on C1

« the top ten pharmaceutical companies, based ordwink¢ sales

« the top ten credit card issuers, based on totditarards outstanding; ar

* the top ten consumer packaged goods companies] bagbe 2010 Fortune 500 li

One of our customers, Microsoft Corporation, act¢edror approximately 11%, 12% and 12% of our rensen
in the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2&§&=ctively. No other customer accounted forentloan
10% of our revenues during each of those periods.

Selling and Marketing

We sell the majority of our products through a dirgales force. Sales of the comScore Media Menixiuct
suite to new clients are managed by sales repasad assigned specifically to new business deveémt. A
separate group of account managers within our sagemization is assigned to manage, renew andasersales to
existing Media Metrix customers. The comScore MankgSolutions sales organization is organizediealty by
industry with account executives dedicated to sglinto the consumer packaged goods, entertainrfieancial
services, media, pharmaceutical, retail, techngltglgcommunications and travel sectors and otitrstries.
Marketing Solutions account executives are taskitttl voth identifying and generating new businesspeacific
verticals as well as servicing existing customéns: sales and account representatives receiveeashéary and are
eligible for bonuses or commissions based on padoce.

Our marketing communications staff is primarily Gieed on leveraging the use of comScore data aightas
by the media and maximizing the number of times$ ¢banScore is cited as a source of information.B&éeve that
the use of our data by general and industry-spetiédia outlets increases recognition of the comeSband name
and serves to help validate the value of the aralgad products we provide. In order to accomplighgoal, we
seek to maintain relationships with key news distiors, publications, TV networks, reporters arfteomedia
outlets. We believe that the media views us aglalyhrecognized and credible resource for digitatketing
intelligence. For example, we are regularly cituaverage several hundreds of times a day, bykmellvn news
distributors, publications and TV networks suchitesAssociated Press, Reuters, Bloomberg, CNBC NEve York
Times and The Wall Street Journal. We also targabus industry conferences and tradeshows aspatir
marketing efforts. These events are typically feclsn a particular industry, allowing us to demmatstto industry
participants the value of our products to businegsé¢hat industry.

Panel and Methodology

The foundation of our digital marketing intelligenplatform is data collected from our comScore pamieich
includes approximately two million persons worldejadvhose online behavior we have explicit permisso
measure on a continuous, passive basis. We behaveur panel is one of the largest global paokits kind,
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delivering a multi-faceted view of digital mediaag® and transactional activity as well as selectfitie activity.
By applying advanced statistical methodologiesuopanel data, we project the behavior of the totdihe
population.

We recruit our panel through a variety of onlineruitment programs that have been tested and cefimee
our inception to ensure a diverse sample thatceffily represents the broader global Internet fadfmn. In
addition, in the United States we enlist a sub-darappanelists through various offline recruitimgthods.
Participants in the comScore research panel reegpackage of benefits that is designed to appeabroad variet
of user categories. Examples of such benefits dexluin 2010 and prior periods, free security appiins such as
encrypted file protection; free general purposdiagpons such as screensavers and games; sweegstalsh
payments; points that may be redeemed for prizespéanting a tree in the name of all new panettatsugh our
“Trees for Knowledge” program. Participants’ datel gorivacy are protected by defined privacy polidieat
safeguard personally-identifiable information. Tbisnbination of recruiting methods allows us to mtain a panel
large enough to provide statistically representasi@mples in most demographic segments.

We continuously determine the size, demographidsodéimer characteristics of the online populatiomgs
enumeration surveys of tens of thousands of permonsally, whereby respondents are asked a variejyestions
about their Internet use, as well as demographdcotimer descriptive questions about themselvestseid
households. The sample of participants in each emation survey is selected using a random recguitin
methodology. The result is an up-to-date picturthefpopulation to which the comScore sample is fivejected.
We use the results from the enumeration surveygetght and statistically project the panel datarnisure that the
projected data reflect the characteristics of tiierhet population.

In addition, our Unified Digital Measurement sotiticombines panel measurement of people and awdienc
demographics with a full and accurate represemtaifdhe consumption of a site’s media, which iscaaplished by
site owners including comScore “beacons” or repgrpiixels on all of their site content. Census meament using
web beacons reports every server call that theogiteer would register from all locations and desicalows for ful
representation of these audiences and devicesulydeconciles Media Metrix site audience measueat with
publishers internal server logs or web analyticsrice

The move to census measurement has also been edtenohobile under the auspices of the GSM Assodiat
(GSMA), the trade body for mobile operators, arelrtMobile Media Metrics (MMM) initiative to delivea
comprehensive and granular view of the mobile meerGSMA MMM was pioneered and launched by usg@uk.
The mobile network operators provide irreversibipaymized census-level data for mobile internegasa
Demographic data, collected with consent from ae®sgntative sample of mobile users, is ascribed et unique
persistent identification number for each anonymases in the census data. Wi-Fi traffic, not seethe mobile
network traffic, can be captured in server-sideslogmedia owners and ad networks by beaconingauitiMedia
Metrix 360 products.

Privacy

We believe that a key factor differentiating ougithl marketing intelligence is our ability to tkaand analyze
online usage behavior using the data collected anpanel. Since the founding of our company, axch
endeavored to undertake such data collection aalgsia responsibly and only with consumer permissio
Participation in our research panel is voluntaryr @olicies require that participants consent toprivacy and data
security practices before our software collectsrimfation on the user’s online activity. In additiove provide
panelists with multiple opportunities and methazlsemove themselves from our panel. We limit theetpf
information that we collect by identifying and éting certain personal information from the dattected. The
collected data is secured using multiple layenshyfsical and digital security mechanisms. Moreower maintain a
strict policy of not sharing comScore paneliste'spmally identifiable information with our custorsekVe believe
that these actions and policies are consistentt@hAICPA/CICA WebTrust criteria for online privac

Technology and Infrastructure

We have developed a proprietary system for the ameasent of the activity of our global online panghis
system is continuously refined and developed toesidthe changing digital media landscape and & neav
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customer business needs. The system is compridathdfeds of servers that operate using softwaitedru
Microsoft and other technologies. Our technolodyaistructure is operated in two third-party Tiecetlocation
facilities (one in Virginia and the other in Illirg). Our systems have multiple redundancies andtanetured to
ensure the continuation of business operationisdrevent of network failure or if one of our dagmters has been
rendered inoperable. As of December 31, 2010,emhmology team (excluding employees devoted taarebeand
development) was comprised of approximately 20Btiule employees (or full-time equivalents) workimgfour
different geographic locations, who design, deveitogintain and operate our entire technology itfuasure. In
addition, we have established a relationship withira party firm for software development in aroromically
beneficial locale as a means to augment our teoggadfforts for discrete projects.

Our development efforts have spanned all aspeasmbusiness. We have developed a data captuensylsa
operates across our panelists’ computers in al@@Btountries and is used for the real-time captficmnsumer
Internet behavior. We have built a large scaldcieffit and proprietary system for processing masamounts of
data. Typically our systems handle and processidatacess of 190 billion input records per moimBspite the
scale of processing required, these data are dgnavailable on a daily basis for our business. ¥8e have also
developed a highly efficient and scalable systenitfe extraction and tabulation of all online aittds of our
panelists. Likewise, we have created an award-winrighly scalable data warehousing environmeaitalows
ready access and analysis of the data we colleeth&lieve our scalable and highly cost-effectiveesys and
processing methods provide us with a significambjgetitive advantage.

Our customers access our digital marketing intefige product offerings through a variety of methods
including MyMetrix, our proprietary, Web-based ays$ and reporting system, which is used by thodsarh
active, unique users to produce more than seveli@mreports each year.

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts focus onrtharecement of our existing products and the devedoyp o
new products to meet our customers’ digital markgtntelligence needs across a broad range of indsisnd
applications. Because of the rapidly growing anolerg use of the Internet and other digital meidiacommerce,
content, advertising and communications, theseatsflre critical to satisfying our customers’ dechéor relevant
digital marketing intelligence. As of December 3010, we had approximately 150 full-time employg®dull-
time equivalents) working on research and developraetivities (excluding employees on our technglteam
cited under “Technology and Infrastructure” above)addition, we involve management and operatmarsonnel
in our research and development efforts. In 200092and 2008, we spent $26.4 million, $17.8 millzm
$14.8 million, respectively, on research and dgwalent.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, cighy and trade secret laws in the United Statelscdhner
jurisdictions together with confidentiality proceds and contractual provisions to protect our pedary technolog
and our brand. We seek patent protection on ineesatihat we consider important to the developméntio
business. We control access to our proprietaryn@olgy and enter into confidentiality and inventassignment
agreements with our employees and consultants @mientiality agreements with other third parties.

Our success depends in part on our ability to dgvphtentable products and obtain, maintain anoreaf
patent and trade secret protection for our prodittuding successfully defending these patengsresg any third-
party challenges, both in the United States arattier countries. We may be able to protect ourrteldyies from
unauthorized use by third parties to the exterttwlgaown or have licensed valid and enforceablergator trade
secrets that cover them. However, the degree ofdyirotection of our proprietary rights is uncirtaecause legal
means afford only limited protection and may natately protect our rights or permit us to gaikexp our
competitive advantage.

Currently, we own five U.S. patents. U.S. patetiBZ,412 was filed March 22, 2000 and covers, anuthgr
things, techniques for collecting consumer dat&. patent 7,260,837 was filed February 5, 2003cawers various
techniques, such as techniques for collecting addding to a user’s usage of a computing devehniques for
identifying a user of a computing device, and téghas for monitoring the performance of a
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network server. U.S. patent 7,493,655 was filedraty 5, 2003 and covers, among other things, fgales for
placing user identification in header of data paskesable in user demographic reporting and cafigetsage data.
U.S. patent 7,702,317 was filed April 27, 2006 anders various techniques for querying wirelessvagk
offerings. U.S. patent 7,849,154 was filed June2®D5 and covers, among other things, the acquriséthd
correlation of a wireless user profile with eveotsurring on the users wireless device.

Under current U.S. law, the statutory term for gepais 20 years from its earliest effective filidgte.
Accordingly, U.S. patent 7,181,412 is expectedxaire on or about March 22, 2020. U.S. patents@,2%7 and
7,493,655 are expected to expire on or about Fepfy@2023. U.S. patent 7,702,317 is expected pirexon or
about April 27, 2026. U.S. patent 7,849,154 is etga to expire on or about June 27, 2025. Varidagsimstances,
such as the provisions under U.S. patent law feengderm adjustment and patent term extension,extgnd the
duration of any of these patents. Similarly, vasi@ircumstances may shorten the duration of atlyesfe patents,
such as a change in U.S. law or a need or deaisiaiur part to terminally disclaim a portion of ttatutory term c
any of these patents.

We also currently have forty-two U.S. and foreigiigmt applications pending, and we intend to &iterequest
that our licensors file, additional patent applisas for patents covering our products. Howevetgpia may not be
issued for any pending or future pending patentiegipns owned by or licensed to us, and clainmxdd under
any issued patent or future issued patent owndidesrsed by us may be declared invalid or may eatufficiently
broad to protect our technologies. Any issued gatewned by or licensed to us now or in the futasy be
challenged, invalidated, held unenforceable omeireented, and the rights under such patents magroweide us
with the expected benefits. In addition, compesitmray design around our technology or develop ctingpe
technologies. Intellectual property rights may ddsocunavailable or limited in some foreign courdriehich could
make it easier for competitors to capture or inseetheir market share with respect to related woigies. Althougt
we are not currently involved in any legal proceedirelated to intellectual property, we could msubstantial
costs to defend ourselves in suits brought agamst in suits in which we may assert our pategitts against
others. An unfavorable outcome in any such litgaould have a material adverse effect on oumiassi and
results of operations.

In addition to patent and trade secret protectianalso rely on several trademarks and service sitargrotect
our intellectual property assets. We are the owheumerous trademarks and service marks and haplied for
registration of our trademarks and service markbhénUnited States and in certain other countoesstablish and
protect our brand names as part of our intelleqioaperty strategy. Some of our registered margside comScort
Media Metrix and MyMetrix.

Our intellectual property policy is to protect quoducts, technology and processes by assertingliectual
property rights where we believe it is approprite prudent. Any pending or future pending pateptieations
owned by or licensed to us (in the United Statesbooad) may not be allowed or may in the futurelislenged,
invalidated, held unenforceable or circumvented, #we rights under such patents may not providsitis
competitive advantages. Any significant impairmeihour intellectual property rights could harm duusiness or
our ability to compete. Protecting our intellectpabperty rights is costly and time consuming. Amgrease in the
unauthorized use of our intellectual property caulgke it more expensive to do business and harropenating
results.

There is always the risk that third parties maynelthat we are infringing upon their intellectuabperty rights
and, if successful in proving such claims, we cdddprevented from selling our products.

For additional, important information related ta dntellectual property, please review the inforimatset forth
in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on FormKQ“Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Businesd @ur
Technologies.”

Competition

The market for digital marketing intelligence iglhly competitive and evolving rapidly. We competararily
with providers of digital marketing intelligencedarelated analytical products and services. We also
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compete with providers of marketing services ardtams, with survey providers, as well as witheimtal solutions
developed by customers and potential customersp@ueipal competitors include:

large and small companies that provide dathaaralysis of consumers’ online behavior, includiitective
Measures, Gemius, Compete Inc. (owned by WPP), Bpbw., Hitwise (owned by Experian), Quantcast,
Visible Measures and Nielse

online advertising companies that provide roeament of online ad effectiveness, including Dedick
(owned by Google), Kantar (owned by WPP) and ValiogC

companies that provide audience ratings for TVioatd other media that have extended or may exteit
current services, particularly in certain interoatil markets, to the measurement of digital meddaiding
Arbitron, Nielsen and Taylor Nelson Sofres (owngd/¥PP);

analytical services companies that providearusrs with detailed information of behavior onitteevn Web
sites, including Omniture (owned by Adobe), Coremst(owned by IBM), and WebTrenc

full-service market research firms and surpeyviders that may measure online behavior antlidés,
including Harris Interactive, Ipsos, Synnovate, GRlantar (owned by WPP) and Nielst

companies that provide behavioral, attitudarad qualitative advertising effectiveness, inahgdi
Toluna/Nurago, Click Forensics, Datran’s Apertupsos OTX, Dynamic Logic, Insight Express and
Marketing Evolution; an

specialty information providers for certairlirstries that we serve, including IMS Health (Hezdte) and
Techtronix (telecommunications

Some of our current competitors have longer opsgdtistories, relationships with more customers and
substantially greater resources than we do. Asultrehese competitors may be able to devote mes@urces to
marketing and promotional campaigns, panel retergitd development techniques or technology ane@ssst
development than we can. In addition, some of ounpetitors may be able to adopt more aggressieagri
policies. Furthermore, large software companiegriret portals and database management companyesniex the
market or enhance their current offerings, eithedéveloping competing services or by acquiring@mpetitors,
and could leverage their significant resourcespaeebxisting relationships with our current and potaintustomers

We believe the principal competitive factors in awarkets include the following:

the ability to provide actual and perceiveghhguality, accurate and reliable data regarding freeand othe
digital media audience behavior and activity imaety manner, including the ability to maintainaade and
statistically representative sample pau

the ability to adapt product offerings to emergdigjital media technologies and standa
the breadth and depth of products and their fléigitand ease of usi

the availability of data across various indyserticals and geographic areas and expertisesathese
verticals and in these geographic art

the ability to offer survey-based informatiommbined with digital media usage, eCommerce dadacther
online information collected from panelis

the ability to offer high-quality analyticaéivices based on Internet and other digital medihesmce
measurement informatio

the ability to offer products that meet the chaggieeds of customers and provide -quality service; an

the prices that are charged for products baseti@pdrceived value delivere

We believe that we compete favorably with our cotitpes on the basis of these factors. However dgfare
unable to compete successfully against our cuaedtfuture competitors, we may not be able to aecand retain
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customers, and we may consequently experienceliael@t revenues, reduced operating margins, |bssasket
share and diminished value from our products.

Government Regulation

Although we do not believe that significant exigtlaws or government regulations adversely impagcbur
business could be affected by different interpretst or applications of existing laws or regulasipfuture laws or
regulations, or actions by domestic or foreign tatmuy agencies. For example, privacy concernscctaad to
legislative, judicial and regulatory limitations onr ability to collect maintain and use informatiabout Internet
users in the United States and abroad. Various Egislatures have enacted legislation designedaiect Internet
users’ privacy, for example by prohibiting spywdrerecent years, similar legislation has been psep in other
states and at the federal level and has been eniactereign countries, most notably by the EurapEaion, which
adopted a privacy directive regulating the collettdf personally identifiable information onlinedathe use of
cookies. These laws and regulations, if drafteshi@rpreted broadly, could be deemed to apply éa¢ichnology w
use, and could restrict our information collectioathods or decrease the amount and utility ofrif@iination that
we would be permitted to collect. In addition, aiility to conduct business in certain foreign gdictions,
including China, is restricted by the laws, regolas and agency actions of those jurisdictions. ddsts of
compliance with, and the other burdens imposedh®se and other laws or regulatory actions mayeprens from
selling our products or increase the costs as®mtiaith selling our products, and may affect oulitgtio invest in
or jointly develop products in the United Stated anforeign jurisdictions. In addition, failure tmmply with these
and other laws and regulations may result in, anathgr things, administrative enforcement actiams fines, class
action lawsuits and civil and criminal liabilityte8e attorneys general, governmental and nongowartahentities
and private persons may bring legal actions asggttiat our methods of collecting, using and disiing Web site
visitor information are illegal or improper, whicluld require us to spend significant time and ueses defending
these claims. For example, some companies thaotpllse and distribute Web site visitor informatiave been tl
subject of governmental investigations and claseia¢awsuits. Any such regulatory or civil actithmat is brought
against us, even if unsuccessful, may distrachmamagement’s attention, divert our resources, hedpataffect our
public image or reputation among our panelists@arsiomers and harm our business. The impact obathese
current or future laws or regulations could makmdtre difficult or expensive to attract or maintpeamnelists,
particularly in affected jurisdictions, and couldvarsely affect our business and results of op@ati

Additionally, laws and regulations that apply tovocounications and commerce over the Internet arerbig
more prevalent. In particular, the growth and depeient of the market for eCommerce has promptds fmalmore
stringent tax, consumer protection and privacy lawde United States and abroad that may impodiiawal
burdens on companies conducting business onlirea@ibption, modification or interpretation of laarsregulation
relating to the Internet or our customers’ digdpkrations could negatively affect the busines§esiocustomers
and reduce their demand for our products. For ahdit, important information related to governmeagulation of
our business, please review the information s¢h fiorPart |, ltem 1A of this Annual Report on FoliK, “Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and Ounr@ogies.”

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names and agesiocurrent executive officers:

Name Age Position

Magid M. Abraham, Ph.D 52 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Gian M. Fulgoni 63 Executive Chairman of the Board of Direct
Kenneth J. Tarpe 58 Chief Financial Officel

Gregory T. Dale 41 Chief Operating Office

Christiana L. Lin 41 EVP, General Counsel and Chief Privacy Offi

Magid M. Abraham, Ph.Done of our cdounders, has served as our President, Chief EixecDfficer and as
Director since September 1999. In 1995, Dr. Abrafieunded Paragren Technologies, Inc., which spieeidlin
delivering large scale Customer Relationship Maniesystems for strategic and target marketing,smmded as its
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Chief Executive Officer from 1995 to 1999. Priorfeminding Paragren, Dr. Abraham was employed bgrinition
Resources, Inc. from 1985 until 1995, where he Rrasident and Chief Operating Officer from 1993984 and
later Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors fra894 until 1995. In 2008, Dr. Abraham was indudted the
Entrepreneur Hall of Fame and was named an Ernébhg Entrepreneur of the Year in the Washingtonab€a.
In 2009 he received the AMA’s Parlin Award, a présent national honor recognizing one individual aalty who
has demonstrated “outstanding leadership and sest@inpact on advancing the evolving professiomafketing
research over an extended period of time.” Dr. Abra received the Paul Green Award and the Willial®@'Bell
Award from the American Marketing Association for article that he co-authored in the Journal of kdting
Research. He received a Ph.D. in Operations Résaacan M.B.A. from MIT. He also holds an Engiriegr
degree from the Ecole Polytechnique in France.

Gian M. Fulgoni, one of our cdeunders, has served as our Executive ChairmameoBbard of Directors sint
September 1999. Prior to co-founding comScore,Adigoni was employed by Information Resources,, wbere
he served as President from 1981 to 1989, Chiefike Officer from 1986 to 1998 and Chairman a&f Board of
Directors from 1991 until 1995. Mr. Fulgoni has\sat on the board of directors of PetMed Express,dimce 2002
and previously served from August 1999 through Maver 2000. Mr. Fulgoni has also served on the board
directors of the Advertising Research Foundationndustry research organization, since 2008. lde s¢rved on
the board of directors of Platinum Technology, finom 1990 to 1999, U.S. Roboatics, Inc. from 19811994, and
Yesmail.com, Inc. from 1999 to 2000. In 1991 andiagn 2004, Mr. Fulgoni was named an lllinois Epireneur o
the Year, the only person to have twice receivechitnor. In 1992, he received the Wall Street TadpsAward fol
outstanding contributions as Chief Executive OffickInformation Resources, Inc. in enhancing tierall value o
that company to the benefit of its shareholder20@8, Mr. Fulgoni was inducted into the Chicagar&preneur
Hall of Fame and was named an Ernst & Young Engmegur of the Year. Educated in the United Kingdom,

Mr. Fulgoni holds an M.A. in Marketing from the Wheirsity of Lancaster and a B.Sc. in Physics froetimiversity
of Manchester.

Kenneth J. Tarpelgas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceil/&fr, 2009. Prior to joining comScore,
Mr. Tarpey was Executive Vice President, Chief Riial Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Objeicteo, Inc.,
a Reston, Virginia-based provider of video suragitle software, from 2003 until April 2009. From 2Qfntil 2003,
Mr. Tarpey was Senior Vice President, Chief FinahGifficer and Treasurer of Ai Metrix, Inc., a Hdon,
Virginia-based provider of network optimization seére. From 1997 until 2001, Mr. Tarpey was ExacuWice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Proxic@m\ASDAQ-listed Internet business consulting angettgpoment
company. Mr. Tarpey holds an M.B.A. from Babsonl€gt and a B.A. from College of the Holy Cross.

Gregory T. Daléhas served as our Chief Operating Officer sinceusti@009. Prior to that, he served as our
Vice President, Product Management from Septem®@® Lntil October 2000 and as our Chief Technolofficer
from October 2000 until August 2009. Prior to joigius, he served as Vice President of Client Seidaragren
Technologies, Inc., a company that specializedhtergrise relationship marketing. He holds a BaSndustrial
Management from Purdue University.

Christiana L. Linhas served as our EVP, General Counsel and ChiefdyrOfficer since August 2009. Priot
that, she served as our Deputy General CounselFammuary 2001 until March 2003, as our CorporaiariSel ant
Chief Privacy Officer from March 2003 until Janu&@06 and as our General Counsel and Chief Pridfiger
from January 2006 until August 2009. Ms. Lin hoéd3.D. from the Georgetown University Law Centett arB.A.
in Political Science from Yale University.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately 92pleyees. None of our employees are representad by
labor union. We have experienced no work stoppagddelieve that our employee relations are good.
Geographic Areas

Our primary geographic markets are the United Sta@@anada, the United Kingdom, Latin America/Chitel
Japan. For information with respect to our geogi@ptarkets, see Note 13 to our Consolidated FirmduStatement
in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form-K0
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Company Information

We incorporated in August 1999 in Delaware. Oungipal offices are located at 11950 Democracy Drive
Suite 600, Reston, Virginia 20190. Our telephonmiber is (703) 438-2000.

Available Information

We make our periodic and current reports availdbde of charge, on our website as soon as reagonab
practicable after such material is electronicallydf with the Securities and Exchange Commissiair. \i@ebsite
address isvww.comscore.comnd such reports are filed under “SEC Filings” lo@ investor Relations portion of
our website. Information contained on our Web isiteot part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K amdot
incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-Kréference. Further, a copy of this annual repowelsas our
other periodic and current reports may be obtafred the SEC, located at the SEC's public referaocen at
100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Infororatin the operation of the Public Reference Roombea
obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. SBEE maintains an Internet site that contains repproxy and
information statements, and other information rdaey our filings at www.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a sobataisk of loss. You should carefully consideede risk
factors, together with all of the other informatimtluded herewith, before you decide to purchdsees of oul
common stock. The occurrence of any of the follgwisks could materially adversely affect our besis, financial
condition or operating results. In that case, tredtng price of our common stock could decline, god may lose
part or all of your investmen

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Technologies

We derive a significant portion of our revenues frosales of our subscription-based digital marketing
intelligence products. If our customers terminate fail to renew their subscriptions, our businesswd suffer.

We currently derive a significant portion of ouveaues from our subscription-based digital markgtin
intelligence products. Subscription-based prodact®ounted for 85%, 86% and 83% of our revenue®1922009
and 2008, respectively. Uncertain economic conalitior other factors, such as the failure or codatithn of large
financial institutions, may cause certain custontetterminate or reduce their subscriptions. If customers
terminate their subscriptions for our productsndbrenew their subscriptions, delay renewals eirtsubscriptions
or renew on terms less favorable to us, our rev@noald decline and our business could suffer.

Our customers have no obligation to renew afteettgration of their initial subscription periodhigh is
typically one year, and we cannot assure that nusebscriptions will be renewed at the same ondriglollar
amounts, if at all. Some of our customers haveteterot to renew their subscription agreements ustin the past.
If we experience a change of control, as defineslith agreements, some of our customers also havaght to
terminate their subscriptions. Moreover, some afrogjor customers have the right to cancel thdisertiption
agreements without cause at any time. Given thegtiunpredictable economic conditions as welladimited
historical data with respect to rates of custonubdssription renewals, we may have difficulty actelgpredicting
future customer renewal rates. Our customer renen@d may decline or fluctuate as a result ofralver of factors
including customer satisfaction or dissatisfactidth our products, the costs or functionality of puoducts, the
prices or functionality of products offered by @ampetitors, mergers and acquisitions affectingoustomer base,
general economic conditions or reductions in ostamers’ spending levels. In this regard, we haens number
of customers with weaker balance sheets choosintpnmenew subscriptions with us during economiwlirns.

18




Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate the future. As a result, we may fail to meet otceed the
expectations of securities analysts or investorhjak could cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuae aesult of a variety of factors, many of which autside of
our control. If our quarterly revenues or resuftsjperations do not meet or exceed the expectatibascurities
analysts or investors, the price of our commonkstmaild decline substantially. In addition to thber risk factors
set forth in this “Risk Factors” section, factdnat may cause fluctuations in our quarterly reverareesults of
operations include:

 our ability to increase sales to existing custonaeid attract new custome

« our failure to accurately estimate or contmsts — including those incurred as a result ofieitipns,
investments and other business development imigis]

« the timing of contract renewals, delivery obgucts and duration of contracts and the corredipgrtiming
of revenue recognition and as well as the effetteenue derived from recen-acquired companie

« the uncertainties associated with the intégmatf acquired new lines of business, and opematin countries
in which we may have little or no previous expecer

 the mix of subscriptic-based versus proje-based revenue
< changes in our custom’ subscription renewal behaviors and spending orepts;,
« our ability to estimate revenues and cash flowe@ated with business operations acquired b

« the impact on our contract renewal ratespfith our subscription and project-based produetssed by our
customers’ budgetary constraints, competition,aust dissatisfaction, customer corporate restringjor
change in control, or our custom’ actual or perceived lack of need for our prodi

« the potential loss of significant custome
« the effect of revenues generated from significane-time projects or the loss of such proje:
« the impact of our decision to discontinue certaivdpicts;

« the amount and timing of capital expenditures gmerating costs related to the maintenance and siqrant
our operations and infrastructu

« the timing and success of new product introductlonss or our competitor

« variations in the demand for our products and tin@lémentation cycles of our products by our custsn
» changes in our pricing and discounting policiethoise of our competitor

 service outages, other technical difficulties ans#y breaches

« limitations relating to the capacity of our netwsrkystems and process

« maintaining appropriate staffing levels and capéds relative to projected growth, or retainingy/ keersonne
as a result of the integration of recent acquistj

« adverse judgments or settlements in legal disp
« the cost and timing of organizational restructurimgparticular in international jurisdiction

« the extent to which certain expenses are rptess deductible for tax purposes, such as stased
compensation that fluctuates based on the timingesfing and our stock pric

« the timing of any additional reversal of our dedeftax valuation allowanc
 adoption of new accounting pronouncements;

< general economic, political, industry and marketditons and those conditions specific to Intenmge an
online businesse
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We believe that our quarterly revenues and resfitperations on a year-over-year and sequential
quarter-over-quarter basis may vary significantlyhie future and that period-to-periodmparisons of our operati
results may not be meaningful. Investors are caatimot to rely on the results of prior quarteram#ndication of
future performance.

Our business may be harmed if we deliver, or aregaéved to deliver, inaccurate information to ouustomers,
to the media or to the public generally.

If the information that we provide to our customeosthe media, or to the public is inaccuratepenceived to
be inaccurate, our brand may be harmed. The infimm#hat we collect or that is included in ouralzses and the
statistical projections that we provide to our oustrs, to the media or to the public may contaibheoperceived to
contain inaccuracies. These projections may beedleas an important measure for the success ofrcérainesse:
especially those businesses with a large onlinggmiee. Any inaccuracy or perceived inaccuracyenddita reporte
by us about such businesses may potentially affiecinarket perception of such businesses and iastiiims or
litigation around the accuracy of our data, orappropriateness of our methodology, may encourggeeasive
action on the part of our competitors, and couldrhaur brand. Any dissatisfaction by our custonwrthe media
with our digital marketing intelligence, measureinendata collection and statistical projection huoetologies,
whether as a result of inaccuracies, perceivectimacies, or otherwise, could have an adverseteaffeour ability
to retain existing customers and attract new custerand could harm our brand. Additionally, we ddog
contractually required to pay damages, which cbeldubstantial, to certain of our customers ifitiiermation we
provide to them is found to be inaccurate. Anyiligbthat we incur or any harm to our brand tha suffer because
of actual or perceived irregularities or inaccueadn the data we deliver to our customers coutcht@ur business.

Material defects or errors in our data collectiomd analysis systems could damage our reputatiosutein
significant costs to us and impair our ability t@B our products.

Our data collection and analysis systems are congld may contain material defects or errors. lfitaah, the
large amount of data that we collect may make ata dollection and analysis systems more suscepbldefects
or errors. The companies that we recently acquifea rely on data collection and analysis softvear@ systems to
service enterprise clients. Any defect in our pahelata collection software, our census collectipstems, our
enterprise focused software and systems, netwatles)s, statistical projections or other method@sgiould lead
to consequences that impact operating resultsydivgd:

* loss of customer:

« damage to our bran

* lost or delayed market acceptance and sales giroducts;

« interruptions in the availability of our produc

« the incurrence of substantial costs to correctraaterial defect or erro

« sales credits, refunds or liability to our custosy

« diversion of development resources; i

* increased warranty and insurance cc
We may lose customers or be liable to certain costes if we provide poor service or if our produds not
comply with our customer agreements.

Errors in our systems resulting from the large anta@tf data that we collect, store and manage ccalse the
information that we collect to be incomplete octmtain inaccuracies that our customers regariyagisant. The
failure or inability of our systems, networks arrdgesses to adequately handle the data in a higlitygand
consistent manner could result in the loss of eusts. In addition, we may be liable to certain of customers for
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damages they may incur resulting from these events) as loss of business, loss of future reverueach of
contract or loss of goodwill to their business.

Our insurance policies may not cover any claim rsgais for loss of data, inaccuracies in data loeroindirect
or consequential damages and defending a lawsgg#ydless of its merit, could be costly and diwemhagement’s
attention. Adequate insurance coverage may novéiaale in the future on acceptable terms, odlapay such
developments could adversely affect our businedgesults of operations.

Our business may be harmed if we change our metHodies or the scope of information we collect.

We have in the past and may in the future changenethodologies, the methodologies of acquired corigs,
or the scope of information we collect. Such changay result from identified deficiencies in cuttren
methodologies, development of more advanced metbgigs, changes in our business plans or expressed
perceived needs of our customers or potential ouste. Any such changes or perceived changes, danalitity to
accurately or adequately communicate to our custerned the media such changes and the potentiéitatipns ol
such changes on the data we have published opublish in the future, may result in customer dis$action,
particularly if certain information is no longerltEted or information collected in future periadshot comparable
with information collected in prior periods. Forample, in 2009, we adopted new methodology thatidvimtiegrate
server-based web beacon information with our exgstianel-based data. In 2009, we also acquirecateded into
a strategic alliance with web analytics compamesrder to enhance the scope of our server-baskdagcon
information. As a result, some of our existing onsérs or customers of acquired entities may refugarticipate,
or participate only in a limited fashion, and otheasty become dissatisfied as a result of changesrimethodology
and decide not to continue purchasing their supsoris or may decide to discontinue providing ughwheir web
beacon or other server-side information. Such coste may elect to publicly air their dissatisfactivith the
methodological changes made by us, thereby damagingrand and harming our reputation. Additionaly
expect that we will need to further integrate nepabilities with our existing methodologies if wevelop or
acquire additional products or lines of businesh@nfuture. The resulting future changes to outhadologies, the
information we collect, or the strategy we implemencollect and analyze information, such as tlwement away
from pure panel-centric measurement to a hybrigamiel- and site-centric measurement, may causéauii
customer dissatisfaction and result in loss ofaustrs.

If we are not able to maintain panels of sufficiestze and scope, or if the costs of maintaining qanels
materially increase, our business would be harmed.

We believe that the quality, size and scope oflotarnet, mobile and cross-media user panels @feattto our
business. There can be no assurance, howevewehaill be able to maintain panels of sufficiertesand scope to
provide the quality of marketing intelligence tloatr customers demand from our products. If wetfaihaintain a
panel of sufficient size and scope — including dage of international markets, customers mightidedab
purchase our products or renew their subscriptiousreputation could be damaged and our busirasd be
materially and adversely affected. We expect thiatpanel costs may increase and may comprise tegqgartion o
our cost of revenues in the future. The costs @s®atwith maintaining and improving the qualitizesand scope ¢
our panel are dependent on many factors, many @hwadre beyond our control, including the partitipa rate of
potential panel members, the turnover among exgjgianel members and requirements for active ppatiicin of
panel members, such as completing survey quesii@sn&oncerns over the potential unauthorizedalsice of
personal information or the classification of oaftware as “spyware” or “adware” may cause exispagel
members to uninstall our software or may discouramential panel members from installing our sofevd o the
extent we experience greater turnover, or churppinpanel than we have historically experienceesé costs
would increase more rapidly. We also have termuhated may in the future terminate relationship$wirvice
providers whose practices we believe may not comyily our privacy policies, and have removed ang inghe
future remove panel members obtained through sewtice providers. Such actions may result in ingeeacosts fc
recruiting additional panel members. In additiomplshing content on the Internet and purchasinggising space
on Web sites may become more expensive or resgistithe future, which could decrease the avditgtzind
increase the cost of advertising the incentive®ffer to panel members. To the extent
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that such additional expenses are not accompani@ttieased revenues, our operating margins woelictuced
and our financial results would be adversely aédct

Difficulties entering into arrangements with websitowners, wireless communications operators andeoth
entities supporting server- and census-based metiogies may negatively affect our methodologies drzm
our business.

We believe that our methodologies are enhancetidglbility to collect information using server-bdsecb
beacon information and other census-level appreadieere can be no assurance, however, that wéevidble to
maintain relationships with a sufficient number aedpe of websites in order to provide the qualftynarketing
intelligence that our customers demand from oudpets. If we fail to continue to expand the scopew server-
based data collection approaches, customers mégltind to purchase our products or renew their@idtfons, our
reputation could be damaged and our business teuidiversely affected.

We may expand through investments in, acquisitimfsor the development of new products with assista
from other companies, any of which may not be sussfell and may divert our management’s attention.

In 2008, we closed our acquisition of M:Metrics draVe integrated this business into our own. 120
acquired the Certifica group of companies locatedatin America. Additionally, in 2010, we acquirtte
ARSgroup, Nexius, Inc. and Nedstat B.V. We alsoeexpo continue to evaluate and enter into disonssiegardin
a wide array of potential strategic transactionsluding acquiring complementary products, techgiee or
businesses. We also may enter into relationshifis atiher businesses in order to expand our proaoffetings,
which could involve preferred or exclusive licensgiscount pricing or investments in other compamyto expand
our sales capabilities. These transactions coulddterial to our financial condition and resultpgrations.
Although these transactions may provide additidrealefits, they may not be profitable immediatelynothe long
term. Negotiating any such transactions could tnettonsuming, difficult and expensive, and ourighib close
these transactions may be subject to regulatooghar approvals and other conditions which are bdyaur control
Consequently, we can make no assurances that ahytramsactions, if undertaken and announced, woaild
completed.

An acquisition, investment or business relationshgy result in unforeseen operating difficultiesl an
expenditures. In particular, we may encounter diffies assimilating or integrating the businestashnologies,
products, personnel or operations of the acquioadpanies, particularly if the key personnel of éleguired
company choose not to be employed by us, and wehanay difficulty retaining the customers of any wiced
business due to changes in management and owneislgjpisitions may also disrupt our ongoing busiesvert
our resources and require significant manageméanitain that would otherwise be available for omgoi
development of our business. Moreover, we canrmitrasyou that the anticipated benefits of any aitjom,
investment or business relationship would be redliar that we would not be exposed to unknownllias. In
connection with any such transaction, we may:

< encounter difficulties retaining key employ@éshe acquired company or integrating diversarmss
cultures;

* issue additional equity securities that would diltiie common stock held by existing stockhold

* incur large charges or substantial liabiliti

« become subject to adverse tax consequences, stidisti@preciation or deferred compensation char
« use cash that we may need in the future to opetatbusiness

¢ enter new geographic markets that subjeot ukfferent laws and regulations that may havedresse
impact on our busines

 experience difficulties effectively utilizing acged assets
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¢ encounter difficulties integrating the infortiwa and financial reporting systems of acquirecign
businesses, particularly those that operated watarunting principles other than those generalbepted in
the United States prior to the acquisition by um}

« incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that veeusmable to repa

The impact of any one or more of these factorsatadlersely affect our business or results of dperaor
cause the price of our common stock to declinetankially.

Following an acquisition of another business, weg @lao be required to defer the recognition of nessethat
we receive from the sale of products that we aegijior from the sale of bundles products that sielproducts that
we acquired, if we have not established vendoriip@bjective evidence, or VSOE, for the undelie@rlements i
the arrangement. For example, we currently havesiaiblished VSOE, for the multiple-element arrameyat
deliverables involving products and services relateour acquisition of Nexius and account foreddiments in thes
arrangements as a single unit of accounting, razognthe entire arrangement fee as revenue oeeséfvice
period of the last delivered element. If we arehl@ao establish VSOE for these transactions otrorsactions
related to other products and services in futuregds, we may be required to otherwise delay tleegaition of
current and future revenue sources. This may resillictuations in our operating results and mdyasely affect
both revenues and operating margins in a giverogen periods.

Future acquisitions or dispositions could also Itéauilutive issuances of our equity securititge incurrence
of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization exges, or write-offs of goodwill, any of which couidrm our
financial condition. Also, the anticipated benefitmany of our acquisitions may not materialize.

Concern over spyware and privacy, including any leiions of privacy laws, perceived misuse of perabn
information, or failure to adhere to the privacy comitments that we make, could cause public relason
problems and could impair our ability to recruit peelists or maintain panels of sufficient size andape, which
in turn could adversely affect our ability to prade our products.

Any perception of our practices as an invasionrigey, whether legal or illegal, may subject uptdblic
criticism. Existing and future privacy laws andreasing sensitivity of consumers to unauthorizesdldsures and
the collection or use of personal information antinee usage information may create negative puklction
related to our business practices. The U.S. Coagred various media sources have expressed comeerthe
collection of online usage information from cabteyders and telecommunications operators to tatditargeted
Internet advertising, and the collection of onlbehavioral data generally. A similar concern haantraised by
regulatory agencies in the United Kingdom. In additU.S. and European lawmakers and regulators bagresse
concern over the use of third party cookies or twedcons to understand Internet usage, and the &mop
Commission has issued directives requiring thelegigun of cookies throughout the European UniorctSactions
may have a chilling effect on businesses that cbie use online usage information generally orssarttially
increase the cost of maintaining a business tHktate or uses online usage information. Additibngbublic
concern has grown regarding certain kinds of doaaédle software known as “spyware” and “adware 8Sgh
concerns might cause users to refrain from dowmhgpsioftware from the Internet, including our priepary
technology, which could make it difficult to recraidditional panelists or maintain a panel of sigfit size and
scope to provide meaningful marketing intelligerioeresponse to spyware and adware concerns, nusiero
programs are available, many of which are availédnéree, that claim to identify and remove spy&vand adware
from users’ computers. Some of these anti-spywaygrams have in the past identified, and may irfatbere
identify, our software as spyware or as a potespgivare application. We actively seek to prevbatihclusion of
our software on lists of spyware applications aieptial spyware applications, to apply best induptactices for
obtaining appropriate consent from panelists aotiegting the privacy and confidentiality of our péist data and 1
comply with existing privacy laws. However, to teetent that we are not successful, and anti-spymargrams
classify our software as spyware or as a potespigvare application, or third party service provédail to comply
with our privacy or data security requirements, loand may be harmed and users may refrain froombb@aaing
these programs or may uninstall our software. Agsuiting reputational harm, potential claims agsgkagainst us
decrease in the size or scope of our panel codlaceethe demand for our products, increase theofastruiting
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panelists and adversely affect our ability to pdevour products to our customers. Any of thesecteffeould harm
our business.

Any unauthorized disclosure or theft of private imfmation we gather could harm our business.

Unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiaiisrmation regarding Web site visitors, whethaotigh
breach of our secure network by an unauthorizety pamployee theft or misuse, or otherwise, cowdhhour
business. If there were an inadvertent disclostipesonally identifiable information, or clientrfidential
information, or if a third party were to gain unlaoitized access to the personally identifiable mntlconfidential
information we possess, our operations could bewsy disrupted and we could be subject to cladmbtigation
arising from damages suffered by panel membersi@uant to the agreements with our customers. ditiad, we
could incur significant costs in complying with thrultitude of state, federal and foreign laws relgay the
unauthorized disclosure of personal informatiomally, any perceived or actual unauthorized disgle®f the
information we collect could harm our reputatiomhstantially impair our ability to attract and rietpanelists and
have an adverse impact on our business.

The market for digital marketing intelligence is @&n early stage of development, and if it does detelop, or
develops more slowly than expected, our businesishgiharmed.

The market for digital marketing intelligence prothiis at a relatively early stage of developmand it is
uncertain whether these products will achieve tdglls of demand and increased market acceptansesu@cess
will depend to a substantial extent on the williags of companies to increase their use of suchupteend to
continue use of such products on a long-term bRsistors that may affect market acceptance include:

« the reliability of digital marketing intelligenceqgducts;
* public concern regarding privacy and data secu

« decisions of our customers and potential custs to develop digital marketing intelligence daliges
internally rather than purchasing such productnftbirc-party suppliers like us

« decisions by industry associations in the ébhibtates or in other countries that result in@ason-directed
awards, on behalf of their members, of digital nueasient contracts to one or a limited number of
competitive vendors

« the ability to maintain high levels of customerisaiction; anc

« the rate of growth in eCommerce, online advertising digital media

The market for our products may not develop furtbemay develop more slowly than we expect or eagn
contract, all of which could adversely affect ousimess and operating results.

Because our long-term success depends, in partponability to expand the sales of our productsdostomers
located outside of the United States, our businedit become increasingly susceptible to risks asated with
international operations.

During 2009, we acquired a company with a substhptesence in multiple Latin American countrias] &
2010, we acquired a company with a substantialmesin multiple European countries, and a compétiya
growing clientele within the Middle East. Despitéstacquisition, we otherwise have had limited exqree
operating in markets outside of the United Stafes.inexperience in operating our business outsidbe United
States may increase the risk that the internatiexgansion efforts we have begun to undertakensilbe
successful. In addition, conducting internatioradm@tions subjects us to new risks that we havgeotrally faced
in the United States. These risks include:

 recruitment and maintenance of a sufficiefahge and representative panel both globally arzkitain
countries;

» expanding the adoption of our sel- or censu-based web beacon data collection in internatiooahtries;
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- different customer needs and buying behavior thammre accustomed to in the United Ste

« difficulties and expenses associated withotail our products to local markets, including theanslation
into foreign language:

« difficulties in staffing and managing interiwatal operations — including complex and costlyrtgr
disciplinary, and termination requiremer

* longer accounts receivable payment cycles anccdiffes in collecting accounts receivalk

< potentially adverse tax consequences, inctuthie complexities of foreign value-added taxesmstrictions
on the repatriation of earning

« reduced or varied protection for intellectual pnapeights in some countrie

« the burdens of complying with a wide variety ofdign laws and regulation

« fluctuations in currency exchange rat

« increased accounting and reporting burdens and leaitips; anc

* political, social and economic instability abrogetyorist attacks and security concel

Additionally, operating in international marketgjuéres significant management attention and firenci
resources. We cannot be certain that the investaemt additional resources required to establishaaintain
operations in other countries will hold their valbreproduce desired levels of revenues or profitgbiVe cannot b
certain that we will be able to maintain and insethe size of the Internet user panel that wesntlyrhave in
various countries, that we will be able to receurepresentative sample for our audience measuteragucts, or
that we will be able to enter into arrangementdaisufficient number of website owners to allowtaisollect
server-based information for inclusion in our digjimarketing intelligence products. In additiorerda can be no
assurance that Internet usage and eCommerce wilhce to grow in international markets. In additio
governmental authorities in various countries hdifferent views regarding regulatory oversightloé tnternet. For
example, the Chinese government has taken steépe jpast to restrict the content available to m#eusers in
China.

The impact of any one or more of these risks coelghtively affect or delay our plans to expand our
international business and, consequently, our éubyerating results.

If the Internet advertising and eCommerce marketsvelop more slowly than we expect, our business wil
suffer.

Our future success will depend on continued grawthe use of the Internet as an advertising medaim
continued increase in eCommerce spending and tiiéegpation of the Internet as a platform for a widariety of
consumer activities. These markets are evolvingllgpand it is not certain that their current gtbwwrends will
continue.

The adoption of Internet advertising, particuldslyadvertisers that have historically relied orlitianal offline
media, requires the acceptance of new approachlmmthicting business and a willingness to investich new
approaches in light of a difficult economic envinoent. Advertisers may perceive Internet advertisinge less
effective than traditional advertising for marketitheir products. They may also be unwilling to pagmium rates
for online advertising that is targeted at specfigments of users based on their demographideporfinternet
behavior. The online advertising and eCommerce atankay also be adversely affected by privacy sselating
to such targeted advertising, including that whitdikes use of personalized information, or onlinegveoral
information. Furthermore, online merchants mayb®wable to establish online commerce models tleat@st
effective and may not learn how to effectively catgwith other Web sites or offline merchants.ddition,
consumers may not continue to shift their spendimgoods and services from offline outlets to thiternet. As a
result, growth in the use of the Internet for eCamre may not continue at a rapid rate, or the metemay not be
adopted as a medium of commerce by a broad basestfmers or companies worldwide. Moreover, thetdno of
advertising through mobile media may slow as alteswncertain economic conditions or other
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factors. Because of the foregoing factors, amohgrst the market for Internet advertising and eCenam
including commerce through mobile media, may naiticwe to grow at significant rates. If these mésldo not
continue to develop, or if they develop more slothlgn expected, our business will suffer.

Our growth depends upon our ability to retain exisf) large customers and add new large customersykuger,
to the extent we are not successful in doing sor, ability to maintain profitability and positive cgh flow may
be impaired.

Our success depends in part on our ability toaellproducts to large customers and on the renefithe
subscriptions of those customers in subsequensyEar the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002G0®&] we
derived approximately 29%, 29% and 30% of our teaknues from our top 10 customers. Uncertain @oon
conditions or other factors, such as the failurearsolidation of large client companies, or inggdmeorganization «
changes in focus, may cause certain large custaimégsminate or reduce their subscriptions. MoegpARS and
Nexius, both recently acquired companies, havemas® highly concentrated in a few large custoniére.loss o
any one or more of those customers could decraasewenues and harm our current and future opgragisults.
The addition of new large customers or increasesilies to existing large customers may requiréquéatly long
implementation periods and other costs, which niseesely affect our profitability. To compete etigely, we
have in the past been, and may in the future begdbto offer significant discounts to maintainstixig customers «
acquire other large customers. In addition, we b®jorced to reduce or withdraw from our relatiapstwith
certain existing customers or refrain from acqujréertain new customers in order to acquire or taain
relationships with important large customers. Assult, new large customers or increased usagergiroducts by
large customers may cause our profits to declimecam ability to sell our products to other custosneould be
adversely affected.

We derive a significant portion of our revenueshira single customer, Microsoft Corporation. Forykars
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, we desjwecbximately 11%, 12% and 12%, respectively, oftotal
revenues from Microsoft. If Microsoft were to ceasesubstantially reduce its use of our produats,revenues and
earnings might decline.

As our international operations grow, changes inréagn currencies could have an increased effect aur
operating results.

A portion of our revenues and expenses from busioperations in foreign countries are derived from
transactions denominated in currencies other tharunctional currency of our operations in thogertries. As
such, we have exposure to adverse changes in egehates associated with revenues and operatirensgp of oL
foreign operations, but we believe this exposuregdmmaterial at this time and do not currentlgage in any
transactions that hedge foreign currency exchaaigerisk. As we grow our international operaticars] acquire
companies with established business in internati@wgons, our exposure to foreign currency risklddoecome
more significant.

Conditions and changes in the national and globalomomic environment may adversely affect our busgae
and financial results.

Adverse economic conditions in markets in whichaperate can harm our business. If the economitiseof
United States and other countries continue to éspee prolonged uncertainty, customers may delagduce their
purchases of digital marketing intelligence produantd services. In recent years, economic condiiiothe
countries in which we operate and sell productehsen negative, and global financial markets leaperienced
significant volatility stemming from a multitude @dctors, including adverse credit conditions intpddy the
subprime-mortgage crisis, slower economic activdgncerns about inflation and deflation, decreasedumer
confidence, increased unemployment, reduced casprafits and capital spending, adverse businesditons,
liquidity concerns and other factors. Economic gitom the U.S. and in many other countries slowethe fourth
quarter of 2007 and remained slow throughout 20@B2909. Notwithstanding certain signs of recovauing
2010, economic growth may continue to stagnatendu2011 in the U.S. and internationally, particiylém view of
recent economic turmoil in Europe as well as pmditunrest in the Middle East. During challengicgmomic times
and in tight credit markets, many customers haveraay continue to delay or reduce spending.
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Additionally, some of our customers may be unabltully pay for purchases or may discontinue theisinesses,
resulting in the incurrence of uncollectible re@diles for us. This could result in reductions in sales, longer sal
cycles, difficulties in collection of accounts raable, slower adoption of new technologies anddased price
competition. This downturn may also impact our klde resources for financing new and existing afiens. If
global economic and market conditions, or econaroitditions in the United States or other key markietteriorate
we may experience a material and adverse impagtiohusiness, results of operations and financiatition.

Changes and instability in the national and globpblitical environments may adversely affect our lnsss anc
financial results.

Recent turmoil in the political environment in maugrts of the world, including terrorist activitjesilitary
actions, political unrest and increases in enegggscdue to instability in oil-producing regionsym@ntinue to put
pressure on global economic conditions. If glolzair®mic and market conditions, or economic condgim the
United States or other key markets deterioratemnag experience material impacts on our businessatipg
results, and financial condition.

If we fail to respond to technological developmentsir products may become obsolete or less conipetit

Our future success will depend in part on our gbit modify or enhance our products to meet custoneeds,
to add functionality and to address technologidalaamcements. For example, if certain handheld ésviecome th
primary mode of receiving content and conductiagsactions on the Internet, and we are unableaptad collect
information from such devices, then we would noaibée to report on online activity. To remain cotipee, we
will need to develop new products that addressetke@slving technologies and standards across tivense of
digital media — including television, Internet ambile usage. However, we may be unsuccessfukintiying
new product opportunities or in developing or méirigenew products in a timely or cost-effective man In
addition, our product innovations may not achidvermarket penetration or price levels necessarprfafitability. If
we are unable to develop enhancements to, andeswés for, our existing methodologies or prodocié we are
unable to develop new products that keep pacenafitd technological developments or changing ingust
standards, our products may become obsolete, ladsetable and less competitive, and our busineé®evharmed

The market for digital marketing intelligence is ghly competitive, and if we cannot compete effeelyy our
revenues will decline and our business will be hath

The market for digital marketing intelligence ighly competitive and is evolving rapidly. We compet
primarily with providers of digital media intelligpee and related analytical products and servicesadb compete
with providers of marketing services and solutiomsh full-service survey providers and with intatrsolutions
developed by customers and potential customersp@ueipal competitors include:

* large and small companies that provide dathaamalysis of consumers’ online behavior, includiftective
Measures, Gemius, Compete Inc. (owned by WPP), Bpbw., Hitwise (owned by Experian), Quantcast,
Visible Measures and Nielse

« online advertising companies that provide meament of online ad effectiveness, including Deaick
(owned by Google), Kantar (owned by WPP) and ValiskGnd WPP

< companies that provide audience ratings for TViaadd other media that have extended or may extesic
current services, particularly in certain interoatil markets, to the measurement of digital med@iding
Arbitron, Nielsen and Taylor Nelson Sofres (owngd/PP);

 analytical services companies that provideéauasrs with detailed information of behavior onitlwvn Web
sites, including Omniture (owned by Adobe), Coremast(owned by IBM), and WebTrenc

« full-service market research firms and surgegviders that may measure online behavior antlidés,
including Harris Interactive, Ipsos, Synnovate, GRlantar (owned by WPP) and Niels:
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e companies that provide behavioral, attituderadl qualitative advertising effectiveness, inahgdi
Toluna/Nurago, Click Forensics, Datran’s Apertupsos OTX, Dynamic Logic, Insight Express and
Marketing Evolution; an

* specialty information providers for certaimirstries that we serve, including IMS Health (Hezdte) and
Techtronix (telecommunications

Some of our current competitors have longer opagdtistories, access to larger customer bases and
substantially greater resources than we do. Asultréhese competitors may be able to devote greasources to
marketing and promotional campaigns, panel retapnpanel development or development of systems and
technologies than we can. In addition, some ofcounpetitors may adopt more aggressive pricing jgdior have
started to provide some services at no cost. Fumihie, large software companies, Internet portatsdatabase
management companies may enter our market or ealtlaeic current offerings, either by developing patng
services or by acquiring our competitors, and cdeNérage their significant resources and pre-exjselationships
with our current and potential customers.

If we are unable to compete successfully againstorrent and future competitors, we may not be éblretail
and acquire customers, and we may consequentlyierpe a decline in revenues, reduced operatinginsross
of market share and diminished value from our potslu

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtmd costs, which could adversely affect our resudfs
operations.

We have experienced significant growth over the pageral years in the U.S. and internationally. Ndee
substantially expanded our overall business, custdrase, headcount, data collection and procegsuagtructure
and operating procedures as our business has ghoaugh both organic growth and acquisitions. Weeéased our
total number of full time employees to approximat@?0 employees as of December 31, 2010 from 1{8cmes
as of December 31, 2003. As a result of downwajdsaitients to compensation and reductions in oukfecre
made during 2009, however, we may encounter destezrmployee morale and increased employee turnover.
Moreover, as a result of acquisition integratioitiatives, we may reduce the workforce of an aaegiicompany or
reassign personnel. Such actions may expose usrtpton by dissatisfied employees or employeatesl claims,
including without limitation, claims by terminatetinployees that believe they are owed more comgdenghian we
believe these employees are due under our compemsaid benefit plans, or claims maintained intéomally in
jurisdictions whose laws and procedures differ fithiwse in the United States. In addition, during #ame perioc
we made substantial investments in our networlagifucture operations as a result of our growththedjrowth of
our panel, and we have also undertaken certaitegtcaacquisitions. We believe that we will neeadémtinue to
effectively manage and expand our organizationraipmns and facilities in order to accommodate piidé future
growth or acquisitions and to successfully integetquired businesses. If we continue to groweeitinganically o
through acquired businesses, our current systethfaailities may not be adequate. Our need to #ffely manage
our operations and cost structure requires thatoméinue to assess and improve our operationanéiial and
management controls, reporting systems and proesdlirwe are not able to efficiently and effeclyveanage our
cost structure, our business may be impaired.

Failure to effectively expand our sales and markedicapabilities could harm our ability to increasaur
customer base and achieve broader market acceptarierur products.

Increasing our customer base and achieving braaddret acceptance of our products will depend to a
significant extent on our ability to expand ouresadnd marketing operations. We expect to contmuely on our
direct sales force to obtain new customers. We exgand or enhance our direct sales force both darakg and
internationally. We believe that there is signifitaompetition for direct sales personnel with $hées skills and
technical knowledge that we require. Our abilitythieve significant growth in revenues in the fetwill depend,
in large part, on our success in recruiting, tragnénd retaining sufficient numbers of direct sglessonnel, and our
ability to cross train our existing sales forcehwtite sales forces of acquired businesses sohhaites personnel
have the necessary information and ability to @etlevelop sales prospects for both our produadstaa products ¢
recently-acquired companies. In general, new higgaire significant training and substantial expece before
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becoming productive. Our recent hires and planmiexs imay not become as productive as we requickya@nmay
be unable to hire or retain sufficient numberswdldied individuals in the future in the marketbeve we currently
operate or where we seek to conduct business. @imdss will be seriously harmed if the effortexpand our
sales and marketing capabilities are not successifithey do not generate a sufficient increaseeivenues.

If we fail to develop our brand, our business mayffer.

We believe that building and maintaining awarersdssomScore and our portfolio of products in a €ost
effective manner is critical to achieving widespr@@ceptance of our current and future productdsaad importar
element in attracting new customers. We will alsedhto carefully manage the brands used by recaotjyired
businesses as we integrate such businesses intovouiVe rely on our relationships with the medid #he
exposure we receive from numerous citations ofdatia by media outlets to build brand awarenesseedibility
among our customers and the marketplace. Furthesmar believe that brand recognition will becomeeano
important for us as competition in our market ims@s. Our brand’s success will depend on the eféerss of our
marketing efforts and on our ability to provideiable and valuable products to our customers apetitive prices.
Our brand marketing activities may not yield inae@ revenues, and even if they do, any increasetues may
not offset the expenses we incur in attemptinguitdlour brand. If we fail to successfully markeirdorand, we ma
fail to attract new customers, retain existing oo®trs or attract media coverage to the extent sape$o realize a
sufficient return on our brand-building efforts daour business and results of operations coul@suff

We have a limited operating history and may notdide to achieve financial or operational success.

We were incorporated in 1999 and introduced ost fiyndicated Internet audience measurement praduct
2000. Many of our other products were first introdd during the past few years. Accordingly, westilein the
early stages of development and have only a linogeetating history upon which our business canviaduated.
You should evaluate our likelihood of financial asgkerational success in light of the risks, undeties, expenses,
delays and difficulties associated with an earfgstbusiness in an evolving market, some of whiai be beyond
our control, including:

« our ability to successfully manage any growth wey mehieve in the future

« the risks associated with operating a busiitesgernational markets, including Asia, Europel & atin
America; anc

* our ability to successfully integrate acquired hasses, technologies or servic

We have a history of significant net losses, magun significant net losses in the future and may thmaintain
profitability.

Although we have generated profits in prior perjogls incurred a net loss of $1.6 million for theayended
December 31, 2010. As such we cannot assure yowthwill be able to achieve, sustain or increasdifability in
the future, particularly if we engage in additioaatuisition activity as we did in 2010. As of Detdger 31, 2010,
we had an accumulated deficit of $53.3 million. &exe a large portion of our costs are fixed, we naiybe able to
reduce or maintain our expenses in response taeergase in our revenues, which would adversegctffur
operating results. In addition, we expect operagirgenses to increase as we implement certain griovtiatives,
which include, among other things, the developnoémew products, expansion of our infrastructutang for
international expansion and general and adminig&r&xpenses associated with being a public comgéour
revenues do not increase to offset these expeuntegdises in costs and operating expenses, outtiogeresults
would be materially and adversely affected. Youusthmot consider our revenue growth in recent pkias
indicative of our future performance, as our opegatesults for future periods are subject to nwusruncertaintie
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We have limited experience with respect to our preemodel, and if the fees we charge for our prodsi@are
unacceptable to our customers, our revenues andrapieg results will be harmed.

We have limited experience in determining the fbes our existing and potential customers will find
acceptable for our products, the products of conagathat we recently acquired, and any potentiadlpcts that are
developed as a result of the integration of ouramy with acquired companies. The majority of austomers
purchase specifically-tailored subscription packatipat are priced in the aggregate. Due to thd tdve
customization of such subscription packages, tleéngr of contracts or individual product componestsuch
packages may not be readily comparable acrossmassoor periods. Existing and potential customeag hrave
difficulty assessing the value of our products aedvices when comparing it to competing productssaivices. As
the market for our products matures, or as new ebitaps introduce new products or services thatmee with
ours, we may be unable to renew our agreementsexiting customers or attract new customers vighfées we
have historically charged. As a result, it is pbkesthat future competitive dynamics in our maketvell as global
economic pressures may require us to reduce osyfigech could have an adverse effect on our reegnu
profitability and operating results.

If we are unable to sell additional products to oekisting customers or attract new customers, oavenue
growth will be adversely affected.

To increase our revenues, we believe we must dditianal products to existing customers, includaxisting
customers of acquired businesses, and regularlyeaddcustomers. If our existing and prospectivearasrs do not
perceive our products to be of sufficient value gudlity, we may not be able to increase salesi&iirg customer
and attract new customers, or we may have diffja@taining existing customers, and our operatasylts will be
adversely affected.

We depend on third parties for data that is critida our business, and our business could suffenié cannot
continue to obtain data from these suppliers.

We rely on thirdparty data sources for information regarding certhgital activities such as television viewi
and mobile usage, as well as for information alodiline activities of and demographic informaticegarding our
panelists. The availability and accuracy of thes& ds important to the continuation and developgméour cross-
media products, -products that use server- or aebased information as part of the research methggpand
products that link online and offline activity.tHis information is not available to us at commaligireasonable
terms, or is found to be inaccurate, it could hatrmreputation, business and financial performance.

System failures or delays in the operation of owrngputer and communications systems may harm our
business.

Our success depends on the efficient and unintemugperation of our computer and communicatiossesys
and the third-party data centers we use. Our glditollect and report accurate data may be inpted by a
number of factors, including our inability to acseke Internet, the failure of our network or safte/systems,
computer viruses, security breaches or variahitityser traffic on customer Web sites. A failureoaf network or
data gathering procedures could impede the prowgs$idata, cause the corruption or loss of datarevent the
timely delivery of our products.

In the future, we may need to expand our networksystems at a more rapid pace than we have ipasbte
Our network or systems may not be capable of mgdie demand for increased capacity, or we mayincu
additional unanticipated expenses to accommodatetbapacity demands. In addition, we may loseabéddata,
be unable to obtain or provide data on a timelysbasour network may temporarily shut down if ved to
adequately expand or maintain our network capaslio meet future requirements. Any lapse in duilitg to
collect or transmit data may decrease the valuipproducts and prevent us from providing the datmested by
our customers. Any disruption in our network praieg or loss of Internet user data may damageeapurtation an
result in the loss of customers, and our businedsesults of operations could be adversely aftecte

30




We rely on a small number of thir-party service providers to host and deliver our guats, and any
interruptions or delays in services from these thiparties could impair the delivery of our producasid harm
our business.

We host our products and serve all of our custoriners two third-party data center facilities locaie
Virginia and lllinois. While we operate our equipmiénside these facilities, we do not control tipe@tion of eithe
of these facilities, and, depending on servicellesguirements, we may not continue to operate @ntain
redundant data center facilities for all of ourgwots or for all of our data, which could increase vulnerability.
These facilities are vulnerable to damage or inf@fon from earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fipgsyer loss,
telecommunications failures and similar events.yTére also subject to break-ins, computer virusaisptage,
intentional acts of vandalism and other misconddgctatural disaster or an act of terrorism, a deniso close the
facilities without adequate notice or other unaptited problems could result in lengthy interrupsian availability
of our products. We may also encounter capacititdiions at our third-party data centers. Additibnaour data
center facility agreements are of limited duraticarsd our data center facilities have no obligatmrenew their
agreements with us on commercially reasonable tdfrasall. Our agreement for our data centerlitydiocated in
Virginia expires in April 2013, if not renewed, andr agreement for our data center facility locatetlinois
expires in July 2011, if not renewed. Although we ot substantially dependent on either data céatdity
because of planned redundancies, and although mently are able to migrate to alternative dataeen such a
migration may result in an interruption or delaysarvice. If we are unable to renew our agreemeitksthe owners
of the facilities on commercially reasonable terorsf we migrate to a new data center, we may Bgpee delays
in delivering our products until an agreement veittother data center facility can be arranged ontigeation to a
new facility is completed.

We currently leverage a large content delivery ekwor CDN, to provide services that allow us ffepa
more efficient tagging solution for our Media M&tB60 product offerings. If that service faced ampled outage «
the service became immediately unavailable, amrelte CDN provider or additional capacity in outadeenters
would need to be established to support the laofinve of tag requests that we currently manage twiiguld
either require additional investments in equipnsart facilities or a transition plan. This could ypectedly raise
the costs and could contribute the delays or losstgy data that could affect the quality and tapan of our Medi
Metrix 360 data products.

Further, we depend on access to the Internet thrthigd-party bandwidth providers to operate ousibass. If
we lose the services of one or more of our bandwpdbviders for any reason, we could experienceigi®n in the
delivery of our products or be required to retdie services of a replacement bandwidth providenaly be difficult
for us to replace any lost bandwidth on commergiahsonable terms, or at all, due to the largeusuinof
bandwidth our operations require.

Our operations also rely heavily on the availapitit electrical power and cooling capacity, whick also
supplied by third-party providers. If we or therthparty data center operators that we use to eletiur products
were to experience a major power outage or if ds of electrical power increases significantlyr operations and
profitability would be harmed. If we or the thirduy data centers that we use were to experientaja power
outage, we would have to rely on back-up generatdnich may not function properly, and their suppigly be
inadequate. Such a power outage could result idigraption of our business. Additionally, if owrcent facilities
fail to have sufficient cooling capacity or availélp of electrical power, we would need to findetnative facilities.

Any errors, defects, disruptions or other perforogaproblems with our products caused by third partould
harm our reputation and may damage our businegsruptions in the availability of our products maguce our
revenues due to increased turnaround time to cdenplejects, cause us to issue credits to customause
customers to terminate their subscription and ptagjgreements or adversely affect our renewal r&tasbusiness
would be harmed if our customers or potential auslis believe our products are unreliable.
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The success of our business depends in large parbor ability to protect and enforce our intellecali property
rights.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, s@mark, trademark and trade secret laws, asagell
confidentiality procedures and contractual restiitg, to establish and protect our proprietarytsghll of which
provide only limited protection. While we have til@ number of patent applications and own thraeedpatents,
we cannot assure you that any additional pateritbevissued with respect to any of our pendinfuture patent
applications, nor can we assure you that any pésuéd to us will provide adequate protectiorthat any patents
issued to us will not be challenged, invalidatéd;umvented, or held to be unenforceable in actaganst alleged
infringers. Also, we cannot assure you that anyriitrademark or service mark registrations wilissied with
respect to pending or future applications or tmgt@f our registered trademarks and service maikbe
enforceable or provide adequate protection of oopiietary rights. Furthermore, adequate (or amygipt,
trademark, service mark, copyright and trade squudection may not be available in every countryhich our
services are available.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our eyegl® and contractors and with parties with whondae
business in order to limit access to and disclostiir proprietary information. We cannot be certaat the steps
we have taken will prevent unauthorized use oftecnnology or the reverse engineering of our teldgyo
Moreover, third parties might independently devdleghnologies that are competitive to ours or ithfainge upon
our intellectual property. In addition, the leg&relards relating to the validity, enforceabilitydascope of
protection of intellectual property rights in Intet-related industries are uncertain and still ewngl, both in the
United States and in other countries. The protaatioour intellectual property rights may dependoaon legal
actions against any infringers being successfulcéfamot be sure any such actions will be successful

An assertion from a third party that we are infringg its intellectual property, whether such assentis are valic
or not, could subject us to costly and time-consuagiitigation or expensive licenses.

The Internet, mobile media, software and technolagystries are characterized by the existencelarfge
number of patents, copyrights, trademarks and tsadeets and by frequent litigation based on afiega of
infringement or other violations of intellectuabperty rights, domestically or internationally. e grow and face
increasing competition, the probability that onemare third parties will make intellectual properights claims
against us increases. In such cases, our techaslogiy be found to infringe on the intellectualpgamy rights of
others. Additionally, many of our subscription agreents may require us to indemnify our customaershiod-party
intellectual property infringement claims, which wld increase our costs if we have to defend suaimsl and may
require that we pay damages and provide alternaémaces if there were an adverse ruling in amhsliaims.
Intellectual property claims could harm our relasbips with our customers, deter future customers f
subscribing to our products or expose us to litigatEven if we are not a party to any litigatiogtlween a customer
and a third party, an adverse outcome in any dtightion could make it more difficult for us to fé&d against
intellectual property claims by the third partyainy subsequent litigation in which we are a nanmatypAny of
these results could adversely affect our brandpless and results of operations.

One of our competitors has filed patent infringetriawsuits against others, demonstrating this party
propensity for patent litigation. It is possiblatlthis third party, or some other third party, nbaiyng an action
against us, and thus cause us to incur the sulzteosts and risks of litigation. Any intellectyadoperty rights
claim against us or our customers, with or withmetit, could be time-consuming and expensive tgate or settle
and could divert management resources and attemtioadverse determination also could prevent o foffering
our products to our customers and may requirevilegbrocure or develop substitute products thatataniringe on
other parties’ rights.

With respect to any intellectual property rightsiel against us or our customers, we may have tapmages
or stop using technology found to be in violatidradhird party’s rights. We may have to seek arlige for the
technology, which may not be available on reasantdsims or at all, may significantly increase operating
expenses or may significantly restrict our busiregivities in one or more respects. We may alsehaired to
develop alternative non-infringing technology, whimuld require significant effort and expense. Afyhese
outcomes could adversely affect our business asdtseof operations.
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Domestic or foreign laws, regulations or enforcenteactions may limit our ability to collect and us
information about Internet users or restrict or phabit our product offerings, causing a decreasetime value ol
our products and an adverse impact on the saleswf products.

Our business could be adversely impacted by egistirfuture laws or regulations of, or actions @gmestic or
foreign regulatory agencies. For example, privamyocerns could lead to legislative, judicial andulagpry
limitations on our ability to collect maintain ande information about Internet users in the UnB&ates and abroa
Various state legislatures have enacted legislatésigned to protect Internet users’ privacy, f@araple by
prohibiting spyware. In recent years, similar légfisn has been proposed in other states and & deeal level and
has been enacted in foreign countries, most notapthe European Union, which adopted a privacgative
regulating the collection of personally identifiabhformation online and more recently, restrictihg use of
cookies without opt-in consent by the user. Regettie U.S. Congress and regulators have expressestrn over
the collection of Internet usage information ag p&a larger initiative to regulate online behaaicadvertising. A
similar concern has been raised by regulatory dagetirc the United Kingdom. In addition, U.S. and&ean
lawmakers and regulators have expressed concerriterese of third party cookies or web beaconsderstand
Internet usage. These laws and regulations, iteladr interpreted broadly, could be deemed toyagpthe
technology we use, and could restrict our infororatollection methods, and the collection methddkied parties
from whom we may obtain data, or decrease the atremdhutility of the information that we would bermitted to
collect. Even if such laws and regulations areamaicted, lawmakers and regulators may publiclyictdl question
the collection and use of Internet or mobile usdata and may affect vendors and customers’ willsgrto do
business with us. In addition, our ability to contlousiness in certain foreign jurisdictions, irihg China, is
restricted by the laws, regulations and agencyastof those jurisdictions. The costs of compliawie, and the
other burdens imposed by, these and other lawsgadatory actions may prevent us from selling aedpcts or
increase the costs associated with selling ourymtsd and may affect our ability to invest in anjty develop
products in the United States and in foreign jucians.

In addition, failure to comply with these and otlews and regulations may result in, among othieigt)
administrative enforcement actions and fines, dasi®n lawsuits and civil and criminal liabilit$tate attorneys
general, governmental and non-governmental enttiglsprivate persons may bring legal actions dagettiat our
methods of collecting, using and distributing Wéb sisitor information are illegal or improper, wh could
require us to spend significant time and resoudedsnding these claims. For example, some comp#ma¢sollect,
use and distribute Web site visitor information é&een the subject of governmental investigatiowls a
class-actiodawsuits. Any such regulatory or civil action th&brought against us, even if unsuccessful, mstyatit
our management’s attention, divert our resourcegatively affect our public image or reputation agour
panelists and customers and harm our business.

The impact of any of these current or future laweegulations could make it more difficult or exgare to
attract or maintain panelists, particularly in affsd jurisdictions, and could adversely affect lousiness and results
of operations.

Laws related to the regulation of the Internet cabibdversely affect our business.

Laws and regulations that apply to communicatiores @mmerce over the Internet are becoming more
prevalent. In particular, the growth and developtéithe market for eCommerce has prompted catlsore
stringent tax, consumer protection and privacy lawthe United States and abroad that may impodiiaiial
burdens on companies conducting business onlirea@ibption, modification or interpretation of laarsregulation
relating to the Internet or our customers’ digdpkrations could negatively affect the busines$esiocustomers
and reduce their demand for our products. Evendhdaws and regulations are not enacted, lawmalcets
regulators may publicly call into question the eotion and use of Internet or mobile usage datensadaffect
vendors and customers’ willingness to do businddsws.
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If we fail to respond to evolving industry standadour products may become obsolete or less cortinpet

The market for our products is characterized bydrégchnological advances, changes in customer
requirements, changes in protocols and evolvingstrgl standards. For example, industry associasanhk as the
Advertising Research Foundation, the Council of Ansn Survey Research Organizations, the IntergeeAising
Bureau, or IAB, and the Media Ratings Council hankependently initiated efforts to either reviewina market
research methodologies or to develop minimum staisdar online market research. In September 26@Mhegan
full audit to obtain accreditation by the Media iRgs Council. Any standards adopted by U.S or irddonally
based industry associations may lead to costlygdesto our procedures and methodologies. As atréiselcost of
developing our digital marketing intelligence prothucould increase. If we do not adhere to starsdarescribed by
the IAB or other industry associations, our custmw®uld choose to purchase products from competingpanies
that meet such standards. Furthermore, industocag®ns based in countries outside of the UnBtades often
endorse certain vendors or methodologies. If ouhowologies fail to receive an endorsement fronmgportant
industry association located in a foreign courdigyertising agencies, media companies and adveriis¢hat
country may not purchase our products. As a resuitefforts to further expand internationally abble adversely
affected.

The success of our business depends on the condrgrewth of the Internet as a medium for commerce,
content, advertising and communications.

Expansion in the sales of our products dependi@idntinued acceptance of the Internet as a ptatfor
commerce, content, advertising and communicatidhs.use of the Internet as a medium for commem&eat,
advertising and communications could be adversepaicted by delays in the development or adoptiareof
standards and protocols to handle increased denudiadiernet activity, security, reliability, cost,
ease-of-use, accessibility and quality-of-servidee performance of the Internet and its acceptas@medium for
commerce, content commerce, content, advertisidgcammunications has been harmed by viruses, wamus,
similar malicious programs, and the Internet hgseeenced a variety of outages and other delagsrasult of
damage to portions of its infrastructure. If foyapason the Internet does not remain a mediurwidespread
commerce, content, advertising and communicatiresgdemand for our products would be significantiguced,
which would harm our business.

We rely on our management team and may need addiigersonnel to grow our business; the loss of are
more key employees or the inability to attract aredain qualified personnel could harm our business.

Our success and future growth depends to a signifidegree on the skills and continued servicesiof
management team, including our founders, Magid Bralham, Ph.D. and Gian M. Fulgoni. Our future ses@so
depends on our ability to retain, attract and nagévhighly skilled technical, managerial, marketamgl customer
service personnel, including members of our managéteam. All of our employees work for us on awiltbasis.
We plan to hire additional personnel in all arebsur business, particularly for our sales, margtnd technology
development areas, both domestically and internali, which will likely increase our recruiting driring costs.
Competition for these types of personnel is intepseticularly in the Internet and software indiestr As a result,
we may be unable to successfully attract or reqaadified personnel. Our inability to retain anttadt the necessa
personnel could adversely affect our business.

Changes in, or interpretations of, accounting rulesd regulations, could result in unfavorable accoting
charges or cause us to change our compensationgies.

Accounting methods and policies, including polig@serning revenue recognition, expenses and atiogun
for stock options are continually subject to revi@werpretation, and guidance from relevant actiograuthorities,
including the Financial Accounting Standards Board-ASB, and the SEC. Changes to, or interpratata,
accounting methods or policies in the future majune us to reclassify, restate or otherwise chamgevise our
financial statements, including those containeHart 11, ltem 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Investors could lose confidence in our financialperts, and our business and stock price may be asily
affected, if our internal control over financial rporting is found by management or by our independen
registered public accounting firm to not be adeqeatr if we disclose significant existing or poteati
deficiencies or material weaknesses in those colstro

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguis to include a report on our internal cortkar
financial reporting in our Annual Report on FormKl0That report includes management’s assessmeheof
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcgporting as of the end the fiscal year. Addititty, our
independent registered public accounting firm ¢uied to issue a report on their evaluation ofdperating
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcegporting.

We continue to evaluate our existing internal colstagainst the standards adopted by the Publicp@oyn
Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB. During theis® of our ongoing evaluation of our internal colst we
have in the past identified, and may in the fuidestify, areas requiring improvement, and may haveesign
enhanced processes and controls to address issndiiéd through this review. Remedying any sigpaift
deficiencies or material weaknesses that we oirml@pendent registered public accounting firm nusntify could
require us to incur significant costs and expegdificant time and management resources. We cassoire you
that any of the measures we may implement to reraaglysuch deficiencies will effectively mitigate emedy suc
deficiencies. Further, if we are not able to cortotbe assessment under Section 404 in a timelyenan to
remedy any identified material weaknesses, we andhdependent registered public accounting firnukdde
unable to conclude that our internal control owearficial reporting is effective at the requiredaoeimg deadlines. If
our internal control over financial reporting isuftd by management or by our independent regispasblic
accountant to not be adequate or if we disclogg@fgignt existing or potential deficiencies or nréeweaknesses
those controls, investors could lose confidenaguinfinancial reports, we could be subject to sanstor
investigations by The NASDAQ Global Market, the @dties and Exchange Commission or other regulatory
authorities and our stock price could be adveraffscted.

In future periods, we may upgrade our financiabrépg systems and to implement new information
technology systems to better manage our busingsansine our financial reporting and enhance aisting
internal controls. We may experience difficultifs/e transition to new or upgraded systems, inclgdoss of data
and decreases in productivity as our personnelrbedamiliar with new systems. In addition, we exgbat our
existing management information systems may requadification and refinement as we grow and ouliness
needs change. Any modifications could prolong difies we experience with systems transitions,\a@cdnay not
always employ the most efficient or effective systefor our purposes. If upgrades cost more or l@kger than we
anticipate, our operating results could be advgrafiécted. Moreover, if we experience difficultissmplementing
new or upgraded information systems or experiegstem failures, or if we are unable to successfulbdify our
management information systems to respond to clsangaur business needs, our ability to timely affdctively
process analyze and prepare financial statementd be adversely affected.

A determination that there is a significant defiaig or material weakness in the effectiveness ofrdernal
control over financial reporting could also redace ability to obtain financing or could increabe tost of any
financing we obtain and require additional expangis to comply with applicable requirements.

Our net operating loss carryforwards may expire uilized or underutilized, which could prevent usdim
offsetting future taxable income.

We have previously experienced “changes in contt@t have triggered the limitations of Section 88&he
Internal Revenue Code on a portion of our net dpgydoss carryforwards. As a result, we may batéiohin the
amount of net operating loss carryforwards thatam® use in the future to offset taxable incomdf@. Federal
income tax purposes.

As of December 31, 2010, we estimate our federdlistate net operating loss carryforwards for tappses
are approximately $51.9 million and $37.3 millioespectively. These net operating loss carryforgraril begin tc
expire in 2022 for federal income tax reportinggmses and in 2016 for state income tax reportinggzaes.
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In addition, at December 31, 2010 we estimate ggregate net operating loss carryforwards for tappses
related to our foreign subsidiaries are $27.5 oilliwhich will begin to expire in 2011.

We periodically assess the likelihood that we tvlable to recover our deferred tax assets, patigipet
operating loss carryforwards. We consider all a@é evidence, both positive and negative, inclydiistorical
levels of income, expectations and risks associattdestimates of future taxable income and ong@irudent and
feasible tax planning strategies. As a result isf &malysis of all available evidence, both positind negative, the
total valuation allowance against our deferredassets decreased by $2.5 million during year ebde@mber 31,
2010, primarily due to the release of our UK valiaallowance.

As of December 31, 2010, we had a valuation allmeasf $1.0 million against certain deferred taxetssThe
valuation allowance relates to the deferred tartass the foreign subsidiaries that are in thiirtsup phases,
including China, Spain, Singapore and certain @eatand Nedstat entities, and the deferred tagtastated to the
value of our auction rate securities. Dependinganactual results in the future, there may bei@efit positive
evidence to support the conclusion that all or @igmo of our remaining valuation allowance shouddfbrther
reduced. To the extent we determine that all coréign of our valuation allowance is no longer resagy, we expe
to recognize an income tax benefit in the periachadetermination is made for the reversal of tHeatéon
allowance. If we determine that, based on the weifavailable evidence, it is more-likely-than-rioat some
portion, or all, of the deferred tax assets wilt he realized, we expect to recognize income t@erse in the peric
such determination is made for the increase irvétheation allowance. These events could have arrabi@pact or
our reported results of operations.

We may require additional capital to support busssegrowth, and this capital may not be available on
acceptable terms or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to supparbusiness growth and may require additionadiuto
respond to business challenges, including the teeddvelop new products or enhance our existingumts,
enhance our operating infrastructure and acquingpdementary businesses and technologies.

Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity ortdielancings to secure additional funds. If we eais
additional funds through further issuances of gooiitconvertible debt securities, our existing ktaiders could
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity seties we issue could have rights, preferencespaivileges
superior to those of holders of our common stoaky Aebt financing secured by us in the future caudtlide
restrictive covenants relating to our capital ragsactivities and other financial and operationatters, which may
make it more difficult for us to obtain additioredpital and to pursue business opportunities, dictypotential
acquisitions. In addition, we may not be able ttaobadditional financing on terms favorable tooust all. If we
are unable to obtain adequate financing or finapoimterms satisfactory to us when we requireut,ability to
continue to support our business growth and toaredpo business challenges could be significantijtéd. In
addition, the terms of any additional equity or isbuances may adversely affect the value ane pfiour
common stock.

Due to the prevailing global economic conditionatttargely began in 2008 and continued through6082
many businesses do not have access to the capitkéta on acceptable terms. In addition, as atresthis global
credit market crisis, conditions for acquisitiortieities have become very difficult as tight glolzaédit conditions
have adversely affected the ability of potentiafdns to finance acquisitions. Although these caodg have not
immediately affected our current plans, these asbveonditions are not likely to improve signifidgrin the near
future and could have a negative impact on ouitghd execute on future strategic activities.

We face the risk of a decrease in our cash balanaged losses in our investment portfolio.

We hold a large balance of cash, cash equivalemtslaort-term investments. The ability to achieue o
investment objectives is affected by many factsosne of which are beyond our control. We rely ardtparty
money managers to manage the majority of our imvest portfolio in a risk-controlled framework. Oeash is
invested in high-quality fixed-income securitieslas affected by changes in interest rates. Inteetes are highly
sensitive to many factors, including governmentahstary policies and domestic and internationaheoac and
political conditions.
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The outlook for our investment income is dependenthe future direction of interest rates and tim@ant of
cash flows from operations that are available fioestment. Any significant decline in our investmieicome or the
value of our investments as a result of fallingiest rates, deterioration in the credit of theugées in which we
have invested, decreased liquidity in the marketHese investments, or general market conditiomsld have an
adverse effect on our net income and cash position.

Our investment strategy attempts to manage inteséstisk and limit credit risk. By policy, we grihvest in
what we view as very high quality debt securiteasd our largest holdings are short-term U.S. Gavent
securities. We do not hold any sub-prime mortgagesdructured investment vehicles. We do not inreselow
investment-grade securities.

We have invested some of our assets in auction sateurities, which are subject to risks that mayusa losses
and affect the liquidity of those investments.

As of December 31, 2010, our principal sourcesaufidlity consisted of $33.7 million in cash. As of
December 31, 2010, we held $2.8 million in longrténvestments consisting of four separate auctda securities
with a par value of $4.3 million. In prior yearsewvested in these auction rate securities fortgreriods of time
as part of our investment policy. However, uncettas in the credit markets have prevented us #mgt investors
in recent periods from liquidating some holdingswottion rate securities. As there were no auctionthese
securities during the year ended December 31, 2040nay incur additional losses.

Risks Related to the Securities Market and Ownerslpi of our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock may be subijersignificant fluctuations and volatility, and ur new
stockholders may be unable to resell their sharés grofit.

The stock markets, in general, and the markettefdmology stocks in particular, have experiendgh kevels
of volatility. The market for technology stocks Heesen extremely volatile and frequently reachesl&that bear no
relationship to the past or present operating pevdmce of those companies. These broad markeufitiohs may
adversely affect the trading price of our commarlst In addition, the trading price of our commaock has been
subject to significant fluctuations and may congirta fluctuate or decline.

The price of our common stock in the market mawilgéer or lower than the price you pay, dependimgnan)
factors, some of which are beyond our control aag mot be related to our operating performands.possible
that, in future quarters, our operating results tmaypelow the expectations of analysts or investassa result of
these and other factors, the price of our commaockstnay decline, possibly materially. These flutitwas could
cause you to lose all or part of your investmerdun common stock. Factors that could cause fldictng in the
trading price of our common stock include the fafilog:

« price and volume fluctuations in the overall stoc&rket from time to time

« volatility in the market price and trading volumitechnology companies and of companies in oursirgy
 actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations inaperating results

 actual or anticipated changes in expectations daggour performance by investors or securitiedyets

« the failure of securities analysts to cover cammon stock after this offering or changes maficial
estimates by analyst

« actual or anticipated developments in our comps’ businesses or the competitive landsci

« actual or perceived inaccuracies in, or dis&adtion with, information we provide to our custers or the
media;

« litigation involving us, our industry or bot
 regulatory development

 privacy and security concerns, including publicge@tion of our practices as an invasion of privi
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« general economic conditions and trer

e major catastrophic event

« sales of large blocks of our stoc

« the timing and success of new product introductimmspgrades by us or our competitc
» changes in our pricing policies or payment termthose of our competitor
 concerns relating to the security of our networé apstems

« our ability to expand our operations, domedlycand internationally, and the amount and timirfig
expenditures related to this expansion

« departures of key personn

In the past, following periods of volatility in thearket price of a company’s securities, securitlass action
litigation has often been brought against that camyp If our stock price is volatile, we may becatine target of
securities litigation, which could result in subgtal costs and divert our managemerattention and resources fri
our business. In addition, volatility, lack of pibg performance in our stock price or changesutoaverall
compensation program, including our equity incemfivogram, may adversely affect our ability to iretey
employees.

We cannot assure you that a market will continuedevelop or exist for our common stock or what tmarket
price of our common stock will be.

Prior to our initial public offering in 2007, theveas no public trading market for our common stauid we
cannot assure you that one will continue to develope sustained. If a market does not continudet@lop or is nc
sustained, it may be difficult for you to sell yairares of common stock at an attractive prica all.aWe cannot
predict the prices at which our common stock wibie.

If securities or industry analysts do not publislesearch or reports about our business or if thegus an
adverse or misleading opinion regarding our stoayr stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industry o
securities analysts publish about us or our busifnéany of the analysts who cover us issue armisgdvor
misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stodkgwould likely decline. If one or more of thesealysts cease
coverage of our company or fail to publish reporisus regularly, we could lose visibility in th@dincial markets,
which in turn could cause our stock price or trgdimlume to decline.

Future sales of shares by existing stockholdersnew issuances of securities by us could cause docls price
to decline.

If we or our existing stockholders sell, or indieatn intention to sell, substantial amounts ofammmon stock
or other securities in the public market, the tngdbrice of our common stock could decline. Safesubstantial
amounts of shares of our common stock or othergEsuby us or our existing stockholders could éothe market
price of our common stock and impair our abilityéaise capital through the sale of new securitighé future at a
time and price that we deem appropriate.

We have incurred and will continue to incur incread costs and demands upon management as a result of
complying with the laws and regulations affectingpaiblic company, which could adversely affect our
operating results.

As a public company, we have incurred and will awre to incur significant legal, accounting andesth
expenses that we did not incur as a private comgargddition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 drelDodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protectiol) &cwell as rules implemented by the Securities a
Exchange Commission and The NASDAQ Stock Markefiiires certain corporate governance practicesublip
companies. Our management and other personneledastbstantial amount of time to public reporting
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requirements and corporate governance. Theseantésegulations have significantly increased ogalend
financial compliance costs and made some actiuvitiese time-consuming and costly. We also have neclr
additional costs associated with our public compapprting requirements. If these costs do notinaetto be
offset by increased revenues and improved finapadbrmance, our operating results would be adefected.
These rules and regulations also make it morecditfand more expensive for us to obtain direciat afficer
liability insurance, and we may be required to @tceduced policy limits and coverage or incur sabtally higher
costs to obtain the same or similar coverage gateosts continue to rise. As a result, it may beendifficult for us
to attract and retain qualified people to serv@onboard of directors or as executive officers.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation antlylaws and under Delaware law might discourage,ajebr
prevent a change of control of our company or chasgin our management and, therefore, depress tlaglitng
price of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contaiovisions that could depress the trading priceusf
common stock by acting to discourage, delay orgmewa change of control of our company or changesit
management that the stockholders of our companydeeagn advantageous. These provisions:

« provide for a classified board of directorstisat not all members of our board of directorsedeeted at one
time;

 authorize “blank check” preferred stock that board of directors could issue to increase timaler of
outstanding shares to discourage a takeover at

« prohibit stockholder action by written consemhich means that all stockholder actions mugbeken at a
meeting of our stockholder

« prohibit stockholders from calling a special megtii our stockholder:
* provide that the board of directors is expresshhatized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

« provide for advance notice requirements fanimations for elections to our board of directorgay
proposing matters that can be acted upon by stéd&imat stockholder meeting

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of Belaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits a
Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a dn@nge of business combinations with any “interdst
stockholder for a period of three years followihg tlate on which the stockholder became an “inedés
stockholder and which may discourage, delay orgamea change of control of our company.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters and executive officetoaated in Reston, Virginia, where we occupy
approximately 62,000 square feet of office spaateul lease that initially expires in 2018, althowuge have an
option to extend until up to 2028, subject to dertanditions. We also lease space in various iosatthroughout
the United States North America, Latin America, @&, and Japan for sales and other personnel. iégugre
additional space, we believe that we would be ablEbtain such space on commercially reasonahiester

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are involved in various legadceedings arising from the normal course of iess
activities. We are not presently a party to anydiem legal proceedings the outcome of which weevelj if
determined adversely to us, would individually mthe aggregate have a material adverse impaation o
consolidated results of operations, cash flowsnarfcial position. For a discussion of the sigmifitproceedings in
which we are involved see Note 8 to our consolidéiteancial statements.
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ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)

PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AN|
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE!
PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ &Mdlarket under the symbol “SCOR” since our initial
public offering in June 2007. The following tabktsforth the high and low sales prices of our camistock for
each period indicated and are as reported by theI¥WQ Global Market.

2010 2009
Fiscal Perioc High Low High Low
First Quartel $18.1€ $12.6¢ $13.9¢ $ 7.47
Second Quarte $18.8¢ $14.8C $15.51 $ 9.8
Third Quartel $23.7¢  $15.8¢ $19.0C $12.3¢
Fourth Quarte $24.47  $20.4C $19.5¢ $14.3:

HOLDERS

As of March 10, 2011 there were 589 stockholdenmgobrd of our common stock, although we beliew th
there may be a significantly larger number of bmfowners of our common stock. We derived thmbar of
stockholders by reviewing the listing of outstargd@ommon stock recorded by our transfer agent &an€h 10,
2011.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph set forth below compares the cumulatited stockholder return on our common stock between
June 27, 2007 (the date our common stock first cenuad trading on the NASDAQ Global Market) and
December 31, 2010 to the cumulative total retufrtt@NASDAQ Composite Index and NASDAQ Computetdr
over the same period. This graph assumes the meastof $100 at the closing price of the marketsume 27, 20(
in our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index trelNASDAQ Computer Index, and assumes the
reinvestment of dividends, if any. We have neved pavidends on our common stock and have no ptgdans to
do so.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are baged historical data. We caution that the stockepri
performance shown in the graph below is not necidggadicative of, nor is it intended to forecastig potential
future performance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
among comScore, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
and The NASDAQ Computer Index
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* $100 invested upon market close of the NASDAQ Gldtarket on June 27, 2007, the date our commorkstoc
first commenced trading on the NASDAQ Global Mankpbn our initial public offering, including reinsement
of dividends.

The preceding Stock Performance Graph is not dedifieedvith the Securities and Exchange Commissind
shall not be incorporated by reference in any offilugs under the Securities Act of 1933, as adest) or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whethde before or after the date hereof and irrésecf any
general incorporation language in any such filing.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Since our inception, we have not declared or pajdcash dividends. We currently expect to retaimiegs for
use in the operation and expansion of our busiaedgherefore do not anticipate paying any cashlends in the
foreseeable future.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The information required by this item regarding ifgaompensation plans is set forth in Part lignht 12
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersldatanagement and Related Stockholder Matters”isf th
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities during tiree Months Ended December 31, 2010

None.

Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Equity 3#ies
Not applicable.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

During the three months ended December 31, 2010epurchased the following shares of common stock i
connection with certain restricted stock and retd stock unit awards issued under our Equityritice Plans:

Maximum
Number (or
Approximate
Total Dollar Value) of
Number of Shares
Shares (or Units)
(or Units) that May
Purchased as Yet Be
Part of Publicly Purchased
Total Number of Announced Under the
Shares (or Units Average Price Plans of Plans or
Purchased(1) Per Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
October 1— October 31, 201 14,42¢ % 12.2( — —
November 7— November 30, 201 25,71 % 19.5¢ — —
December — December 31, 201 9,61¢ $ 7.2¢ —
Total 49,75¢ — —

(1) The shares included in the table above were repsatheither in connection with (i) our exerciséhef
repurchase right afforded to us in connection wéttain employee restricted stock awards or (&)fthrfeiture
of shares by an employee as payment of the ministatatory withholding taxes due upon the vestingestain
employee restricted stock and restricted stockawérds
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For the three months ended December 31, 2010htdresrepurchased in connection with our exerditieco
repurchase right afforded to us upon the cessafiemployment consisted of the following:

Total Number of Average Price

Shares Purchase Per Share
October 1— October 31, 201 6,911 $ 0.0C
November 3— November 30, 201 2,091 $ 0.0C
December — December 31, 201 6,48¢ $ 0.0C
Total 15,48¢

The shares we repurchased in connection with thmeat of minimum statutory withholding taxes duenp
the vesting of certain restricted stock and retgtstock unit awards were repurchased at thedheant fair marke
value of the shares. For the three months endedrbiaer 31, 2010, these shares consisted of thevialip

Total Number of Average Price

Shares Purchase Per Share
October 1— October 31, 201 7,517 $ 23.41
November 7— November 30, 201 23,62 $ 21.2¢
December — December 31, 201 3,132 $ 22.3¢
Total 34,27(
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read in conjunction with our consoliddtedncial
statements and the accompanying notes and “Managsniescussion and Analysis of Financial Conditemd
Results of Operations” included elsewhere in thort. The selected data in this section is nenidéd to replace
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated statements of operations datdhenconsolidated statements of cash flows dataedoh of
the three years ended December 31, 2010, 20090081d3 well as the consolidated balance sheetdaih
December 31, 2010 and 2009 are derived from andldie read together with our audited consolidéitehcial
statements and related notes appearing in thistréfee consolidated statements of operations aladathe
consolidated statements of cash flows data foy¢laes ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 as wéléas t
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@088, 2007 and 2006 are derived from our auditedalidated
financial statements not included in this reponr Gistorical results are not necessarily indieat¥ results to be
expected for future periods.

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In thousands, except share and per share dat

Consolidated Statement of Operation:

Data:
Revenue: $ 17499¢ ¢ 127,74( ¢ 11737 $ 87,151 $ 66,29!
Cost of revenues(! 51,95:¢ 38,73( 34,56: 23,85¢ 20,56(
Selling and marketing(1 59,641 41,954 39,40( 28,65¢ 21,47:
Research and development 26,377 17,821 14,83: 11,41 9,00¢
General and administrative( 33,95: 18,23: 16,78¢ 11,59¢ 8,29:
Amortization 4,534 1,457 804 96€ 1,371
Total expenses from operatic 176,45t 118,20( 106,38: 76,49¢ 60,70¢
(Loss) income from operatiol (1,459 9,54( 10,98¢ 10,65¢ 5,581
Interest and other income, r 53 41C 1,86: 2,621 231
(Loss) gain from foreign currenc (347) (132 (32)) (29¢) 12t
Gain on sale (impairment) of marketable

securities — 89 (2,239 — —
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant

liabilities — — — (1,195 (229
(Loss) income before income tax (1,759 9,901 10,29: 11,79« 5,71¢
Benefit (provision) for income tax: 177 (5,939 14,89¢ 7,52z (50

Net (loss) incomi (1,576 3,96¢ 25,18¢ 19,31¢ 5,66¢
Accretion of redeemable preferred st — — — (1,829 (3,179
Net (loss) income attributable to commr

stockholder $ (1,576 $ 3,96¢ § 25,18t $ 1748 $ 2,49

Net (loss) income attributable to comnr
stockholders per common sha
Basic $ (0.05) $ 0.1: $ 0.8¢ $ 0.9¢ $ —
Diluted $ (0.05) $ 0.1t $ 0.8z $ 0.8¢ $ —
Weighted-average number of shares used in
per share calculation
Basic 31,070,01 30,014,08 28,691,21 16,139,36 3,847,21.
Diluted 31,070,01 30,970,64 30,232,71. 18,377,56 3,847,21.
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(1) Amortization of stoc-based compensation is included in the precedirgitéms as follows

2010 2009 2008 2007 200€
(In thousands)

Cost of revenue $1,49¢ $1,18¢ $ 861 $ 27¢ ¢$12
Selling and marketin 6,217 4,617 2,611 1,00¢ 82
Research and developmt 1,86¢ 1,111 70€ 245 13
General and administrati\ 8,198 2,94: 2,29¢ 941 91

December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term

investment: $ 33,73¢ $ 88,117 $ 71,467 $ 96,817 $ 16,03:
Total current asse 103,09° 136,41¢ 116,58: 123,44 31,49:
Total asset 283,07¢ 217,53¢ 199,56: 147,67: 42,087
Total current liabilities 97,22¢ 59,40¢ 55,99: 42,077 32,88(
Equipment loan and capital lease obligations,

long-term 7,95¢ 674 — 977 2,261
Preferred stock warrant liabilities and commu

stock subject to pt — — — 1,81¢ 5,36%
Redeemable preferred stc — — — — 101,69!
Stockholder equity (deficit) 165,83: 147,93¢ 134,88( 102,62: (99,55

Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Data:

Net cash provided by operating activit $25,41( $25,03. $32,98¢ $21,217 $10,90¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 12,95¢ 8,001 5,77¢ 4,73( 4,25¢
Capital expenditure 5,11¢ 6,472 14,25: 3,63¢ 2,31«

Please see “Critical Accounting Policies and Estasaunder Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for further discussion of key accountaignges which occurred during the years coverdueimbove
table. Additional information regarding businessntinations and dispositions for the relevant periablove may
be found in the notes accompanying our consolid@tedicial statements included in Part Il, Itemf&his Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statertgeand the related notes to those statementsdadielsewhere
in Part Il Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form KO4n addition to historical financial informatiorthe following
discussion and analysis contains forward-lookirggesnents that involve risks, uncertainties and aggions. Our
actual results and timing of selected events mégrdnaterially from those anticipated in theseward-looking
statements as a result of many factors, includiogé discussed under Item 1A, “Risk Factors” arsehere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. See also “Cautign@tatement Regarding Forward-Looking Statemeatshe
beginning of this Form 10-K.
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Overview

Our digital marketing intelligence platform is coriged of proprietary databases and a computational
infrastructure that measures, analyzes and reporthgital activity. The foundation of our platforimdata collected
from our comScore panel of approximately two miilimternet users worldwide who have granted usieixpl
permission to confidentially measure their Intenngtige patterns, online and certain offline buyiebavior and
other activities. By applying advanced statistia&thodologies to our panel data, we project conssimaline
behavior for the total online population and a wideiety of user categories. This panel informat®n
complemented by a Unified Digital Measurement sotuto digital audience measurement. Unified Digita
Measurement blends panel and server methodolagi@s isolution that provides a direct linkage awbnciliation
between server and panel measurement.

We deliver our digital marketing intelligence thghuour comScore Media Metrix product suite, our Saore
Marketing Solutions products, our comScore mohslettons and our comScore web analytics solutibtfexdia
Metrix delivers digital media intelligence by prding an independent, thigghrty measurement of the size, beha
and characteristics of Web site and online adviegisetwork audiences among home, work and unityehsiernet
users as well as insight into the effectivenessntie advertising. Our Marketing Solutions producbmbine the
proprietary information gathered from the comSqmaael with the vertical industry expertise of cor®canalysts
to deliver digital marketing intelligence, includithe measurement of online advertising effectiseneustomized
for specific industries. We typically deliver oureldia Metrix products electronically in the formwéekly, monthly
or quarterly reports. Customers can access cuarehhistorical Media Metrix data and analyze thaeta anytime
online. Our M:Metrics products suite connects mebibnsumer behavior, content merchandising, aniteev
capabilities to provide comprehensive mobile manketligence. Customers can access our M:Metrata dets and
reports anytime online. Our Marketing Solutionsdarats are typically delivered on a monthly, qudyter ad hoc
basis through electronic reports and analyses.

Our company was founded in August 1999. By 2000haat established a panel of Internet users anchbega
delivering digital marketing intelligence produtiisit measured online browsing and buying behawiour first
customers. We also introduced netScore, our irstintlicated Internet audience measurement prodlet.
accelerated our introduction of new products in2@@h the launch of Plan Metrix (formerly AiM 2,0 Search,
and the Campaign R/F (Reach and Frequency) analysism and product offerings that measure onlitigity at
the local market level. By 2004, we had built abglopanel of approximately two million Internet tsdn that year,
in cooperation with Arbitron, we launched a sentitat provides ratings of online radio audience2005, we
expanded our presence in Europe by opening aredfficondon. In 2006, we continued to expand ouasneemer
capabilities with the launch of World Metrix, a pect that provides worldwide data on digital medsage, and
Video Metrix, our product that measures the audidnc streaming online video. In 2007, we completadinitial
public offering and we also launched ten new présldaring that year, including Campaign Metrix, g 2.0, Ac
Metrix, Brand Metrix, Segment Metrix and comScorarkkter. During 2008, we launched Ad Metrix-Adveeti
View, a tool for agencies and publishers desigoeslipport their media buying and selling activiées supply
their competitive intelligence needs, Plan Mettite second generation of our media planning produnct Extende
Web Measurement, which allows the tracking of distied web content across third party sites, ssobidgeo,
music, gaming applications, widgets and social meBeginning in Summer 2009, the panel informatiaa been
complemented by comScore Media Metrix 360, a “WadifDigital Measurement” solution to digital audienc
measurement that blends panel and server methadslimgo an approach that provides a direct linkagy
reconciliation between server and panel measurement

We have complemented our internal developmentinits with select acquisitions. On June 6, 2002, w
acquired certain Media Metrix assets from Jupitexdi Metrix, Inc. Through this acquisition, we aitgd certain
Internet audience measurement services that rdptails of Web site usage and visitor demograpi@csJuly 28,
2004, we acquired the outstanding stock of DenatbAessociates, Inc, otherwise known as Q2 Branglligénce,
Inc. or Q2, to improve our ability to provide owrstomers more robust survey research integratédowit
underlying digital marketing intelligence platfor@n January 4, 2005, we acquired the assets anthadscertain
liabilities of SurveySite Inc., or SurveySite. Thgh this acquisition, we acquired proprietary In&ttbased data-
collection technologies and increased our custgraeaetration and revenues in the survey businessl&yr28,
2008, we acquired the outstanding stock of M:Msetrinc. to expand our abilities to provide our ousérs a more
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robust solution for the mobile medium. In the ma&dF November 2009, we acquired Certifica, Indeaaer in web
measurement in Latin America, as part of our gl@xgansion. Certifica maintains offices and sads®urces in six
Latin American countries, which we hope will progid platform to enhance our business in that re@on
February 10, 2010, we acquired the outstandindkstb&RSgroup, Inc. to expand our ability to prozidur clients
with actionable information to improve their creatiand strategic messaging targeted against spaaifiiences. On
July 1, 2010, we acquired the outstanding stodkefius, Inc., or Nexius. Nexius is a provider ofbile carrier-
grade products that deliver network analysis fodusethe experience of wireless subscribers, asasaletwork
intelligence with respect to performance, capaaitgl configuration analytics. On August 31, 2010,acquired the
outstanding stock of Nedstat B.V., or Nedstat,@vigier of web analytics and innovative video meameant
solutions based out of Amsterdam, Netherlands.

Our total revenues have grown to $175.0 millionmythe fiscal year ending December 31, 2010 from
$87.2 million during the fiscal year ended Decenfer2007. By comparison, our total expenses frparations
have grown to $176.5 million from $76.5 million awbe same period. The growth in our revenues wiasapily the
result of:

* increased sales to existing customers, as a r@solir efforts to deepen our relationships withsthelients b
increasing their awareness of, and confidencéayalue of our digital marketing intelligence fdan;

« growth in our customer base through the additionesf customers and from acquired busines
« the sales of new products to existing and new costs;
« growth in sales outside of the U.S. as a resutndéring into new international marki

As of December 31, 2010, we had 1,752 customemspaced to 895 as of December 31, 2007. We sell ofost
our products through our direct sales force. Inetlith total revenues for the year ending Decembe2310 was
approximately $28.0 million related to operatiohattwere recently acquired during the year endezkbéer 31,
2010 and the fourth quarter of 2009.

As a result of the economic events over the lastrsdyears, such as, the global financial crisithe credit
markets, softness in the housing markets, diffieslin the financial services sector and politisatertainty in the
Middle East, the direction and relative strengthhef U.S. and global economies have become somewhbattain.
During 2008 and 2009, we experienced a limited remalh our current and potential customers ceasiataying or
reducing renewals of existing subscriptions anaipases of new or additional services and produetsumably du
to the current economic downturn. We continueddi et new customers during each quarter of 20idpar
existing customers renewed their subscriptionsrateaof over 90% based on dollars renewed in e gnded
December 31, 2010.

Our Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from the fees thatcharge for subscription-based products anadmized
projects. We define subscription-based revenuesvesues that we generate from products that weedeb a
customer on a recurring basis. We define projaamaes as revenues that we generate from customiagztts the
are performed for a specific customer on a nonfregybasis. We market our subscription-based petsju
customized projects and survey services withirctiaScore Media Metrix product suite, comScore Mtinke
Solutions, comScore mobile solutions and comScaie analytics solutions.

A significant characteristic of our business maddedur large percentage of subscription-based aotsr
Subscription-based revenues accounted for 85%alfrevenues in 2010, 86% of total revenues in 200983% of
total revenues in 2008.

Many of our customers who initially purchased atomszed project have subsequently purchased oonarof
subscription-based products. Similarly, many of sulsscription-based customers have subsequentihased
additional customized projects.

Historically, we have generated most of our reverfuem the sale and delivery of our products to panies
and organizations located within the United Stafés.intend to expand our international revenuesdtyng our
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products and deploying our direct sales force modatditional international markets in the futufer the year
ended December 31, 2010, our international revewaes $32.7 million, an increase of $13.0 million66%,
compared to 2009. International revenues compaggdoximately19%, 15% and 14% of our total reverfaethe
fiscal years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and, 288@ectively. Included in our international rewves for the
year ending December 31, 2010 was approximatel§ B8lion related to businesses that were acquitgihg the
year ended December 31, 2010 and the fourth quafr609.

We anticipate that revenues from our U.S. customé@tgontinue to constitute the substantial majoof our
revenues, but we expect that revenues from customaside of the U.S. will increase as a percenvégetal
revenues as we build greater international recmgndf our brand and expand our sales operatiavisadjly.

Subscription Revenues

We generate a significant proportion of our sulptitm-based revenues from our Media Metrix produwite.
Products within the Media Metrix suite include Madiletrix 360, Media Metrix, Plan Metrix, World Meétr Video
Metrix and Ad Metrix. These product offerings prdeisubscribers with intelligence on digital medage,
audience characteristics, audience demographicerirek and offline purchasing behavior. Custonvens
subscribe to our Media Metrix products are provid&ith login IDs to our web site, have access toaatabase and
can generate reports at anytime.

We also generate subscription-based revenues feotait reports and analyses provided through coneSco
Marketing Solutions, if that work is procured bystamers for at least a nine month period and tseauer enters
into an agreement to continue or extend the wolnkoligh our Marketing Solutions products, we delidigital
marketing intelligence relating to specific indiessst, such as automotive, consumer packaged gootdstanment,
financial services, media, pharmaceutical, retadhnology, telecommunications and travel. Thisketing
intelligence leverages our global consumer pangletensive database to deliver information unigue particular
customer’s needs on a recurring schedule, as w@lha continual-access basis. Our Marketing Swiatcustomer
agreements typically include a fixed fee with aitiahterm of at least one year. We also providesthproducts on a
non-subscription basis as described under “Pré&jewenues” below.

In addition, we generate subscription-based reve@froen survey products that we sell to our cust@mier
conducting our surveys, we generally use our gltftaknet user panel. After questionnaires areidigied to the
panel members and completed, we compile their resgmand then deliver our findings to the customkag also
has ongoing access to the survey response ddiayaare compiled and updated over time. Theseidleltzde
responses and information collected from the acumnley questionnaire and can also include behalviigiormatior
that we passively collect from our panelists. fustomer contractually commits to having a sunaydeicted on a
recurring basis, we classify the revenues genefated such survey products as subscription-basezhrees. Our
contracts for survey services typically includexad fee with terms that range from two monthsne gear.

On July 1, 2010, we completed our acquisition oiNg, Inc., resulting in additional revenue souréesliuding
software licenses, professional services (includimgiementation, training and customized consulsagvices), an
maintenance and technical support contracts. @angements generally contain multiple elementssisting of thi
various service offerings. We recognize softwatrerise arrangements that include significant maatific and
customization of the software in accordance withaRcial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Staalsi
Codification, or ASC 985-60%0ftware Recognitioand ASC 605-35Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and
Certain Production-Type Contractypically using the completed contract period mdth&e currently do not have
vendor specific objective evidence, or VSOE, fa thultiple deliverables and account for all eleraéntthese
arrangements as a single unit of accounting, razgnthe entire arrangement fee as revenue oeeséfvice
period of the last delivered element. During theqeeof performance, billings and costs (to theeexthey are
recoverable) are accumulated on the balance dheeatp profit or income is recorded before useeptance of the
software license. To the extent estimated costexpected to exceed revenue we accrue for costedlianely.

On August 31, 2010, we completed our acquisitioNefistat, resulting in additional revenue sourteguding
software subscriptions, server calls, and profesdiservices (including training and consultingitrO
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arrangements generally contain multiple elememtssisting of the various service offerings, witkigrue
recognition occurring ratably over the remainingstription term after all elements have commencdidety.

Project Revenues

We generate project revenues by providing custainiz®rmation reports to our customers on a nonrauyl
basis through comScore Marketing Solutions and té¢gsoducts. For example, a customer in the miediastry
might request a custom report that profiles thealin of the customer’s active online users andresits their
market share and loyalty with similar metrics faraanpetitor’s online user base. If this custometticwes to
request the report beyond an initial project tefratdeast nine months and enters into an agreetognirchase the
report on a recurring basis, we begin to clas$igsé future revenues as subscription-based.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based on ourotidased
financial statements, which have been prepareddardance with accounting principles generally ptae in the
U.S. The preparation of these financial statemesggires us to make estimates, assumptions andhgmg that
affect the amounts reported in our consolidatedrfamal statements and the accompanying notes. B&eda
estimates on historical experience and on varitlsr@assumptions that we believe to be reasonaldlerithe
circumstances. Actual results may differ from thesémates. While our significant accounting p@gcare
described in more detail in the notes to our cadatéd financial statements included in Part #it8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the follogrimccounting policies to be the most critical te fidgments
and estimates used in the preparation of our ctadet! financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues when the following fundamenitzria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurrecherdervices have been rendered, (iii) the feexésdfor
determinable, and (iv) collection of the resulthegeivable is reasonably assured.

We generate revenues by providing access to oineodhtabase or delivering information obtainedrfraur
database, usually in the form of periodic repdRsvenues are typically recognized on a straigte{tiasis over the
period in which access to data or reports is pejdvhich generally ranges from three to 24 months.

We also generate revenues through survey servigis gontracts ranging in term from two monthsrie o
year. Our survey services consist of survey andtiprenaire design with subsequent data collecaonlysis ant
reporting. We recognize revenues on a straightdamgs over the estimated data collection periankdhe survey
guestionnaire design has been delivered. Any chamiie estimated data collection period resultariradjustment
to revenues recognized in future periods.

Certain of our arrangements contain multiple elet\eronsisting of the various services we offerltiile
element arrangements typically consist of eithésstiptions to multiple online products solutiomsacsubscription
to our online database combined with customizedses. We have determined there is not objectieratable
evidence of fair value for any of our services ahdrefore, account for all elements in multipleneént
arrangements as a single unit of accounting. Acicedata under the subscription element is genepativided
shortly after the execution of the contract. Howetlge initial delivery of customized services gely occurs
subsequent to the commencement of the subscripkiznent. We recognize the entire arrangement feetbe
performance period of the last deliverable. Assalltethe total arrangement fee is recognized stnaaght-line basis
over the period beginning with the commencemenhefast customized deliverable.

Generally, our contracts are non-refundable andaamelable. In the event a portion of a contraict i
refundable, revenue recognition is delayed unélréfund provisions lapse. A limited number of oustrs have the
right to cancel their contracts by providing ushwitritten notice of cancellation. In the event taatustomer cance
its contract, it is not entitled to a refund forgurservices, and it will be charged for costs imed plus services
performed up to the cancellation date.
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In connection with our acquisition of Nexius, Inege acquired additional revenue sources, includoftvare
licenses, professional services (including softwargtomization implementation, training and coneglservices),
and maintenance and technical support contractsa@angements generally contain multiple elemertssisting
of the various service offerings. We recognizewaft license arrangements that include significaodification
and customization of the software in accordanch wibC 985-605Software Recognitioand
ASC 605-35Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Certaddiction-Type Contractsypically using the
completed contract method. We currently do not N4S®E for the multiple deliverables and accountdibr
elements in these arrangements as a single uadoofunting, recognizing the entire arrangemenaegvenue ovt
the service period of the last delivered elementiriy) the period of performance, billings and cdgishe extent
they are recoverable) are accumulated on the baktmeet, but no profit or income is recorded befiser
acceptance of the software license. To the exithated costs are expected to exceed revenuecmgedor costs
immediately.

Fair Value Measurements

We evaluate the fair value of certain assets aidlilies using the fair value hierarchy. Fair valg an exit
price representing the amount that would be recdeivesell an asset or paid to transfer a liabititan orderly
transaction between market participants. As swaihylue is a market-based measurement that steuld
determined based on assumptions that market getits would use in pricing an asset or liabilitye Yfioritize the
inputs used in measuring fair value using the foitag hierarchy:

Level 1 — observable inputs such as quoted prices inaatiarkets;

Level 2 — inputs other than the quoted prices in activeketa that are observable either directly or
indirectly;

Level 3 — unobservable inputs of which there is littlenormarket data, which require us to develop our
own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable mat¥i, when available, and to minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when determining fair value.a®acurring basis, we measure our marketable isiesuat fair
value and determine the appropriate classificdgwoal for each reporting period. This determinatiequires
significant judgments to be made by us.

Our investment instruments are classified withinelel or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Letel
investment instruments are valued using quoted ebquces. Level 3 instruments are valued usingatadn
models, primarily discounted cash flow analyses fypes of instruments valued based on quoted mprices in
active markets include all U.S. government and egeecurities. Such instruments are generally fladswvithin
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The typesraftruments valued based on significant unobseriaplés include
our illiquid auction rate securities. Our illiquédiction rate securities are valued using a modelt#kes into
consideration the securities coupon rate, the @irgwcondition of the issuers and the bond insyrtiies expected
date liquidity will be restored, as well as an aglilliquidity discount. Such instruments are slfied within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivpt#paid expenses and other assets, accounts eayabl
accrued expenses, deferred revenue, deferrednémiagital lease obligations reported in the cadatéd balance
sheets equal or approximate their respective fires.

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fdireszan a non-recurring basis include intangibletsand
goodwill. We recognize these items at fair valuewkhey are considered to be impaired. During #as/ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 or 2008, there were navéire adjustments for assets and liabilities messan a non-
recurring basis.

Business Combinations

We recognize all of the assets acquired, liab#liiesumed, contractual contingencies, and contingen
consideration at their fair value on the acquisititate. Acquisition-related costs are recogniz@dusdely from
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the acquisition and expensed as incurred. GenerabBjructuring costs incurred in periods subsetjoetne
acquisition date are expensed when incurred. Alfsguent changes to a valuation allowance or wingex
position that relate to the acquired company aristed at the acquisition date that occur both withie
measurement period and as a result of facts aodnestances that existed at the acquisition datesagnized as
an adjustment to goodwill. All other changes inuadion allowance are recognized as a reductionarease to
income tax expense or as a direct adjustment titialal paid-in capital as required. Acquired irepess research
and development is capitalized as an intangibletassd amortized over its estimated useful life.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We record goodwill and intangible assets when vggie other businesses. The allocation of the @selpric
to intangible assets and goodwill involves the esiee use of management’s estimates and assumpdiotishe
result of the allocation process can have a siganifiimpact on our future operating results. Warede the fair
value of identifiable intangible assets acquiredigiseveral different valuation approaches, incigdielief from
royalty method, and income and market approaches rdlief from royalty method assumes that if wek bt own
the intangible asset or intellectual property, waild be willing to pay a royalty for its use. Wengeally use the
relief from royalty method for estimating the valofeacquired technology/methodology assets. Thenre
approach converts the anticipated economic bertbfitsve assume will be realized from a given aisgetvalue.
Under this approach, value is measured as themireseth of anticipated future net cash flows ganed by an
asset. We generally use the income approach te calstomer relationship assets and oompete agreements. T
market approach compares the acquired asset ttasassets that have been sold. We generally eset¢bme
approach to value trademarks and brand assets.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizedmtheir useful lives while goodwill and indefiaitived assets
are not amortized, but rather are periodicallyg@$or impairment. An impairment review generatguires
developing assumptions and projections regardimgparating performance. We have determined thaf alur
goodwill is associated with one reporting unit asdwo not operate separate lines of business wsffens to our
services. Accordingly, on an annual basis we perfiire impairment assessment for goodwill at therpnise level
by comparing the fair value of our reporting uwitits carrying value including goodwill recorded ttne reporting
unit. If the carrying value exceeds the fair vaingpairment is measured by comparing the impliedvalue of the
goodwill to its carrying value and any impairmestemined is recorded in the current period. If estimates or tt
related assumptions change in the future, we magdpgred to record impairment charges to redueeénrying
value of these assets, which could be materialtélivere no impairment charges recognized durinyéaes ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 or 2008.

Long-lived assets

Our long-lived assets primarily consist of propertyd equipment and intangible assets. We evalhate t
recoverability of our long-lived assets for impa@mnt whenever events or changes in circumstancesabedhe
carrying value of such assets may not be recover#fidn indication of impairment is present, wenpare the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be rgée@ by the asset to its carrying amount.

Recoverability measurement and estimation of uindisted cash flows are grouped at the lowest lerel f
which identifiable cash flows are largely indepemtdsf the cash flows of other assets and liabditiéthe
undiscounted future cash flows are less than thging amount of the asset group, we record an impnt loss
equal to the excess of the asset group’s carryimguat over its fair value. The fair value is detered based on
valuation techniques such as a comparison to &ires of similar assets or using a discounted ffaghanalysis.
Although we believe that the carrying values of lomg-lived assets are appropriately stated, chagstrategy or
market conditions or significant technological depenents could significantly impact these judgmearid require
adjustments to recorded asset balances. Therenedmepairment charges recognized during the yeadsc
December 31, 2010, 2009 or 2008.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We manage credit risk on accounts receivable bfppaing credit evaluations of our customers forsérig
customers coming up for renewal as well as allpeosve new customers, by reviewing our accountiscamtracts
and by providing appropriate allowances for unatilde amounts. Allowances are based on management’
judgment, which considers historical experience spetific knowledge of accounts that may not béectible. We
make provisions based on our historical bad depergence, a specific review of all significant datgling invoices
and an assessment of general economic conditiotie financial condition of a customer deteriosateesulting in
an impairment of its ability to make payments, &iddal allowances may be required.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset ahtlityjamethod. We estimate our tax liability thrdug
calculations we perform for the determination of ourrent tax liability, together with assessinmporary
differences resulting from the different treatmehitems for income tax and financial reporting poses. These
differences result in deferred tax assets andlili@si, which are recorded on our balance sheettiWie assess the
likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recedein future periods. In assessing the need fazation allowance
against the deferred tax assets, we consider fastmh as future reversals of existing taxable tearg differences,
taxable income in prior carryback years, if cargls permitted under the tax law, tax plannin@tstgies and
future taxable income exclusive of reversing terappdifferences and carryforwards. In evaluatingjgxtions of
future taxable income, we consider our history rafiipability, the competitive environment, the oa#routlook for
the online marketing industry and general econamaitditions. In addition, we consider the timefraover which it
would take to utilize the deferred tax assets gnaheir expiration. To the extent we cannot cadelthat it is more
likely than not that the benefit of such asset$ beélrealized, we establish a valuation allowamcadjust the
carrying value of such assets.

As of December 31, 2010, we estimate our federdlistate net operating loss carryforwards for tayppses
are approximately $51.9 million and $37.3 millieespectively. These net operating loss carryforavaril begin to
expire in 2022 for federal income tax purposesiarD16 for state income tax purposes. In additan,
December 31, 2010, we estimate our aggregate eeatipg loss carryforwards for tax purposes relédeaur
foreign subsidiaries is $27.5 million, which begtosxpire in 2011.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, we recorded tiafuallowances against certain deferred tax asdets
$1.0 million and $3.6 million, respectively. At Deber 31, 2010, the valuation allowance was prigneglated to
the deferred tax assets of the foreign subsididnitsare in their start-up phases, including Ch8ain and
Singapore, and certain Certifica and Nedstat sidr#éd, and the deferred tax asset related toaheevof our auctic
rate securities. At December 31, 2009, the valaaitowance was primarily related to the acquiretedred tax
assets of our M:Metrics UK subsidiary, the defeti@dasset related to the value of our auctionsaterrities, and
the deferred tax assets of the foreign subsididnigtsare in their start-up phases, including Chidarmany, Hong
Kong and certain Certifica subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2010, we have concluded thaag more likely than not that a substantial portéour
UK deferred tax assets will be realized and deteschithat it was appropriate to release the ensihgation
allowance of $2.8 million in the fourth quarter210. In making that determination, we considehedprofitability
of the UK entity achieved in 2010 and prior yeampled with the timing of the reversal of taxatdmporary
differences and the forecasted profitability inuhat years. We also concluded that it was not nmikedylthan not the
a substantial portion of our deferred tax asseteitain other foreign jurisdictions would be reali and that an
increase to the valuation allowance was necesbamaking that determination, we considered thedgsncurred |
these foreign jurisdictions during 2010, the cur@rerall economic environment, and the uncertaiagarding the
profitability of certain foreign operations. Asesullt, in the fourth quarter of 2010 we recordedharease in the
deferred tax asset valuation allowance of approtein&$326,000.

As of December 31, 2009, we concluded that it watsmore likely than not that a substantial portidrour
deferred tax assets in certain foreign jurisdictiarould be realized and that an increase in theatiain allowance
was necessary. In making that determination, weidered the losses incurred in these foreign jiatigchs during
2009, the current overall economic environment, tieduncertainty regarding the profitability of aogd
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business. As a result, we recorded an increaseiddferred tax asset valuation allowance of apprabely
$719,000.

The exercise of certain stock options and the ngsif certain restricted stock awards during theryended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 generated income taxctieds equal to the excess of the fair marketevaler the
exercise price or grant date fair value, as applicaNVe will not recognize a deferred tax assethwnaspect to the
excess of tax over book stock compensation dechectiotil the tax deductions actually reduce ourenirtaxes
payable. As such, we have not recorded a defemseddset in the accompanying financial statemefsed to the
additional net operating losses generated fronwihdfall tax deductions associated with the exercibthese stock
options and the vesting of the restricted stockreadf and when we utilize these net operatingdsso reduce
income taxes payable, the tax benefit will be rdedras an increase in additional paid-in capitalof
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the ctimeuamount of net operating losses relating tdsaation
exercises and vesting events that have been intindée gross net operating loss carryforwardsali®
$16.6 million and $11.0 million respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2@0&in stock options were exercised and certanesh
related to restricted stock awards vested at timte=n our stock price was substantially lower tHenftir value of
those shares at the time of grant. As a resultint@me tax deduction related to such shares $stkem the expense
previously recognized for book purposes. Such fitstreduce additional paid-in capital to the extelevant
windfall tax benefits have been previously recogdizHowever, as described above, we have not gegnized
these windfall tax benefits because the tax benbkéive not resulted in a reduction of current tgpesble.
Therefore, the impact of the shortfalls totalingt$®00 and $785,000, respectively, have been iedudincome
tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2@l 2G09. Looking forward, we expect our income tax
provisions for future reporting periods will be iagied by this stock compensation tax deductiontfloe
cannot predict the stock compensation shortfalldiotfpecause of dependency upon future market peidermance
of our stock.

For uncertain tax positions, we use a more-likbrtnot recognition threshold based on the techniests of
the tax position taken. Tax positions that meetntioee-likely-than-not recognition threshold are swead as the
largest amount of tax benefits determined on a datiwe probability basis, which are more likely thaot to be
realized upon ultimate settlement in the finanstatements. As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2098ad
unrecognized tax benefits of $2.4 million, $1.2limil and $240 thousand, respectively, on a taxetéfd basis. It is
our policy to recognize interest and penaltiesteeldo income tax matters in income tax expensefAs
December 31, 2010, the amount of accrued interespanalties on unrecognized tax benefits was $DD1As of
December 31, 2009, the amount of accrued interperese on unrecognized tax benefits was $489,0@0oNVdne
of our subsidiaries files income tax returns inth8. Federal jurisdiction and various states ameijn
jurisdictions. For income tax returns filed by u& are no longer subject to U.S. Federal examinstiy tax
authorities for years before 2007 or state and lkasaexaminations by tax authorities for yearsobef2006,
although tax attribute carryforwards generatedrgadhese years may still be adjusted upon exaioimay tax
authorities.

Stock-Based Compensation

We estimate the fair value of share-based awardseodate of grant. The fair value of stock optians
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricirggel. The fair value of market-based stock optimmd
restricted stock units is determined using a M@#€do simulation embedded in a lattice model. Tdievalue of
restricted stock awards is based on the closirggmi our common stock on the date of grant. Therdenation of
the fair value of stock option awards and restda®ck awards is based on a variety of factorsidicg, but not
limited to, the our common stock price, expectetlsiprice volatility over the expected life of away and actual
and projected exercise behavior. Additionally weéneste forfeitures for share-based awards at thesdaf grant
based on historical experience, adjusted for futxpeectation. The forfeiture estimate is revisedexessary if
actual forfeitures differ from these estimates.

We issue restricted stock awards whose restrictagree upon either the passage of time (serviding®s
achieving performance targets, or some combinatfidhese restrictions. For those restricted staeérds with
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only service conditions, we recognize compensatast on a straight-line basis over the expliciv®er period. For
awards with both performance and service conditiagsstart recognizing compensation cost overéhgaining
service period when it is probable the performaraalition will be met. Stock awards that containf@enance or
market vesting conditions, are excluded from ddutarning per share computations until the contingés met as
of the end of that reporting period.

If factors change and we employ different assunmgtio future periods, the compensation expensee@d
may differ significantly from what we have previdusecorded. Beginning in 2007, we made use ofictst stock
awards and reduced our use of stock options asradbstock-based compensation.

At December 31, 2010, total estimated unrecogniz@dpensation expense related to unvested stockibase
awards granted prior to that date was $25.2 milkeinich is expected to be recognized over a wetthteerage
period of 1.60 years.

The actual amount of stodkased compensation expense we record in any piscald will depend on a numk
of factors, including the number of shares suljgeestricted stock and/or stock options issueel falir value of our
common stock at the time of issuance and the eagedtlatility of our stock price over time. In atidn, changes to
our incentive compensation plan that heavily fastock-based compensation are expected to caudelseed
compensation expense to increase in absolute sollar

Seasonality

Historically, a slightly higher percentage of oustomers have renewed their subscription produittsus
during the fourth quarter.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected consolidatatements of operations data as a percentagabf
revenues for each of the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Revenue: 100.(% 100.% 100.(%
Cost of revenue 29.7 30.2 29.4
Selling and marketing expens 34.1 32.¢ 33.6
Research and developmt 15.C 14.C 12.€
General and administrati 19.4 14.: 14.¢
Amortization 2.6 1.1 0.7
Total expenses from operatic 100.¢ 92.t 90.¢€
(Loss) income from operatiol (0.9 7.5 9.4
Interest income ne — 0.3 1.€
Loss from foreign currenc (0.2 (0.7 (0.3
Gain on sale (impairment) of marketable secur — 0.1 (1.9
(Loss) income before income tax (benefit) provis (1.0 7.8 8.8
Income tax (benefit) provisia 0.1 (4.0 12.7
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhic (0.9% 3.2% 21.5%
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Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Erdiecember 31, 2009 and Year Ended Decembel
2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2008

Revenues
Change Percent Change
2010 2009 2010 2009
Year Ended December 31 Vs. VS. VS. VS.
2010 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(Dollars in thousands)
Revenue: $174,99¢ $127,74( $117,37. $47,25¢ $10,36¢ 37.(% 8.8%

Total revenues increased by approximately $47.8amitluring the year ended December 31, 2010 apaoex
to the year ended December 31, 2009. The revemetlymvas substantially due to increased sales it@xisting
customer base as a result of both organic growdheaquisitions. In addition, our customer baseiooetd to grow
as compared to the prior year. Our total custoraselgrew by a net increase of 479 customers fr@it8lat
December 31, 2009 to 1,752 at December 31, 201®iridnease in our customer base included 238 cetate
businesses acquired in 2010. Included in totalrrege for the year ended December 31, 2010 wasx@ppately
$28.0 million related to businesses that were aeduiuring the year ended December 31, 2010 anitinéa
quarter of 2009.

Sales to existing customers totaled $154.1 mildiaring the year ended December 31, 2010 which was a
increase of $40.7 million over the prior year. Wheilsute $21.6 million of this increase to contidugrowth in
comScore product suite sales and $19.1 milliol¢édbusinesses we acquired during 2010 and thehfquerter of
2009. During the year ended December 31, 2010ntmsfrom new customers were $20.8 million, anease of
approximately $6.5 million from the prior year. \#ribute this increase to the businesses we adjdinring 2010
and the fourth quarter of 2009.

Revenues from customers outside of the U.S. totghpdoximately $32.7 million, or approximately 196
total revenues, during the year ended Decembe2@®1), which was an increase of $13.0 million corafddo the
prior year. The increase was due to ongoing intemnal expansion efforts that resulted in increases 2009 of
$4.5 million for Latin America, $4.4 million for Eape, $1.8 million for Canada, $1.4 million for Mie East and
Africa and $936,000 for Asia. Included within tobaternational revenues for the year ended Dece®ibe2010 we
approximately $9.7 million related to the businestet were acquired during the year ended DeceB81het010
and during the fourth quarter of 2009.

There was continued revenue growth in our subseripevenues, which increased by approximately
$38.9 million from $109.8 million during 2009 to44.7 million during 2010. In addition, our projdused
revenues increased by $8.4 million from $17.9 wnillduring 2009 to $26.3 million during 2010.

Total revenues increased by approximately $10.4amitluring the year ended December 31, 2009 apaoex
to the year ended December 31, 2008. This incne@aseprimarily due to sales to existing customesetan the
U.S. totaling $97.7 million during 2009, which wea$12.4 million increase compared to 2008. Durirggame
period, revenues from new U.S. customers were $hil®n, a decrease of approximately $5.3 millfoom 2008.
Revenues from customers outside of the U.S. totgdpdoximately $19.7 million, or approximately 15ffdotal
revenues, during the year ended December 31, 2008h was an increase of $3.2 million compared0& We
attribute this increase to acquired businessesimlAmerica and Europe as well as our continugzhegion efforts
in Europe, Latin America, Asia and Canada.

Our total customer base grew by a net increas@ottlistomers from 1,166 at December 31, 2008 {031a2
December 31, 2009. There was continued revenuetlyiovour subscription revenues, which increased by
approximately $12.4 million from $97.4 million dog 2008 to $109.8 million during 2009. However, pusject-
based revenues, decreased by $2.1 million from0&2dlion during 2008 to $17.9 million during 2008/e believe
that this decrease was attributable to the implgeneral economic conditions upon our customeusgigets and
capacity for spending on market research, which haase had a greater impact on our customers’ paeshaf
project-based services than on our subscriptioncsss.
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We generally invoice customers on an annual, qugre monthly basis, or at the completion of certa
milestones. Amounts that have been invoiced amerded in accounts receivable and any unearned negeare
recorded in deferred revenues until the invoiceliegn collected and the revenue recognized.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of cost of reversadiiyg and marketing expenses, research and aaweint
expenses, general and administrative expensesequndaiation and amortization of long-lived assets.

Included in our operating expenses are costs ssichrd and other facilities related costs, and et@ation
expense. During the year ended December 31, 26@0and other facilities related costs, and deptierci expense
increased by approximately $1.2 million and $1.8iom, respectively, compared to the year endedebdzer 31,
2009. During the year ended December 31, 2009 amhbther facilities related costs, and depremiagixpense
increased by approximately $1.1 million and $1.8iom, respectively, compared to the year endedebdzer 31,
2008. The increases incurred during the fiscal 2640 are largely due to the facilities owned kg bisinesses we
acquired during the year ended December 31, 20d @henfourth quarter of 2009. The increases incldering
fiscal year 2009 are due to new office facilitiesl @apital expenditures to support our infrastrieas well as
position us for future growth. The related costéases from these new facilities and capital exipersds were
allocated to cost of revenues, sales and markatisgarch and development, and general and adratiistcosts.

Also included in our operating expenses for the yealed December 31, 2010 was approximately $24Li@m
of general operating expenses related to the bss#sethat were acquired during the year ended Dmsredd, 2010
and during the fourth quarter of 2009. These an®arg included in our operating results as a comioof cost of
revenues, sales and marketing expenses, reseafcieaglopment expenses and general and administrati
expenses. In addition, in conjunction with acqiositrelated activities, we incurred approximate®/@million of
transaction related costs for the year ended DeeeBih 2010. These amounts are included in ouratipgrresults
as a component of our general and administratipemses.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we announcedsdructuring program and reduced our headcount by
approximately forty-six full-time positions. Inclad in 2009 operating expenses is a $563,000 chelated to
severance and other costs directly related todtieation of our workforce. In addition, includedsitock-based
compensation expense for the year ended Decemb£039, was approximately $175,000 of changes &sdsoc
with restricted stock awards that were modifieddoelerate vesting as part of the restructuring. s of
December 31, 2009, we had approximately $148,0@uistanding restructuring liabilities consistirfgemployee
severance that was paid during the first quart@0a40.

Cost of Revenues

Year Ended December 31 Change Percent Change
2010 2009 2010 2009
Vs. vs. VS. Vs.
2010 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(Dollars in thousands)
Cost of revenue $51,95¢ $38,73( $34,56: $13,22! $4,16¢ 34.1% 12.1%
As a percentage of revent 29.% 30.2% 29.4%

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expenseded|to operating our network infrastructure, picidg our
products, and the recruitment, maintenance andostippour consumer panels. Expenses associatbdhdse arei
include the salaries, stock-based compensationiedattd personnel expenses of network operatsamgey
operations, custom analytics and technical suppbrf which are expensed as they are incurredt Gbrevenues
also includes data collection costs for our proslugperational costs associated with our data Enteluding
depreciation expense associated with computer prgripthat supports our panel and systems, ancatdidc
overhead, which is comprised of rent and othelifes related costs, and depreciation expenserg@teby gener:
purpose equipment and software.

Cost of revenues increased by approximately $13lBmduring the year ended December 31, 2010 czmexh
to the year ended December 31, 2009. This incngaseattributable to an increase of $8.4 milliotthind party
services related to data collection, analysis alidiation activities applied as revenue increasedddition,
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data center and bandwidth costs increased $2.bmdue to the use of our beaconing technology.ifibeease was
also due to a $1.1 million increase in employeargd, benefits and related costs, including bexpense,
associated with increases in headcount from bothhiees and employees acquired in acquisitionsdaition,
stock-based compensation expense increased $3084000 the year ended December 31, 2010 as cochpatbe
prior year, due to our continued use of equity cengation as part of our compensation program. Dtieet overall
increase in rent and depreciation costs, we expegtta $1.6 million increase in the amount of theests allocated
to cost of revenues for the year ended Decembe2@®). These increases were offset by a $411,060@ase in
panel development. Included within total cost afereues for the year ended December 31, 2010 wasxapyately
$6.4 million related to the businesses that weggi@ed during the year ended December 31, 201@laridg the
fourth quarter of 2009. Cost of revenues decreasetipercentage of revenues during the year endeehiber 31,
2010 as compared to the year ended December 32,d2@0to revenue growth relative to increases &t ¢b
revenues expenses.

Cost of revenues increased by approximately $4libbmiduring the year ended December 31, 2009 coatha
to the year ended December 31, 2008. This incrgaseattributable to a $1.3 million increase in paeeruitment
and retention and a $1.7 million increase in dathlzandwidth costs. The increase in bandwidth wastd the
growth in the panel in addition to the use of oeadoning technology. Also, due to the overall inseein rent and
depreciation costs, we incurred an increase ofcequpiately $1.2 million in the amount of these castecated to
cost of revenues for the year ended December 3B.20 addition, depreciation expense was furtherdased by
capital expenditures to support the infrastructhe¢ supports our panel and customer products. @osvvenues
increased as a percentage of revenues by lesstiggpercentage point during the year ended Dece&ih@009
over 2008.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Year Ended December 31 Change Percent Change
2010 2009 2010 2009
VS. VS. VS. VS.
2010 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(Dollars in thousands)
Selling and marketing expens $59,64. $41,95. $39,40( $17,687 $2,55¢ 42.2% 6.5%
As a percentage of revent 34.1% 32.&% 33.%

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilgaddiries, benefits, commissions, bonuses, an&-siaged
compensation paid to our direct sales force andsitnyg analysts, as well as costs related to omlirceoffline
advertising, product management, industry confexgngromotional materials, public relations, otbedes and
marketing programs, and allocated overhead, wisicdomprised of rent and other facilities relatestgoand
depreciation expense generated by general purppsgneent and software. All selling and marketingtsaare
expensed as they are incurred. Commission plandeseloped for our account managers with critem@ size of
sales quotas that vary depending upon the indiVeltzle. Commissions are paid to a salespersoraaméxpensed
as selling and marketing costs when a sales cdrigragecuted by both the customer and us. Indlse of multi-
year agreements, one year of commissions is paidlly, with the remaining amounts paid at the in@ing of the
succeeding years.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by $1iflidmduring the year ended December 31, 2010 cneqh
to the year ended December 31, 2009. This incngasedue to an $8.7 million increase in employearies,
benefits and related costs from our ARSgroup, Neaind Nedstat acquisitions as well as due to isesem base
comScore head count and annual merit increaseslStexperienced a $1.6 million increase in bomperse due
to our 2010 bonus program, which includes a casfpoment; our 2009 plan was entirely equity basesn@ission
expense increased $1.3 million due to higher salksne in 2010 as compared to 2009. In additionewgerienced
a $2.0 million increase in travel expenses dueutd?2610 sales meeting as well as the increasesioers, our
internal headcount and the frequency of internafitiavel. This increase was also due to a $1.Bamiincrease in
stock-based compensation due to continued useudtffempmpensation as part of our compensation progilso,
due to the overall increase in rent and depreciatasts, we experienced a $731,000 increase iantoaint of these
costs allocated to selling and marketing expensethé year ended December 31, 2010. We also exexd a
$725,000 increase in third party related coststduecreased usage of third party
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resellers. Marketing and general office expenseeased $682,000 due to an increase in eventsremees and
due and subscriptions related to our industry udetl within total selling and marketing expenseglie year ende
December 31, 2010 was approximately $10.7 millelated to the businesses that were acquired dthiengear
ended December 31, 2010 and the fourth quarte®@@®.2Selling and marketing expenses increasecascantage
of revenues during 2010 as compared to 2009 dargansion of sales and marketing activities inUtfe. and
internationally.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by $dl@mduring the year ended December 31, 2009 coetha
to the year ended December 31, 2008. This increasedue to a $2.0 million increase in stock-basedpensation
due to our increased use of equity compensatigadf our bonus program, and, to a lesser degrpéty
compensation issued in exchange for reductionsgolar cash compensation implemented in 2009. Alse,to the
overall increase in rent and depreciation costsexperienced a $732,000 increase in the amouhiesgtcosts
allocated to selling and marketing expenses foydsr ended December 31, 2009. Selling and marketipenses
decreased as a percentage of revenues during 2@@8mgpared to 2008 due to revenue growth relativecreases
in selling and marketing expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

Year Ended December 31 Change Percent Change
2010 2009 2010 2009
Vs. Vs. vs. Vs.
2010 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(Dollars in thousands)
Research and developme $26,37° $17,827 $14,83: $8,55( $2,99t 48.(% 20.2%
As a percentage of revent 15.(% 14.(% 12.%

Research and development expenses include newqgtrdelelopment costs, consisting primarily of delr
benefits, stock-based compensation and related tmspersonnel associated with research and dewent
activities, fees paid to third parties to develewrproducts and allocated overhead, which is casagrof rent and
other facilities related costs, and depreciationemse generated by general purpose equipment &ncisa

Research and development expenses increased byn#doé during the year ended December 31, 2010 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2009iridresase was due to a $5.3 million increase in eygd
salaries, benefits and related costs associatédtmétincrease in headcount and our continued foougeveloping
new products. The increase included a $757,00@aser in stock-based compensation during the yeladen
December 31, 2010 as compared to the prior yeartaour continued use of equity compensation asopaur
compensation program. In addition, to support awetbpment of new products and the integratiorcghiaed
businesses, we experienced increases of $998,@085319,000 in our systems and maintenance costedeio
computer hardware and software and costs paidtsmorced service providers, respectively. In addijtthere was
$491,000 increased allocation of overhead costs asicent due to the increased headcount and fsimg cesearch
and development functions. Travel expenses alsedsed $320,000 due to the integration of the aedui
businesses and increased international travel. dxpiately $3.7 million of research and developnexyense for
the year ended December 31, 2010 was related toukiresses that were acquired during the yeardende
December 31, 2010 and during the fourth quart@06P, and the components of such are includedeifiditegoing
discussion.. Research and development costs irttessa percentage of revenues for the year eneleghiiber 31,
2010 as compared to 2009 due to our investmemtsvnproduct initiatives relative to our growth ewvenues.

Research and development expenses increased byn#Bod during the year ended December 31, 2009 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2008.nEthegise was due to a $1.6 million increase in eyeglo
salaries, benefits and related costs associatédtétincrease in headcount of our research anelajgwent
personnel and our increased focus on developingpmeducts. We also incurred a $405,000 increaséoick-based
compensation due to our increased use of equitypeasation as part of our bonus program, and, ésset degree,
equity compensation issued in exchange for redostio regular cash compensation implemented in 200%ell a
our increased headcount. In addition, we incurretherease of $564,000 in the amount of costs afextto
research and development expenses due to the ldnerabse in rent and depreciation costs anditreased size
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of our research and development functions. Weetperienced a $261,000 increase in our systems and
maintenance costs related to computer hardwarsafhdare and a $137,000 increase in consulting fees

General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended December 31 Change Percent Change
2010 2009 2010 2009
vSs. VS. VS. VS.
2010 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(Dollars in thousands)
General and administratiy $33,95¢ $18,23: $16,78¢ $15,72! $1,447 86.2% 8.6%
As a percentage of revent 19.4% 14.2% 14.2%

General and administrative expenses consist piiynafrsalaries, benefits, stock-based compensatind,
related expenses for executive management, finacceunting, human capital, legal and other adrmatise
functions, as well as professional fees, overhigatljding allocated overhead, which is comprisedeott and other
facilities related costs, and depreciation expgeserated by general purpose equipment and softaageexpense
incurred for other general corporate purposes.

General and administrative expenses increased By $dillion during the year ended December 31, 2840
compared to the year ended December 31, 2009.rthegise was due to a $5.3 million increase in shaded
compensation during the year ended December 3D, 20tompared to the prior year. Of this incre$3e5 million
was due to the market-based stock options graotkeyt executives during the second quarter of 2844,
$1.7 million was due to our continued use of eqodynpensation as part of our compensation progfém increas
was also due to a $5.2 million increase in profeslifees and outside services, which includes sillbn for
professional services such as legal and tax sergisgociated with our acquisition related actigjti&l.9 million for
other required accounting, legal and general ctingutervices to meet the needs of our expandisgbss,
$1.2 million for non-capitalizable consulting se®$ and internal software implementation projents$231,000
due to recruiting and relocation related fees daget with expanding our general and administradigpartments to
support the Company’s growth. In addition, emplogekaries, benefits and related costs increas&drilion due
to ARSgroup, Nexius and Nedstat acquisitions as agtomScore head count and annual merit incredéesiso
experienced an increase in bonus expense of $3161@®to our 2010 bonus program which includessh ca
component; the 2009 plan was entirely equity basedddition, we incurred $862,000 in severancenpayts durin
the year ended December 31, 2010. Also, due teased headcount and business acquisitions geaeilayfand
overhead related expenses increased $216,000 dhengar ended December 31, 2010 as compared twitr
year. Included within total general and administeexpenses for the year ended December 31, 28%
approximately $4.0 million related to the businestet were acquired during the year ended DeceB81het010
and during the fourth quarter of 2009. General adlinistrative expenses increased as a percentageemues
during 2010 as compared to 2009 due to increasgsnaral and administrative expenses relativevermae growth.

General and administrative expenses increased dyrillion during the year ended December 31, 2899
compared to the year ended December 31, 2008.nEheaise was due to $685,000 for professional ssngach as
legal and tax services associated with our acémisdf Certifica, Inc. In addition, stock-based qmmnsation
increased $646,000 during the year ended Decenb@089 as compared to the prior year due to aweased use
of equity compensation as part of our bonus progeard, to a lesser degree, equity compensatioadsisu
exchange for reductions to regular cash compemsatiplemented in 2009. We also experienced a $802,0
increase in professional fees for tax and legalises due to additional global tax planning straegesulting from
our expanding international presence. We also mneduan increase of $156,000 in the amount of @lkisated to
general and administrative expenses due to thalbwecrease in rent and depreciation costs. Theseases were
partially offset by a $250,000 decrease in emplmaaries, benefits and related costs resulting Salary and
benefits cost-containment programs that becametiefeduring 2009 and a $195,000 decrease in bbtded@ense
due to our improved collections process. Generdlaministrative expenses as a percentage of rewauming
2009 were consistent with the prior year.
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Amortization Expenst

Year Ended December 31 Change Percent Change
2010 2009 2010 2009
VS. VS. VS. VS.
2010 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
(Dollars in thousands)
Amortization expens $4,53¢  $1,457 $804 $3,077 $655 211.2% 81.2%
As a percentage of revent 2.6% 1.1% 0.7%

Amortization expense consists of charges relatéde@mortization of intangible assets associaitid w
acquisitions.

Amortization expense increased $3.1 million duting year ended December 31, 2010 as compared ye#ne
ended December 31, 2009 due to additional amadizaf intangible assets that were acquired du2@t0 and the
fourth quarter of 2009 in connection with our asifions of ARSgroup, Nexius, Nedstat and Certifica.

Amortization expense increased $653,000 durinyéae ended December 31, 2009 as compared to the yea
ended December 31, 2008 due to additional amadizaf intangible assets that were acquired dutfiregsecond
quarter of 2008 in connection with our acquisitairM:Metrics, and, to a lesser degree, amortizatiom intangible
assets acquired during the fourth quarter of 26@®nnection with our acquisition of Certifica.

Interest and Other Income, Net

Interest and other income, net, consists of inténesme, interest expense and gains or lossesspoghls of
fixed assets.

Interest income consists of interest earned frorastments, such as short and Idegn fixed income securitis
and auction rate securities, and our cash andezpskalent balances. Interest expense is incuieda capital
leases pursuant to several equipment loan andigeagreements and a line of credit that we havered into in
order to finance the lease of various hardwareadier equipment purchases. Our capital lease dindigaare
secured by a senior security interest in eligilgjeipment.

Interest income, net for the year ended Decembe2@10 was $7,000 as compared to $501,000 fordhe y
ended December 31, 2009. The decrease of $494100@®010 was due to a $265,000 decrease in gitereome
as a result of lower cash balances as a resuied¢quisitions of ARSgroup, Nexius and Nedstaingu2010. In
addition, our interest expense increased $229,0@Qalour increased use of capital leases durid§.20ur cash,
cash equivalents and investments decreased by 88kich to $36.6 million at December 31, 2010 dae
acquisition activities.

Interest income, net for the year ended Decembge2@19 was $501,000 as compared to $1.9 millioriHer
year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease ofriilligh during 2009 was due to lower returns froor
investments. Our cash, cash equivalents and inesgtnincreased by $15.9 million to $90.9 milliorDetcember 3:
2009 due to positive operating cash flow.

Included in Interest and other income, net, was@$00 loss for fixed asset disposals for the gaded
December 31, 2009.

Loss From Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaii®the local currency. All assets and liabiliteas translated
at the current exchange rates as of the end qfdehied, and revenues and expenses are transla@édraige rates in
effect during the period. The gain or loss resglfiom the process of translating the foreign auryefinancial
statements into U.S. dollars is included as a carapbof other comprehensive (loss) income.

We recorded a transaction loss of $347,000 duhirg/ear ended December 31, 2010 as compared to a
transaction loss of $132,000 during the year erdstember 31, 2009 due to our increased interndtfyraence in
Europe and Latin America. Our foreign currency s@gtions are recorded as a result of fluctuatiorke
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exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and thesBriRbund, Euro, and the functional currencies otlatin
America entities.

Due to the weakening of the U.S. Dollar as compéwetie British Pound during the year ended Decer@be
2009, we recorded a transaction loss of $132,0@@apared to a transaction loss of $321,000 duhagear ende
December 31, 2008. Our foreign currency transastéye recorded as a result of fluctuations in #uhange rate
between the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollam Bad British Pound.

Gain on Sale (Impairment) of Marketable Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we rezedra gain of $89,000 from the sale of one auctbm
security.

Impairment of marketable securities is comprisedrokalized losses related to changes in the &irevof our
investments that have a decline that is considetteer-than-temporary. During the year ended Decei@be2008,
we recorded an impairment charge of $2.2 milliondier marketable securities, which was due to theewdown of
our investments in auction rate securities thatetermined to have an other-than-temporary dedlivalue. There
was no comparable charge in the years ending Desre®ih 2010 and 2009. For more information on our
investments in auction rate securities, see “Mamage’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comditand
results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Reses.”

Provision for Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2010, we had federal and setteperating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of
approximately $51.9 million and $37.3 million, resfively. These net operating loss carryforwardgirb& expire
in 2022 for federal income tax purposes and begixpire in 2016 for state income tax purposeshérfuture, we
intend to utilize any carryforwards available totaseduce our tax payments. A portion of our rpsrating loss
carryforwards are subject to an annual limitatioder Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. @/iead expect
that this limitation will impact our ability to dtze all of our net operating losses prior to theipiration. For the
year ended December 31, 2010, the tax provisieongprised of U.S. income tax expense of $602,0R@ea to ou
federal alternative minimum tax and state tax liaés, $1.2 million of foreign income tax expensed deferred tax
benefit of approximately $1.9 million related prirfato the reduction of our valuation allowance.

As of December 31, 2009, we had federal and setteperating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of
approximately $52.9 million and $39.7 million, resfively, which begin to expire in 2021 for fedeaald begin to
expire in 2014 for state income tax reporting psgm For the year ended December 31, 2009, thpradaision is
comprised of U.S. income tax expense of $703,0@0ee to our federal alternative minimum tax aratestax
liabilities, $139,000 of foreign income tax expermed deferred tax expense of approximately $5ltlomirelated
primarily to the utilization of net operating lossguring the year.

As of December 31, 2008, we had federal and sttteperating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of
approximately $74.2 million and $44.9 million, restively, which begin to expire in 2021 for fedeaald begin to
expire in 2014 for state income tax reporting psgm For the year ended December 31, 2008, tipradaision is
comprised of U.S. income tax expense of $359,0élated to our federal alternative minimum tax atadestax
liabilities, $127,000 of foreign income tax expermed deferred tax expense of approximately $5Iomirelated
primarily to the utilization of net operating loss#uring the year, offset by a reduction of ouuasibn allowance of
$20.4 million.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table summarizes our cash flows:

Year Ended December 31

Consolidated Cash Flow Dat 2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activit $25,41( $25,03: $32,98¢

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (44,027 8 (64,409

Net cash used in financing activiti (6,089 (1,715 (1,139

Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 14¢ 663 (1,519

Net (decrease) increase in cash and equiva (24,549 23,98 (34,07)

Our principal uses of cash historically have caesif cash paid for business acquisitions, paad other
operating expenses and payments related to thetmeats in equipment primarily to support our consupanel
and technical infrastructure required to supportaustomer base. As of December 31, 2010, our ijpahsources (
liquidity consisted of $33.7 million in cash, whiokpresents cash generated from operating activiie of
December 31, 2010, we held $2.8 million in longxténvestments consisting of four separate auctda securities
with an original par value of $4.3 million. In prigears, we invested in these auction rate seesffitir short periods
of time as part of our investment policy. Howewuercertainties in the credit markets have limited ahility to
liquidate our holdings of auction rate securitesthere have been no auctions for these secuntR&l0 or 2009.

The four securities were valued using a discounésth flow model that takes into consideration tharfcial
condition of the issuers, the workout period, tigedunt rate and other factors. During the yeaedridecember 31,
2009 we recorded a $429,000 unrealized gain retatétese securities. Based on our current fairevaktimate as
of December 31, 2010, we recorded an additionalGB0unrealized gain. The net unrealized gain 80§00 is
included in Accumulated other comprehensive inceritkin our Consolidated Balance Sheets includeart II,
Item 8 of this Annual Report on form 10-K. We areertain as to when the liquidity issues relatmghese
investments will improve. Accordingly, we classdithese securities as long-term on our Consolidatddnce
Sheets included in Part 11, Item 8 of this Annuapart on form 10-KQ. If the credit ratings of tissier, the bond
insurers or the collateral deteriorate further,magy further adjust the carrying value of these &tents.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we sold one iunctate security, via a tender offer, and recoraeealized
gain of $89,000.

Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are siguaiftly influenced by our investments in persorara
infrastructure to support the anticipated growtloim business, increases in the number of custousémng our
products and the amount and timing of payments rbgdbese customers.

We generated approximately $25.4 million of nethdsm operating activities during the year ended
December 31, 2010. Our cash flows from operatioas driven by our net loss of $1.6 million, as atjdsor
$30.2 million in non-cash charges such as depienisamortization, provision for bad debts, stoaséd
compensation, deferred rent and bond premium apadidn, and a $1.9 million nocash deferred tax benefit. At 1
same time, our cash flows from operations were tinag@ impacted by a $4.5 million increase in prigpexpenses
and other assets due to an increase in advancetkpég/to vendors for annual maintenance agreeraadts
estimated quarterly income tax payments. This veasghly offset by a positive impact of $2.9 miltiaue to an
increase in accounts payable and accrued expeng840 due to the timing of payments to vendors.

We generated approximately $25.0 million of nethcsm operating activities during the year ended
December 31, 2009. Our cash flows from operatioas dgriven by our positive net income of $4.0 millias
adjusted for non-cash charges such as depreciatioortization, provision for bad debts, stock-basatipensation
and bond premium amortization, and non-cash defaere expense. In addition, we experienced a $4lBm
increase over 2008 in amounts collected from custerim advance of when we recognize revenues esudt of oul
growing customer base. We also experienced, aridlibn increase in accounts receivable due to
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the timing of certain client renewal invoicing, leased sales to new and existing clients duringuinent period
offset by strong collections of receivables. At faene time, our cash flows from operations weratiegly
impacted due to a $2.9 million decrease in accopayable and accrued expenses over 2008, whiclitwzute to
the payment of accrued bonuses from prior year@came tax payments.

We generated approximately $33.0 million of nethclism operating activities during the year ended
December 31, 2008. The significant components si é@ws from operations were net income of $25ilfian,
adjusted for $13.6 million in non-cash depreciat@mortization, provision for bad debts, stdidsed compensatic
and bond premium amortization, $9.3 million in defe rent, $6.1 million increase in amounts coltedrom
customers in advance of when we recognize revesmsiasesult of our growing customer base, $2.4aniih
impairment of marketable securities, and a $343¢¥iease in other current and non-current assgdst by a
$15.4 million non-cash deferred tax benefit, $6ilionm increase in accounts receivable, and a #iilBon decrease
in accounts payable and accrued expenses.

Investing Activities

Our primary regularly recurring investing activitibave consisted of purchases of computer netwpripment
to support our Internet user panel and maintenahoer database, furniture and equipment to suppanrt
operations, purchases and sales of marketableitseguand payments related to the acquisitiorevesal
companies. As our customer base continues to expandxpect purchases of technical infrastructgrépment to
grow in absolute dollars. The extent of these itmests will be affected by our ability to expantat®nships with
existing customers, grow our customer base, inttediew digital formats and increase our internatipnesence.

We used $44.0 million of cash during the year erldedember 31, 2010 for investing activities. Weduse
$68.9 million, net of cash acquired, to purchaseSgfup, Nexius and Nedstat. In addition, we used 8llion to
purchase property and equipment to maintain andrekpur technology and infrastructure. Of this ami@424,00
was funded through landlord allowances receivembimection with our Toronto office lease. Theséhaastflows
were offset by a net $30.0 million generated fraie sind maturity of investments.

We generated $8,000 of net cash in investing aiets/during the year ended December 31, 2009. Wergtec
a net $7.8 million from sale of investments. Wedu$6.5 million to purchase property and equipmemhaintain
and expand our technology and infrastructure. @famount, $333,000 was funded through landlom@ahces
received in connection with our Seattle office &eda addition, we used $1.3 million, net of cashuared, to
purchase Certifica.

We used $64.4 million of net cash in investing\atitis during the year ended December 31, 2008u¥¢el
$44.6 million, net of cash acquired, to purchas#btrics. In addition, $14.3 million was used to ¢hase property
and equipment to maintain and expand our technamglyinfrastructure. Of this amount, $9.4 millioasxffunded
through landlord allowances received in connectwith our Chicago, Reston and San Francisco offiesés. We
also used a net $6.9 million to purchase investm&tie removed the restrictions associated wittagedertificates
of deposit that served as collateral for lettersreflit associated with office leases, and thdedl&1.4 million was
reclassified to cash and cash equivalents.

We expect to achieve greater economies of scal@p@ihting leverage as we expand our customerarake
utilize our Internet user panel and technical istinacture more efficiently. While we anticipatettitawill be
necessary for us to continue to invest in our heeuser panel, technical infrastructure and tesgiimiersonnel to
support the combination of an increased customse,lieew products, international expansion and rigitat
market intelligence formats, we believe that thesestment requirements will be less than the regegrowth
generated by these actions. This should resultomver rate of growth in our capital expenditurestipport our
technical infrastructure. In any given period, tineing of our incremental capital expenditure regments could
impact our cost of revenues, both in absolute dolad as a percentage of revenues.

Financing Activities

We used $6.1 million of cash during the year eridedember 31, 2010 for financing activities. Thislirded
$5.5 million for shares repurchased by us purstatite exercise by stock incentive plan participanittheir right
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to elect to use common stock to satisfy their téhholding obligations. In addition we used $1.7lion to make
payments on our capital lease obligations. Thesk oatflows were offset by $989,000 in proceedmftbe
exercise of our common stock options and warramissa$128,000 excess tax benefit from the exeofistock
options.

We used $1.7 million of cash during the year eridedember 31, 2009 for financing activities. Thislirded
$1.6 million for shares repurchased by us purstatite exercise by stock incentive plan participaittheir right tc
elect to use common stock to satisfy their tax oting obligations. In addition we used $1.1 moiflito make
payments on our capital lease obligations offse$@22,000 in proceeds from the exercise of our comatock
options and warrants.

We used $1.1 million of cash during the year eridedember 31, 2008 for financing activities. Thiglirded
$1.3 million for shares repurchased by us purstatite exercise by stock incentive plan participanittheir right tc
elect to use common stock to satisfy their tax otding obligations. In addition we used $900,000ntake
payments on our capital lease obligations offseésh® million in proceeds from the exercise of common stock
options and warrants.

We do not have any special purpose entities andov#t engage in off-balance sheet financing aearants.

Contractual Obligations and Known Future Cash Requiements

Set forth below is information concerning our knowamtractual obligations as of December 31, 2040 dhe
fixed and determinable.

Less Thar 35 More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
Capital lease obligatior $13,467 $ 515t $831z $ — §$ —
Operating lease obligatiol 41,75( 6,61¢ 11,08¢ 10,43: 13,61
Purchase price obligatiol 51C 51C — —
Total $55,727 $12,28! $19,39¢ $10,43! $ 13,61!

Our principal lease commitments consist of obligadi under leases for office space, computer and
telecommunications equipment and automobiles. ditiat, we financed the purchase of some of our maber
equipment and software under a capital lease agraagt over a period of approximately 36 months. luchase
obligations relate to outstanding orders to puretesmputer equipment and are typically small; thieyot
materially impact our overall liquidity. In conném with the Certifica and Nedstat acquisitions,ave obligated to
make future payments to the sellers subject toatamhs for any claims against the sellers. In addijtdue to the
uncertainty with respect to the timing of futuresicdlows associated with our unrecognized tax henaf
December 31, 2010, we are unable to make reasorelldile estimates of the period of cash settlémdth the
respective taxing authorities. Therefore, $2.4iomllof unrecognized tax benefits (as more fullyadiéged in Note 9
to the audited financial statements) have beeruded from the contractual payment obligations talbleve.

In November 2010, we increased our lease finanairangement with Banc of America Leasing & Capital,
LLC to $15.0 million. This arrangement has beeal@ghed to allow us to finance the purchase of seftware,
hardware and other computer equipment as we expamigchnology infrastructure in support of ouribass
growth. During 2010 and 2009, we utilized approxieha$9.6 million and $1.1 million, respectivelyf, this line of
credit to finance computer equipment and softw@hese leases bear an interest rate of approximaidélper
annum. The base terms for these leases range lfirem years to three and half years and includevanab charge i
the event of prepayment. The lease payments tppabaimately $3.7 million per annum. Assets acqlimader the
equipment lease secure the obligations.

In November 2010, we extended our $5.0 revolving bf credit with Bank of America, with an intereste
equal to BBA LIBOR rate plus an applicable margasdd upon certain financial ratios, through Felyr@&; 2011.
On February 25, 2011, we further extended our 85ldon revolving line of credit with Bank of Amera through
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May 31, 2011. This line of credit includes no riesive financial covenants. We maintain lettersadit in lieu of
security deposits with respect to certain officskes. During the year ended December 31, 2010lefiters of credi
were reduced by approximately $646,000. As of Ddmam31, 2010, no amounts were borrowed againdirthef
credit and $3.3 million of letters of credit wengtstanding, leaving $1.7 million available for ailshial letters of
credit or other borrowings. These letters of cretily be reduced periodically provided we meet tireditional
criteria of each related lease agreement.

Future Capital Requirements

Our ability to generate cash is subject to ourgrenfince, general economic conditions, industrydseand
other factors. To the extent that our existing caalsh equivalents, short-term investments andatipgrcash flow
are insufficient to fund our future activities aredjuirements, we may need to raise additional fumasigh public
or private equity or debt financing. If we issuaiig securities in order to raise additional funsishstantial dilution
to existing stockholders may occur.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recent accounting pronouncements are detailed i@ Rlto our Consolidated Financial Statements deduin
Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as ofilere31, 2010 and 2009.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magdnt our financial position due to adverse chatgésancial
market prices and rates. We do not hold or isswanfiial instruments for trading purposes or hayedemivative
financial instruments. To date, most payments mamker our contracts are denominated in U.S. dadladswe hav
not experienced material gains or losses as at @fstihnsactions denominated in foreign currendlesof
December 31, 2010, our cash reserves were maidtairsank deposit accounts and auction rate séewstitaling
$36.6 million. These securities, like all fixed @me instruments, are subject to interest rateanskwill decline in
value if market interest rates increase. We hagalility to hold our fixed income investments untaturity and,
therefore, we would not expect to experience anteris adverse impact in income or cash flow.

Foreign Currency Risk

A portion of our revenues and expenses from busiaperations in foreign countries are derived from
transactions denominated in currencies other tharfunctional currency of our operations in thosentries. As
such, we have exposure to adverse changes in egehates associated with revenues and operatirensgp of oL
foreign operations, in markets such as Latin Angsriand Europe, but we believe this exposure tonpeaterial at
this time. As such, we do not currently engageniy teansactions that hedge foreign currency exchaatp risk. As
we grow our international operations, our exposar®reign currency risk could become more sigaific

Interest Rate Sensitivity

As of December 31, 2010, our principal sourcescuifidlity consisted of $33.7 million of cash. Theshas held
for working capital purposes. We do not enter inteestments for trading or speculative purposesbéleve that
we do not have any material exposure to changé®ifair value as a result of changes in inter@sts: Declines in
interest rates, however, will reduce future investirincome. If overall interest rates fell by 1%idg the year
ended December 31, 2010, our interest income woaNe declined approximately $28,000, assuming sterdi
investment levels.
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Auction Rate Securities and Liquidity Risk

As of December 31, 2010, our principal sourcesqufidlity consisted of $33.7 million in cash whiapresents
cash generated from operations. As of Decembe2@l0, we held $2.8 million in long-term investmeotssisting
of four separate auction rate securities. In pyears, we invested in these auction rate secufdreshort periods of
time as part of our investment policy. However,ent&inties in the credit markets have limited duitity to
liquidate our holdings of auction rate securit&sthere have been no auctions for these secunitl0.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we sold one iunctate security, via a tender offer, and recoraeealized
gain of $89,000. The four remaining securities wezkeied using a discounted cash flow model thaadakto
consideration the financial condition of the issy¢ihe workout period, the discount rate and ofdetors. Based on
our current fair value estimate, we recorded aealimed gain of $439,000 as of December 31, 20m6.uhrealizes
gain is included in Other comprehensive income iwithe consolidated balance sheet. We are unceataia when
the liquidity issues relating to these investmevitsimprove. Accordingly, we classified these satias as long-
term on our consolidated balance sheet. If theitcratihgs of the issuer, the bond insurers orabltateral
deteriorate further, we may further adjust theyiag value of these investments.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of comSdnee

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of comScore, Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related cdasedl statements of operations and comprehensiveniz,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each efttiree years in the period ended December 31, Z0Eze
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighargio
(United States). Those standards require that e ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of malterisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢@sa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtrifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfirancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated
financial position of comScore, Inc. at DecemberZ110 and 2009, and the consolidated results afierations
and its cash flows for each of the three yearhénperiod ended December 31, 2010, in conformitiz wi
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), comScore, Inc’s. internal contradr financial reporting as of December 31, 20E3¢al on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the
Treadway Commission and our report dated Marct2@5]1 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia

March 15, 2011
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2010

2009

(In thousands, excep
share and per share data

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivale $ 33,73t $ 58,28¢
Shor-term investment — 29,83:
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $725 %61, respectivel 54,26¢ 34,92;
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 8,391 2,324
Deferred tax assi 6,701 11,05¢
Total current asse 103,09° 136,41¢
Long-term investment 2,81¢ 2,80¢
Property and equipment, r 28,631 17,30z
Other noi-current assel 733 19z
Deferred tax asset, lo-term 11,31¢ 10,057
Intangible assets, n 50,26( 8,74¢
Goodwill 86,211 42,01«
Total asset $283,07¢  $217,53¢
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 558 $ 2,00¢
Accrued expense 15,29 7,751
Deferred revenue 70,61 48,04¢
Deferred ren 941 1,231
Deferred tax liability 132 12
Capital lease obligatior 4,65¢ 36C
Total current liabilities 97,22¢ 59,40¢
Deferred rent, lor-term 8,01¢ 8,21(
Deferred tax liability, lon-term 744 11¢
Capital lease obligations, lo-term 7,95¢ 674
Other lon¢-term liabilities 3,297 1,18¢
Total liabilities 117,24° 69,60(
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shargwrized at December 31, 2010
2009; no shares issued or outstanding at Decenib&030 and 200 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 100,00GBares authorized at
December 31, 2010 and 2009; 31,523,559 and 30,885/kares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respéc 32 30
Additional paic¢-in capital 216,89! 199,27(
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 2,16¢ 324
Accumulated defici (53,267) (51,685
Total stockholdel' equity 165,83: 147,93¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $283,07¢ $217,53¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME

Revenue!

Cost of revenues (excludes amortization of intalegissets resulting
from acquisitions shown below)(

Selling and marketing(2

Research and development

General and administrative(

Amortization of intangible assets resulting frongaisitions

Total expenses from operatic

(Loss) income from operatiol

Interest income and other, r

Loss from foreign currenc

Gain from sale (impairment) of marketable secws

(Loss) income before income tax benefit (provisi
Income tax benefit (provisior

Net (loss) incomi

Net (loss) income per common she
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average number of shares used in per shhnaation —
common stock
Basic
Diluted
(1) Amortization of stock-based compensation isuided in the line
items above as follow:
Cost of revenue
Selling and marketin
Research and developm
General and administratiy
Comprehensive incom
Net (loss) incomi
Other comprehensive incorr
Foreign currency cumulative translation adjustn
Unrealized (loss) gain on marketable secur

Total comprehensive incon

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
$ 17499 $ 127,74C $ 117,37:
51,95 38,73( 34,56:
59,64: 41,95¢ 39,40(
26,37, 17,82] 14,83:
33,95 18,23: 16,78t
4,53¢ 1,457 804
176,45¢ 118,20( 106,38:
(1,459 9,54( 10,98¢

53 41C 1,862
(347) (132) (321)
— 89 (2,239

(1,759 9,907 10,291

177 (5,939 14,89t

$ (1,576 $ 3,96¢ $  25,18¢
$  (0.09 $ 0.1 $ 0.8¢
$ (0.09 $ 0.1 $ 0.8¢
31,070,01  30,014,08  28,691,21
31,070,01  30,970,64  30,232,71
$ 1,49 % 1,18 $ 861
6,217 4,617 2,611

1,86¢ 1,111 70€

8,19t 2,94: 2,29¢

$ (1,57¢) $ 3,96¢ $  25,18¢
1,847 82¢ (1,137

(5) 337 28¢

$ 26€ $ 5,13t $ 24,34

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.

70




COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Stock Treasury  Paid-In  Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholder¢
Shares Amount _ Stock Capital Income (Loss) Stockholder¢’ Equity
(In thousands, except share date

Balance at December 31, 20C 27,960,57 28 — 183,43¢ 1 (80,84() 102,62:
Net income — — — — — 25,18¢ 25,18¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — (1,139 — (1,139
Unrealized gain on marketable securities net of

tax effect of $6¢ — — — — 28¢ — 28¢
Exercise of common stock optio 611,73 1 — 97¢ — — 977
Exercise of common stock warrants, 4,02( — — 50 — — 50
Issuance of restricted stock, 1 465,01( — — — — — —
Restricted stock units vest 17,49( — — — — — —
Common stock received for tax withholdi (64,32¢) — (1,26 — — — (1,26%)
Reclassification of common stock subject to put

to common stoc 135,64( — — 1,81« — — 1,81«
Amortization of stock based compensal — — — 6,33¢ — — 6,33¢
Balance at December 31, 20C 29,130,14 29 (1,265 192,61. (842) (55,6549 134,88(
Net income — — — — — 3,96¢ 3,96¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — 82¢ — 82¢
Unrealized gain on marketable securities net

tax effect of $¢ — — — — 337 — 337
Exercise of common stock optio 420,58: — — 922 — — 922
Issuance of restricted stock, 1 949,94¢ 1 — Q) — — —
Restricted stock units vest 27,33¢ — — — — — —
Common stock received for tax withholdi (142,41) — (1,579 — — — (1,579
Treasury stock retireme — — 2,83 (2,839 — — —
Amortization of stock based compensal — — — 8,57¢ — — 8,57¢
Balance at December 31, 20C 30,38559 $ 30% — $199,27( $ 324 $ (51,68H% 147,93¢
Net loss — — — — — (1,576 (1,57¢)
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — 1,847 — 1,847
Unrealized loss on marketable securi — — — — (5) — 5)
Common stock issued in conjunction with

acquisitions 216,11" — — 3,651 — — 3,651
Exercise of common stock optio 308,11¢ — — 98¢ — — 98¢
Issuance of restricted stock, 1 992,87¢ 1 — Q) — — —
Restricted stock units vest 88,55¢ — — — — — —
Common stock received for tax withholdi (325,52¢) 1 —  (5,47Y) — — (5,472
Restricted stock cancel (142,17¢) — — — — — —
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock opt — — — 12¢ — — 12¢
Amortization of stock based compensal — — — 18,33: — — 18,33:
Balance at December 31, 201 3152355 $ 32$% — $216,89! $ 2,166 $ (53,26)$ 165,83:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands,

Operating activities

Net (loss) incom $ (1,57¢) $ 3,96¢ $ 25,18¢
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to reshcprovided by operating

activities:
Depreciatior 8,42 6,54¢ 4,97
Amortization of intangible assets resulting frongaisitions 4,53¢ 1,45 79€
Provisions for bad deb 167 29C 594
Stocl-based compensatic 17,77: 9,84¢ 6,482
Deferred tax (benefit) provisic (1,939 5,09¢ (15,386
Gain on sale (impairment) of marketable secur — (89) 2,23¢
Amortization of deferred rer (90€) (632) (12€)
Amortization of bond premiur 18¢ 61C 73C
Loss on asset dispos 13 13¢ 50
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl (15,109 (4,497 (6,58))
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (4,4972) 28 343
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and othelitlesh 2,85¢ (2,909 (1,839
Deferred revenue 15,06¢ 4,83¢ 6,124
Deferred ren 40¢ 331 9,39
Net cash provided by operating activit 25,41( 25,03: 32,98¢
Investing activities
Acquisition of business, net of cash acqui (68,880) (1,296¢) (44,639
Purchase of investmer — (50,197 (92,289
Sale and maturity of investmer 29,97¢ 57,97: 85,38¢
Purchase of property and equipm (5,119 (6,472 (14,257
Recovery of restricted ca: — — 1,38t
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (44,027 8 (64,409
Financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock opaoswarrant: 98¢ 927 1,027
Repurchase of common sta (5,472) (1,579 (1,26%)
Excess tax benefits from exercise of stock opt 12¢ — —
Principal payments on capital lease obligati (1,727) (1,064 (900
Net cash used in financing activiti (6,089) (1,715 (1,139
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 14¢ 663 (1,517)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (24,549 23,987  (34,07)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 58,28 34,29’ 68,36¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $33,73¢ $ 58,28¢ $34,29]
Supplemental cash flow disclosure
Interest paic $ 29€ % 63 $ 12z
Net income tax pai $ 1,34C $ 1,61 $ 32t
Supplemental noncash investing and financing actities
Capital lease obligations incurr $12,30¢ $ 1,121 $ —
Leasehold improvements acquired through lease fives $ 424 % 33z $ 9,397

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

comScore, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporaincorporated in August 1999, provides a digital
marketing intelligence platform that helps custosmaiake better-informed business decisions and mmgi¢ more
effective digital business strategies. The Compmpydducts and solutions offer customers insigitts gonsumer
behavior, including objective, detailed informati@mgarding usage of their online properties andehaf their
competitors, coupled with information on consumemdgraphic characteristics, attitudes, lifestyled affline
behavior.

The Company’s digital marketing intelligence platfois comprised of proprietary databases and a
computational infrastructure that measures, analgrel reports on digital activity. The foundatidriree platform is
data collected from a panel of more than two millinternet users worldwide who have granted taQbmpany
explicit permission to confidentially measure thaeiternet usage patterns, online and certain efftinying behavior
and other activities. For measuring and reportinigne audiences, comScore also supplements paoefriation
with Web site server metrics. This panel informati® complemented by a Unified Digital Measurensaitition to
digital audience measurement. Unified Digital Maagtent blends panel and server methodologies istdugion
that provides a direct linkage and reconciliati@tween server and panel measurement. By applyvanaed
statistical methodologies to the panel data, thea@amy projects consumers’ online behavior for ttaltonline
population and a wide variety of user categoridsoAwith key acquisitions, the Company has expdritieabilities
to provide its customers a more robust solutiorttiermobile medium as well as expanded its alslitieprovide its
customers with actionable information to improveitttreative and strategic messaging. Acquisitioage also
enabled the Company to expand its geographic salesage.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of the Company and its whaliyec
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transaies and accounts have been eliminated upon caoiagioln. The
Company consolidates investments where it has tadtimg financial interest. The usual conditiorr fmntrolling
financial interest is ownership of a majority oéthoting interest and, therefore, as a genera) aw@ership, directl
or indirectly, of more than 50% of the outstanduaging shares is a condition indicating consolidiatiFor
investments in variable interest entities, the Canypwould consolidate when it is determined totieegrimary
beneficiary of a variable interest entity. The Camp does not have any variable interest entities.

Within the consolidated balance sheets for the gaded December 31, 2009 $12,000 and $119,000dss b
reclassified from deferred tax asset and defear@dsset, long-term, respectively, to deferreditdoility and
deferred tax liability, long-term, respectively.salwithin the consolidated balance sheets $61%000594,000 has
been reclassified from accrued expenses and défervenues, respectively, to other long-term litied for the
year ended December 31, 2009. In addition, withendeferred tax schedule (see Note 9) $2.5 miliam beel
reclassified from deferred tax assets to defemgdiabilities for the year ended December 31, 2@0&nform with
the current year presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting prirespl
requires management to make estimates and assas et affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and
the reported amounts of revenue and expense dilménggporting periods. Significant estimates arsliagptions are
inherent in the analysis and the measurement efigef tax assets, the identification and quantificeof income
tax liabilities due to uncertain tax positions,uation of marketable securities, recoverabilityndéngible assets,
other long-lived assets and goodwill, and the aeitestion of the allowance for doubtful accountseT@ompany
bases its estimates on historical experience asuhgsions that it believes are reasonable. Acesllts could diffe
from those estimates.
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Fair Value Measurements

The Company evaluates the fair value of certaietasmd liabilities using the fair value hierarchgir value is
an exit price representing the amount that wouldelseived to sell an asset or paid to transfealality in an orderh
transaction between market participants. As swhyélue is a market-based measurement that steuld
determined based on assumptions that market gemtits would use in pricing an asset or liabilitg. @basis for
considering such assumptions, the Company appleethteetier value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputsed ir
measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 — observable inputs such as quoted prices inaatiarkets;

Level 2 — inputs other than the quoted prices in activeketa that are observable either directly or
indirectly;

Level 3 — unobservable inputs of which there is littlenormarket data, which require the Company to
develop its own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use obsérvahrket data, when available, and to minimizeube of
unobservable inputs when determining fair value.a®acurring basis, the Company measures its nadrlest
securities at fair value and determines the aptgpclassification level for each reporting peridtie Company is
required to use significant judgments to make deiermination.

The Company’s investment instruments are classfigitin Level 1 or Level 3 of the fair value hiechy.
Level 1 investment instruments are valued usingefumarket prices. Level 3 instruments are valusdgu
valuation models, primarily discounted cash flovalgmes. The types of instruments valued based otedunarket
prices in active markets include all U.S. governtreemd agency securities. Such instruments are ginefassified
within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The ggof instruments valued based on significant uaieiadble inputs
include certain illiquid auction rate securitiesicB instruments are classified within Level 3 a fhir value
hierarchy (see Note 4).

Cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivpt#paid expenses and other assets, accounts eayabl
accrued expenses, deferred revenue, deferrednérmiagital lease obligations reported in the cadatéd balance
sheets equal or approximate their respective fires.

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fdireszan a non-recurring basis include fixed assetangible
assets and goodwill. The Company recognizes thesssiat fair value when they are considered taoripaired.
During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 200& were no fair value adjustments for assetdiabitities
measured on a non-recurring basis.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly ligustments with an original maturity of three mwmor less
at the time of purchase. Cash and cash equivatentist primarily of bank deposit accounts. As etBmber 31,
2010 and 2009, the Company had amounts in ceitendial institutions that exceed the FDIC insumnoverage.

Investments, which consist principally of U.S. segy bills, U.S. treasury notes and auction rateisies, are
stated at fair value. These securities are accdunoteas available-for-sale securities. Unrealikeltling gains and
losses for available-for-sale securities are exaiuilom earnings and reported as a net amounséparate
component of stockholders’ equity until realizeéakzed gains and losses on available-for-salergesuare
included in interest income. Interest and divideodsecurities classified as available-for-saleireckided in
interest income. The Company uses the specifidifileation method to compute realized gains andésson its
investments. Realized gains and losses for thesyarated December 31, 2010 and 2009 were not nmlateria

Interest income on investments was $303,000, $86&0d $2.0 million for the years ended December 31
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoicedusnnand are non-interest bearing. The Companyrgiye
grants uncollateralized credit terms to its cust@enamd maintains an allowance for doubtful accotmtgserve for
potentially uncollectible receivables. Allowances hased on management’s judgment, which considistiarical
experience and specific knowledge of accounts woeltectability may not be probable. The Compankesa
provisions based on historical bad debt experiemspecific review of all significant outstandimydices and an
assessment of general economic conditions. Ifitl@n€ial condition of a customer deteriorates, ltggpin an
impairment of its ability to make payments, additiballowances may be required.

The following is a summary of activities in theaallance for doubtful accounts for the fiscal yeadidated:
Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Beginning Balanc $B10) $(479 $(239
Additions 167 (290 (602)
Reductions, (recoveries) and w-offs (48) 25¢ 357
Ending Balanct $(725) $(510) $(479

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net@fraalated depreciation. Property and equipmen¢getiate:
on a straight-line basis over the estimated udieies of the assets, ranging from three to fivergeAssets under
capital leases are recorded at their net presdunt & the inception of the lease and are includeke appropriate
asset category. Assets under capital leases asehleld improvements are amortized over the shoftdre related
lease terms or their useful lives. Replacementswaadr improvements are capitalized; maintenancerapairs are
charged to expense as incurred. Amortization aftaasder capital leases is included within theeegp category
on the Consolidated Statement of Operations andp@eimensive Income in which the asset is deployed.

Business Combinations

The Company recognizes all of the assets acquiadljties assumed, contractual contingencies, and
contingent consideration at their fair value ondlquisition date. Acquisition-related costs amgnized
separately from the acquisition and expensed asried. Generally, restructuring costs incurredeniquds
subsequent to the acquisition date are expensed iwberred. All subsequent changes to a valuatilmwance or
uncertain tax position that relate to the acquaaehpany and existed at the acquisition date thairdooth within
the measurement period and as a result of factsisnuinstances that existed at the acquisition degeecognized
as an adjustment to goodwill. All other changethimvaluation allowance are recognized as a reslucti increase
to income tax expense or as a direct adjustmesdditional paid-in capital as required. Acquireepiocess resear
and development is capitalized as an intangibletassd amortized over its estimated useful life.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable assets acepligind
liabilities assumed when other businesses are @xtjuihe allocation of the purchase price to intalegassets and
goodwill involves the extensive use of managemesgtsmates and assumptions, and the result ofiiteation
process can have a significant impact on futureaijrg results. The Company estimates the fairevalu
identifiable intangible assets acquired using sEwdifferent valuation approaches, including tHeeférom royalty
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

method and, income and market approaches. Thé frelie royalty method assumes that if the Compaiaynat
own the intangible asset or intellectual propettwould be willing to pay a royalty for its useh@ Company
generally uses the relief from royalty method fstiraating the value of acquired technology/methogglassets.
The income approach converts the anticipated ecamioemefits that the Company assumes will be redlfzom a
given asset into value. Under this approach, vislueeasured as the present value of anticipatedefutet cash
flows generated by an asset. The Company genersdly the income approach to value customer retdtiprassets
and noneompete agreements. The market approach comparasdiired asset to similar assets that have lwdei
The Company generally uses the income approachlte ¥rade names and brand assets.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizedratheir useful lives while goodwill is not amaed but is
evaluated for potential impairment at least aniyual comparing the fair value of a reporting unifts carrying
value including goodwill recorded by the reportingt. If the carrying value exceeds the fair valingpairment is
measured by comparing the implied fair value ofghedwill to its carrying value, and any impairmeetermined
is recorded in the current period. All of the Comya goodwill is associated with one reporting uAiccordingly,
on an annual basis the Company performs the impairmssessment for goodwill at the enterprise l&ved
Company completed its annual impairment analysisf &ctober 1st for 2009 and determined that tixxe no
impairment of goodwill. The Company completed isiaal impairment analysis as of October 1st fohexH010,
2009 and 2008 and determined that there was naiimeat of goodwill.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizethg the straight-line method over the followingefud lives:

Useful
Lives
(Yvears)
Acquired methodologies/technolo 3to 1(
Customer relationshiy 710 12
Panel 7
Intellectual propert 10
Tradename 2to 1(

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets primarily consfgtroperty and equipment and intangible assets. The
Company evaluates the recoverability of its longdi assets for impairment whenever events or clsange
circumstances indicate the carrying value of sigsdets may not be recoverable. If an indicatiomgfairment is
present, the Company compares the estimated unditezbfuture cash flows to be generated by the ts#s
carrying amount. Recoverability measurement arnichasibn of undiscounted cash flows are groupeti@idwest
level for which identifiable cash flows are largéhglependent of the cash flows of other assetdiabitities. If the
undiscounted future cash flows are less than thging amount of the asset group, the Company dxcan
impairment loss equal to the excess of the assepds carrying amount over its fair value. The fafue is
determined based on valuation techniques sucttamparison to fair values of similar assets or gisirdiscounted
cash flow analysis. Although the Company believes the carrying values of its long-lived assetsappropriately
stated, changes in strategy or market conditiorssgmificant technological developments could digantly impact
these judgments and require adjustments to reca@siget balances. There were no impairment chaegegmized
during the years ended December 31, 2010, 200208l

Lease Accounting

The Company leases its facilities and accountthfose leases as operating leases. For facility sethat
contain rent escalations or rent concession pravssithe Company records the total rent payablegltine lease
term on a straight-line basis over the term ofitfase. The Company records the difference betwe=erent paid
and the straight-line rent as a deferred rentlligthin the accompanying Consolidated Balance Shdetasehold
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

improvements funded by landlord incentives or allages are recorded as leasehold improvement asebts
deferred rent liability which is amortized as auetibn of rent expense over the term of the lease.

The Company records capital leases as an assenastdigation at an amount equal to the presenievaf the
minimum lease payments as determined at the begjrofithe lease term. Amortization of capitalizedded assets
is computed on a straight-line basis over the tefrithe lease and is included in depreciation andrtipation
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Opegatiod Comprehensive Income.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreighsdiaries is the local currency. All assets aabilities are
translated at the current exchange rate as ofrtti@ethe period, and revenues and expenses asddted at
average exchange rates in effect during the pefibd.gain or loss resulting from the process afdlaing foreign
currency financial statements into U.S. dollaneffected as foreign currency cumulative transtatdjustment and
reported as a component of Accumulated other conepmsive income.

The Company incurred foreign currency transactimsés of $347,000, $132,000, and $321,000 forehesy
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respactiMed losses are the result of transactions demeted in
currencies other than the functional currency ef@mpany’s foreign subsidiaries.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following summary sets forth the componentaaifumulated other comprehensive income, net ofrtax,
stockholders’ equity:

December 31,

2010 2009

(In thousands)
Foreign currency translation gain (lo: $1,727  $(120)
Unrealized gain on marketable securi 43¢ 444
Total accumulated other comprehensive inct $2,16€ $ 324

Operating Segment Information

The Company has concluded that it has one opersgigment based on the fact that its Chief Exec@ffieer,
who is also its chief operating decision maker ticwes to evaluate performance and make operaéngidns
based on consolidated financial data. Additiondalgre are no managers who are held accountalileetghief
operating decision maker, or anyone else, for amaijmg measure of profit or loss for any operating below the
consolidated unit level.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when the folloftingamental criteria are met: (i) persuasive evigenf
an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurrethe services have been rendered, (iii) the féas or
determinable and (iv) collection of the resultiegeivable is reasonably assured.

The Company generates revenues by providing ateélse Company’s online database or delivering
information obtained from the database, usualheform of periodic reports. Revenues are typjoatognized o
a straight-line basis over the period in which asde data or reports is provided, which generalhges from three
to 24 months.

Revenues are also generated through survey semices contracts ranging in term from two monthere
year. Survey services consist of survey and quastioe design with subsequent data collection,yamsainc
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

reporting. Revenues are recognized on a straigathasis over the estimated data collection penme the survey
guestionnaire has been delivered. Any change iestimated data collection period results in anstdjent to
revenues recognized in future periods.

Certain of the Company’s arrangements contain plalélements, consisting of either subscriptionstdtiple
online product solutions or the various services@ompany offers. Multiple element arrangementgally consist
of a subscription to the Company’s online datalmasebined with customized services. The Company has
determined there is not objective and reliable ewi of fair value for any of its services andref@re, accounts fi
all elements in multiple elements arrangementssasgle unit of accounting. Access to data understiibscription
element is generally provided shortly after thecetin of the contract. However, the initial deliy®f customized
services generally occurs subsequent to the conmeneemt of the subscription element. The Companygrizes
the entire arrangement fee over the performandegef the last deliverable. As a result, the tatahngement fee
is recognized on a straight-line basis over théogdseginning with the commencement of the lastamaized
deliverable. The Company evaluates contemporargwasgements to determine whether they should inbiced
or treated separately under the relevant accoulitergture.

Generally, contracts are non-refundable and nogedahle. In the event a portion of a contract farrdable,
revenue recognition is delayed until the refundvigions lapse. A limited number of customers héneertght to
cancel their contracts by providing a written netaf cancellation. In the event that a customecelsrits contract,
the customer is not entitled to a refund for psgervices, and will be charged for costs incurrer glervices
performed up to the cancellation date.

Advance payments are recorded as deferred revemtiéservices are delivered or obligations are avet
revenue can be recognized. Deferred revenues sapirge excess of amounts invoiced over amountgyrézed as
revenues.

On July 1, 2010, the Company completed its acqoisitf Nexius, resulting in additional revenue sms,
including software licenses, professional servigesuding software customization implementatioajriing and
consulting services), and maintenance and techsiggiort contracts. The Company’s arrangementsraigne
contain multiple elements, consisting of the vasisarvice offerings. The Company recognizes soétweense
arrangements that include significant modificatéom customization of the software in accordanck wihancial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standardsficaton (“ASC”) 985-605 Software Recognitioand
ASC 605-35Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Certandiction-Type Contractsypically using the
completed contract method. The Company currentsdmt have vendor specific objective evidence Q% for
the multiple deliverables and accounts for all edata in these arrangements as a single unit oliatiog,
recognizing the entire arrangement fee as reveneetbe service period of the last delivered elem@oring the
period of performance, billings and costs (to tkizet they are recoverable) are accumulated obdlence sheet,
but no profit or income is recorded before useeptance of the software license. To the extentneséid costs are
expected to exceed revenue the Company accruesdty immediately.

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2010diedIfi171.6 million for service arrangements and
$3.4 million for software arrangements.

Costs of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expensegead|to the operating network infrastructure ared th
recruitment, maintenance and support of consumeelpaExpenses associated with these areas initladmlaries,
stock-based compensation, benefits and relatechsgpeof network operations, survey operationspousinalytics
and technical support departments, and are expesstrdy are incurred. Cost of revenues consistspty of
expenses related to the operating network infragira and the recruitment, maintenance and suppadnsumer
panels. Expenses associated with these areaséntiadalaries, stock-based compensation, benefitselated
expenses of network operations, survey operatmrspm analytics and technical support departments.
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Cost of revenues also includes data collectionsciostthe products and operational costs assocvaitbdthe
Company’s data centers, including depreciation egpassociated with computer equipment that supfispanel
and systems, and allocated overhead, which is deethof rent and depreciation expense generategtihgral
purpose equipment and software.

Deferred contract costs represents incrementattdiasts paid to a third party and the internatco$
employees directly related to the delivery of amitthat cannot be accounted for separately fronunielivered
items for certain of the Company’s significantlystamized software sales or other long-term in rapuojects.
These costs are recognized as cost of revenuddyratger the same period that deferred revenuedsgnized as
revenues. The Company analyzes the recoverabilityese costs each reporting period.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilgatéries, stock-based compensation, benefits, é¢ssions
and bonuses paid to the direct sales force andindanalysts, as well as costs related to onlitteadfline
advertising, product management, seminars, promatimaterials, public relations, other sales andketang
programs, and allocated overhead, including redtadher facilities related costs, and depreciatidhselling and
marketing costs are expensed as they are incurred.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include newqgtrdelelopment costs, consisting primarily of delr
stock-based compensation, benefits and related tmspersonnel associated with research and dewalot
activities, and allocated overhead, including @md other facilities related costs, and depreaiatio

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist prliynairsalaries, stock-based compensation, be refits
related expenses for executive management, finaeceunting, human capital, legal, information rexlbgy and
other administrative functions, as well as profasal fees, overhead, including allocated rent ahdrdacilities
related costs, and depreciation and expenses atttor other general corporate purposes.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentrations of credit risk consignprily of
cash equivalents, investments and accounts redeivaash equivalents are held at financial instinsg.
Investments consist of fixed income and auctioae satcurities (see Note 4). With respect to accagatsivable,
credit risk is mitigated by the Company’s ongoimgdit evaluation of its customers’ financial cormatit

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 arf] 26@ customer accounted for approximately 11%4g 12
and 12%, respectively, of total revenues. As ofdbaiger 31, 2010 and 2009, no one customer accofortetbre
than 10% of accounts receivable.

Advertising Costs

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred.eftibing expense, which is included in sales ancketiang
expense, totaled $220,000, $216,000 and $298,000dq/ears ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company estimates the fair value of shmsed awards on the date of grant. The fair valsgook option:
is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pggimodel. The fair value of market-based stock aytio
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and restricted stock units is determined using atel€arlo simulation embedded in a lattice modke fair value
of restricted stock awards is based on the clogiitg of the Company’s common stock on the daigraiit. The
determination of the fair value of the Companytscktoption awards and restricted stock awardssedban a
variety of factors including, but not limited tthet Company’s common stock price, expected stode polatility
over the expected life of awards, and actual anfepted exercise behavior. Additionally, the Comphas
estimated forfeitures for share-based awards addtes of grant based on historical experienceistelil for future
expectation. The forfeiture estimate is revisedexessary if actual forfeitures differ from thesémates.

The Company issues restricted stock awards wheteateons lapse upon either the passage of tirmevise
vesting), achieving performance targets, or sonmebtoation of these restrictions. For those regtdcttock awards
with only service conditions, the Company recogsizempensation cost on a straight-line basis dveexplicit
service period. For awards with both performanak service conditions, the Company starts recoggizin
compensation cost over the remaining service pevben it is probable the performance conditior faél met. For
stock awards that contain performance or marketngsonditions, the Company excludes these awaods
diluted earnings per share computations until theingency is met as of the end of that reportiadqal.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the assdtahility method. Deferred income taxes are prodidier
temporary differences in recognizing certain incomgense and credit items for financial reporpogposes and
tax reporting purposes. Such deferred income tpsiggarily relate to the difference between theliases of assets
and liabilities and their financial reporting amésirDeferred tax assets and liabilities are measoyeapplying
enacted statutory tax rates applicable to the éuyears in which deferred tax assets or liabilidesexpected to be
settled or realized.

The Company records a valuation allowance wheatérthines, based on available positive and negative
evidence, that it is more likely than not that squoetion or all of its deferred tax assets will hetrealized. The
Company determines the realizability of its defénax assets primarily based on projections ofrtutaxable
income (exclusive of reversing temporary differenaad carryforwards). In evaluating such projejdhe
Company considers its history of profitability, tbempetitive environment, the overall outlook fbe tonline
marketing industry and general economic conditibmsddition, the Company considers the timeframer avhich
it would take to utilize the deferred tax asseterpo their expiration.

The Company recognizes tax positions using a mkedthan-not threshold based on the technicalitnef
the tax position taken. Tax positions that meetntioee-likely-than-not recognition threshold are swead at the
largest amount of tax benefits determined on a datiwe probability basis, which are more likely thaot to be
realized upon ultimate settlement in the finanstatements. The Company’s policy is to recognizer@st and
penalties related to income tax matters in incaameskpense.

Earnings Per Share

Basic net (loss) income per common share excluttiggod for potential common stock issuances and is
computed by dividing net (loss) income by the wegghaverage number of common shares outstandirtgdor
period. Diluted net (loss) income per common sheflects the potential dilution that could occusécurities or
other contracts to issue common stock were exefdseonverted into common stock.
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The following table provides a reconciliation oéthumerators and denominators used in computirig aad
diluted net (loss) income per common share:

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands, except share date

Calculation of basic and diluted net income per she :

Net (loss) incom $ (1,57¢ $ 3,96¢ % 25,18¢
Net (loss) income per common she
Basic $ 0.05) % 0.1: % 0.8¢
Diluted $ (0.0 $ 0.1z % 0.8t
Weightec-average shares outstanc-common stock, bas 31,070,01 30,014,08 28,691,21
Dilutive effect of
Options to purchase common stc — 915,02¢ 1,500,06:
Unvested restricted stock un — 32,93( 22,33}
Warrants to purchase common st — 8,60z 19,09!
Weightec-average shares outstanc-common stock, dilute 31,070,01 30,970,64 30,232,71

The dilutive effect of stock options and restricttdck units of 802,665, 81,629 and 60,086 weranubtided ir
the computation of diluted net (loss) income pangwn share for the years ended December 31, 2009, &hd
2008, respectively, as their effect would be aiititive. In addition, the dilutive effect of the ates of common
stock warrants were not included in the computatibdiluted net (loss) income per common sharesfwh of the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, as tfext efould be an-dilutive.

Recent Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Stasel&oard (“FASB”) issued a hew revenue accounting
standards updat&ultiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangementghich amends the revenue guidance under the ASC
Subtopic 605-25\ultiple Element Arrangements his update addresses how to determine whetharrangement
involving multiple deliverables contains more th@re unit of accounting and how arrangement conaiaber shall
be measured and allocated to the separate uratscofinting in the arrangement. This new guidandebetome
effective for comScore on January 1, 2011. The Gomyps currently evaluating the impact that thepigm of the
new guidance will have on its consolidated finahsiatements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued a new fair vatweanting standard updateqir Value Measurements and
Disclosures: Improving Disclosures about Fair VaMeasurement. This update requires additional disclosures
about (i) the different classes of assets andlilisi measured at fair value, (ii) the valuatieshniques and inputs
used, (iii) the activity in Level 3 fair value memsments, and (iv) the transfers between Levels and 3. This
update is effective for interim and annual reparioeriods beginning after December 15, 2009. Thagzmy
adopted this guidance during the first quarter@if®and the adoption of this guidance had no impadts
consolidated results of operations and financialamon.

3. Business Combinations

The Company uses its best estimates and assumpsanpart of the purchase price allocation protess
accurately value assets acquired and liabilitissrmgd at the business combination date, its esswsatd
assumptions are inherently uncertain and subjemtfioement. As a result, during the preliminaryghase price

81




COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

allocation period, which may be up to one year ftbmbusiness combination date, the Company records
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabibitsssimed, with the corresponding offset to goodWile Company
records adjustments to assets acquired or liaslassumed subsequent to the purchase price adlopatiod in its
operating results in the period in which the adpestts were determined. None of the goodwill is d&tle for tax
purposes.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, approxim@gf/ million of transaction related costs areudeld in
the Company’s consolidated statements of operaisrsscomponent of the Company’s general and aslrative
expenses.

Certifica

On November 11, 2009, the Company completed itsisitipn of Certifica, a leading analyst of Intetteaffic
measurement in Latin America, pursuant to the Agiesg and Plan of Acquisition dated November 11,920the
“Acquisition”). Pursuant to the Agreement and Pddu\cquisition, the Company acquired all of thestahding
common stock of Certifica in a cash transaction.

The Acquisition resulted in goodwill of approximigt&1.9 million at the date of acquisition. This @nmt
represents the residual amount of the total puechése after allocation to net assets and indabté# intangible
assets acquired. Included in the total net asseisr@d was approximately $679,000 in liabilitietated to uncerta
tax positions. The amount recorded for goodwittassistent with the Company’s intentions for thquasition of
Certifica. The Company acquired Certifica to stteg its presence in the Latin America region amabée the
Company to offer hybrid measurement as part dfleglia Metrix 360 initiative using the same
state-of-the-art measurement technologies the Coynpses elsewhere in the world.

Definite-lived intangible assets of $1.2 millionnsist of the value assigned to Certifica’s customer
relationships, trade name and its core technolép46,000, $157,000 and $51,000 respectively. udedul lives
range from two to seven years (see Note 2).

The Company has finalized its purchase accountingértifica. The Company has included the financia
results of Certifica in its consolidated financiéhtements beginning November 11, 2009. Includedvienue for th
year ended December 31, 2010 was $2.9 millionadltd Certifica

ARSqgroup

On February 19, 2010, the Company completed itaiaitipn of ARSgroup (“ARS”), a leading technology-
driven market research firm that measures the psisn of advertising on TV and multi-media platfetrpursuant
to the Agreement and Plan of Acquisition dated Eaty 10, 2010, (the “ARS Acquisition”). Pursuanthe
Agreement and Plan of Acquisition, the Company aeglall of the outstanding common stock of AR%iicash
transaction.

The ARS Acquisition resulted in goodwill of apprmately $8.1 million at the date of acquisition. §himount
represents the residual amount of the total puecpase of $17.7 million after allocation to netets and
indentifiable intangible assets acquired. The arhoecorded for goodwill is consistent with the Canp's
intentions for the acquisition of ARS. The Compacguired ARS to provide it with technology-drivemiet
research capabilities for measuring the effectisseraf advertising creative content. The additioeaburces will
allow the Company to create new products and tmoldesigning and measuring more effective adviegisn TV,
online, and cross media campaigns.

Definite-lived intangible assets of $9.5 millionnsist of the value assigned to ARS’s methodology an
database, customer relationships and trade na®é bimillion, $4.1 million and $1.3 million, resgaely. The
useful lives range from two to ten years (see Nte
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ARS made an Internal Revenue Code section 338(hg{&6tion with respect to the acquisition tranigact
With such an election, the Company has fair markbte basis in the ARS assets and liabilities fithbncome tax
and financial reporting purposes and no openingrded tax balances. The Company is in the prodesgatuating
other tax related items. The Company has inclubdedibancial results of ARS in its consolidatedaficial
statements beginning February 19, 2010. Includedvanue for the year ended December 31, 2010
was$18.1 million related to ARS.

Nexius, Inc.

On July 1, 2010, the Company completed its acqoisitf Nexius, a leading a provider of carrier-gradobile
network analysis and intelligence solutions, punsta a Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 1, 26&0Nexius
Acquisition”).

The aggregate amount of the consideration paith&yCompany upon the closing of the transaction was
$20.9 million, of which approximately $3.0 milliomas paid in cash to satisfy certain of Nexius'sgng debt
obligations. Following payment of transaction exges) the remaining estimated merger considerafion o
$15.3 million in cash and an aggregate of 158,0i&0es of the Company’s common stock valued at $@l&n
was paid to the Nexius shareholders and holdecsrtdin Nexius equity rights.

The Nexius Acquisition resulted in goodwill of apgimately $14.0 million at the date of acquisitidiis
amount represents the residual amount of the potahase price after allocation to net assets rmaehitifiable
intangible assets acquired. The amount recordegdodwill is consistent with the Company’s intensdor the
acquisition of Nexius. The Company acquired Nexausolidify it as a leader in the mobile category.

Definite-lived intangible assets of $17.1 millioonsist of the value assigned to Nex&uisustomer relationshij
core technology and trade name of $14.5 million6$dillion and $1.0 million respectively. The uskfues range
from two to twelve years (see Note 2).

The Company is in the process of evaluating thaniogebalance sheet liabilities and other tax reldtiems and
may continue to adjust the preliminary purchasegailocation after obtaining more information abasset
valuations and liabilities assumed. The Companyimaeded the financial results of Nexius in itsisolidated
financial statements beginning July 1, 2010. Inetich revenue for the year ended December 31, Wa%0
$3.4 million related to Nexius.
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The preliminary purchase price is allocated a®fedl (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalel $ 4
Accounts receivabl 484
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 57
Deferred tax asst 1,172
Property and equipme 29C
Accounts payabl (1,375
Other accrued liabilitie (469
Deferred revenu (3,399
Deferred tax liability, lon-term (6,195
Other lon¢-term liabilities (776
Net tangible liabilities acquire (20,197
Definite-lived intangible assets acquir 17,05(
Goodwill 14,03¢
Total estimated purchase pri $ 20,88¢

In connection with the preliminary purchase pritecation, the estimated fair value of the defemedenue
assumed from Nexius in connection with the Nexigguisition was determined utilizing a cost buildagproach.
The present value of the sum of the costs and tipgnarofit approximates the amount that the Comypaauld be
required to pay a third party to assume the ohbgat The estimated costs to fulfill the obligativare based on the
historical direct costs related to providing thevges.

Nedstat B.V.

On August 31, 2010, the Company completed its aitipra of Nedstat, a leading provider of technoldiggt
helps web sites, particularly publishers and vidempanies, analyze the behavior of their users potherful
analytic tools, pursuant to the Stock Purchase égent dated August 31, 2010 (the “Nedstat Acquisi)i

The aggregate amount of the consideration paith&yCompany upon the closing of the transaction was
approximately $34.4 million in cash and an aggre@t58,045 shares of the Company’s common stoktledaat
$1.1 million was issued to two key shareholderbledstat.

The Nedstat Acquisition resulted in goodwill of amgmately $21.0 million at the date of acquisitidrnis
amount represents the residual amount of the potahase price after allocation to net assets raghehitifiable
intangible assets acquired. The amount recordegdodwill is consistent with the Company’s intensdor the
acquisition of Nedstat. The Company acquired Nedsthelp transform the Company into a broad béBégital
Business Analytics company” and solidify its UnifiBigital Measurement (“UDM”) platform.

Definite-lived intangible assets of $18.7 millioansist of the value assigned to Nedstat’s customer
relationships, core technology and trade name 6{3tillion, $1.9 million and $1.5 million, respeatly. The
useful lives range from two to seven years (see 2t

The Company is in the process of evaluating theniopebalance sheet liabilities and other tax reldtems and
may continue to adjust the preliminary purchasegailocation after obtaining more information abasset
valuations and liabilities assumed. The Companyimasded the financial results of Nedstat in isolidated
financial statements beginning September 1, 2Gidudled in revenue for the year ended Decembe2@lQ was
$3.6 million related to Nedstat.
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The preliminary purchase price is allocated a®fedl (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalel $ 622
Accounts receivabl 2,70¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 177
Property and equipme 2,27¢
Other long term asse 224
Accounts payabl (890
Deferred revenu (5,439
Deferred tax liability (160
Deferred tax liability, lon-term (5849)
Other accrued liabilitie (3,137)
Net tangible assets acquir (4,195
Definite-lived intangible assets acquir 18,66¢
Goodwill 21,01¢
Total estimated purchase pri $35,49:

In connection with the preliminary purchase pritecation, the estimated fair value of the defemedenue
assumed from Nedstat in connection with the Nedstguisition was determined utilizing a cost build-approach.
The cost build-umpproach determines fair value by estimating tretsoeelating to fulfilling the assumed contrac
obligations plus a market profit margin. The préseue of the sum of the costs and operating papfproximates
the amount that the Company would be required yogptird party to assume the obligations. Thewestiéd costs 1
fulfill the obligation were based on the historid#lect costs related to providing the services.

Pro Forma Adjusted Summary

The results of Nexius and Nedstat's operations l@es included in the Consolidated Financial Statém
subsequent to the acquisition dates.

The unaudited financial information provided belswmmarizes the combined results of operationseof th
Company and Nexius and Nedstat on a pro forma Jesihiough the companies had been combined has of t
beginning of the periods presented. The unauditedgsma adjusted summary combines the historiesults for
the Company for the periods presented with theticsl results for Nexius and Nedstat for those saeriods. The
pro forma financial information is presented fdoiormational purposes only and does not purporetidicative of
the Company’s financial position or results of @iems, would actually have been had such trarmsactieen
completed as of the beginning of the periods pteskmr of the financial position or results of céons that may
be obtained in the future.

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share dati
Revenue: $ 185,77¢ $ 151,49(
Net loss $ (10,159 $ (5,629
Basic loss per share to common stockhol $ (0.39 $ (0.20
Diluted loss per share to common stockhol $ (0.39 $ (0.20)

For pro forma adjusted summary purposes, the fiahimpacts of Certifica and ARS were not inclugedthey
were not significant individually or in the aggréga
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4. Investments and Fair Value Measurement:

As of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 200G tmepany had $2.8 million in long-term investments
consisting of four separate auction rate secunitiés a par value of $4.3 million.

Auction rate securities are generally logm debt instruments that were intended to proligedity through :
Dutch auction process that resets the applicabdedst rate at pre-determined calendar intervalselly every
28 days. This mechanism typically allows existingeistors to rollover their holdings and to contiboi®wn their
respective securities or liquidate their holdingssblling their securities at par value. These gges often are
insured against loss of principal and interest twycbinsurers. In prior years, the Company investdtese
securities for short periods of time as part ofriteestment policy. However, since 2007, the uraieties in the
credit markets have limited the ability of the Camnp to liquidate its holdings of certain auctioteraecurities
because the amount of securities submitted fortsse=xceeded the amount of purchase orders. Angbrdthe
Company continues to hold these long-term secaréi@ is due interest at a higher rate than siredaurities for
which auctions have cleared. The four remainingisées were valued using a discounted cash flowlehthat
takes into consideration the financial conditiorited issuers, the workout period, the discountaatother factors.

The Company is unsure as to when the liquiditydsselating to these investments will improve. Adaagly,
the Company classified these securities asauorent as of December 31, 2010 and December 3B, 20the credi
ratings of the issuers, the bond insurers or thiateval deteriorate further, the Company may fertadjust the
carrying value of these investments.

Marketable securities, including the fair valuerhrehy, which are classified as available-for-sate,
summarized below (in thousands).

Classification on Balance

Gross Aggregate Sheet
Amortized Unrealized Fair Short-Term Long-Term
Cost Gain (Loss Value Investments Investments
As of December 31, 201
Auction rate securities (Level : 2,38( 43¢ 2,81¢ — 2,81¢
$ 2,380 % 43¢ $ 2,81¢ $ — $ 2.8i¢

Classification on Balance

Gross Aggregate Sheet
Amortized Unrealized Fair Short-Term Long-Term
Cost Gain Value Investments Investments
As of December 31, 200
U.S. treasury notes (Level $29,81( $ 23 $29,83: $ 29,83 $ —
Auction rate securities (Level : 2,38( 42¢ 2,80¢ 2,80¢

$32,19C $ 45z $3264: $ 29,83 $ 2,80¢

There were no gross unrealized losses relatedatitable-for-sale securities as of December 31, 201d
December 31, 2009.

Cash equivalents have original maturity dates ifeimonths or less. All investments, excluding ianatate
securities, have original maturity dates betweeaemonths and two years. Auction rate securitie® loriginal
maturity dates in excess of fifteen years.
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The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances for the major etasé
assets measured at fair value using significanbseiwvable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):

Long-term
Investments
Balance on December 31, 2C $ 2,80¢
Unrealized gains included in other comprehensicerime 10
Balance on December 31, 2C $ 2,81¢

5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, including equipment undeital lease obligations, consists of the following

December 31

2010 2009
(In thousands)

Computer equipmet $26,03: $14,32]
Computer softwar 9,56¢ 5,26%
Office equipment and furnitui 3,611 3,272
Automobiles 1,21(C —
Leasehold improvemen 9,94( 8,82¢

50,35¢ 31,68¢
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (21,727) (14,387

$28,63. $17,30:

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 ompany capitalized $424,000 and $333,000,
respectively, of leasehold improvements, furnitame fixtures and office equipment associated veatidlord
allowances received in connection with its Toroaal Seattle office leases (see Note 8).

Property, equipment and automobiles financed thiaapital lease obligations totaled $8.3 million fo
hardware, $3.9 million for software and $1.2 millifor automobiles at December 31, 2010. At DecerBlte2009,
$950,000 was financed through capital leases fitwace. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, accumulated
depreciation related to property and equipmentidea through capital leases totaled $1.8 millioth $54,000,
respectively. The capital lease associated with 88llion of assets expired and ownership transfto the
Company during the fourth quarter of 2009.

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 art] i@l depreciation expense was $8.4 million,
$6.5 million and $5.0 million, respectively.
6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The change in the carrying value of goodwill foe trear ended December 31, 2010 is as follows @ngands

Balance as of December 31, 2( $42,01+
Acquisitions 43,39¢
Translation adjustmen 80%

Balance as of December 31, 2( $86,217
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Certain of the Company’s intangible assets arerdszbin Euros, British Pounds and the local curiesof our
South American subsidiaries, and therefore, theggecarrying amount and accumulated amortizatios@ngect to
foreign currency translation adjustments. The d¢agyalues of the Company’s amortized acquiredigifale assets
are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated  Carrying Carrying Accumulated  Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Tradenamt $ 4,06¢ $ (581) $ 348 $ 16t $ 14 $ 151
Customer relationshiy 38,47: (3,140 35,33 4,00( (709 3,291
Acquired methodologies/ technolo 10,157 (1,639 8,52¢ 2,47¢ (599) 1,88(
Intellectual propert 2,561 (662) 1,89¢ 2,56¢ (407) 2,161
Panel 1,61¢F (597) 1,01¢ 1,76 (502) 1,262

$56,87: $ (6,619 $50,26( $10,97F $ (2,230 $8,74F

Amortization expense related to intangible asseis approximately $4.5 million, $1.5 million and #8000 for
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2&§}&ctively.

The weighted average remaining amortization pebpdajor asset class as of December 31, 2010, is as
follows:

(In years)
Tradenamt 4.9
Acquired methodologies/technolo 6.5
Customer relationshiy 8.4
Panel 4.4
Intellectual propert 7.4

The estimated future amortization of acquired igthle assets as of December 31, 2010 is as follows:

(In thousands’

2011 $ 7,84:
2012 7,50(
2013 6,89¢
2014 6,85z
2015 5,91¢
Thereaftel 15,25t

$ 50,26(
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7. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2010 2009
(In thousands)
Accrued payroll and relate $ 4,411 $1,51¢
Accrued stoc-based compensatic 1,09¢ 1,65¢
Accrued income, sales and other ta 3,21: 1,371
Accrued professional fee 1,07z 96&
Other 5,50¢ 2,231

$15,29° $7,751

8. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

In November 2010, the Company increased its ldaaading arrangement with Banc of America Leasing &
Capital, LLC to $15.0 million. This arrangement vestablished to allow the Company to lease newvsoé,
hardware and other computer equipment as it expgtechnology infrastructure in support of itsslmess growth.

In addition to equipment financed through capi¢aldes, the Company is obligated under various moetable
operating leases for office facilities and equipm@&hese leases generally provide for renewal aptaind escalatic
increases. Future minimum payments under noncarledase agreements with initial terms of one yeanore
are as follows:

December 31, 201!

Capital Operating
Leases Leases
(In thousands)
2011 $ 5158 $ 6,61¢
2012 4,80¢ 5,98(
2013 3,50¢ 5,10¢
2014 — 5,18¢
2015 — 5,24¢
Thereafte — 13,61:
Total minimum lease paymer 13,467 $41,75(
Less amount representing inter (849
Present value of net minimum lease paym 12,61¢
Less current portio (4,659)
Capital lease obligations, lo-term $ 7,95¢

Total rent expense, under non-cancellable operdages, was $5.6 million, $4.9 million and $4.Uiom for
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 28§)8:ctively. During the year ended December 318 2@
Company agreed with two landlords for the earlynieation of their respective office leases. In aeetion with
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these terminations, the Company paid $262,000. &hisunt is included in expenses from operatiortkén
consolidated statement of operations and compraleimsome for the year ended December 31, 2008.

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 200 ,ompany recorded $424,000 and $333,000,
respectively, of deferred rent and capitalized @@sa® a result of landlord allowances in conneatith its Toronto
and Seattle office leases, respectively. The dederent will be applied to rent expense recogniaethe Company
over the lease terms.

Contingencies

On November 30, 2010, the Company extended itsi8lidn revolving line of credit with Bank of Améara,
with an interest rate equal to BBA LIBOR rate pausapplicable margin based upon certain finanet#s, through
February 28, 2011. On February 25, 2011, the Compather extended its $5.0 million revolving liné credit
with Bank of America through May 31, 2011. Thisdiaf credit includes no restrictive financial coaats. The
Company maintains letters of credit in lieu of s@guleposits with respect to certain office leadgring the year
ended December 31, 2010, five letters of credieweduced by approximately $646,000. As of Decer3hef010,
no amounts were borrowed against the line of ceetit$3.3 million of letters of credit were outstary, leaving
$1.7 million available for additional letters ofedlit or other borrowings. These letters of crediyrbe reduced
periodically provided the Company meets the coaddl criteria of each related lease agreement.

The Company has no asserted claims as of Decerfib2030, but is from time to time exposed to undsede
potential claims encountered in the normal coufdmusiness. Although the outcome of any legal pedaggs cannt
be predicted with certainty, management believasttte final resolution of these matters will naterially affect
the Company'’s consolidated financial position @utts of operations.

9. Income Taxes

The components of (loss) income before incomedaxiie years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and&@08
as follows:

2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)
Domestic $3,67F $12,33. $10,90¢
Foreign (5,42¢) (2,429 (615)

$(1,759 $ 9,907 $10,29]
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Income tax benefit (expense) is comprised of thievidng:

Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Current:
Federa $ (341) $ (457 $ (28
State (267) (24€) (74
Foreign (1,15§) (139 (127)
Total (1,760) (842 (486)
Deferred:
Federa (65€) (4,744 13,10¢
State (147 (285) 1,671
Foreign 2,73¢ (67) 601
Total 1,93 (5,09¢6) 15,38:
Income tax benefit (expens $ 177 $(5,93¢) $14,89¢

A reconciliation of the statutory United Statesdme tax rate to the effective income tax rate iHhsws:

Year Ended December 31
2010 2009 2008

Statutory federal tax ra 35.(% 35.% 35.(%
State taxes, net of federal ben (15.00 3.t 4.4
Nondeductible item (35.2) 8.2 4.5
Foreign rate difference (40.7) 2.C 1.6
Change in statutory tax rat — — 6.3
Change in valuation allowan: 139.( 6. (196.%)
Stock compensation shortfa (8.9 7.7 —
True-upsand other adjustmen (31.6) (1.0 —
Tax credits — 3.2 —
Foreign tax withholding (11.0 — —
Uncertain tax position (11.5) 0. —
Effective tax rate 10.1% 59.¢% (144.7)%

The Company recognized income tax benefit of apprately $177,000 during the year ended December 31,
2010, which is comprised of current tax expens®6®2,000 related to federal alternative minimumaag state
income tax liabilities and $1.2 million of foreigmcome tax expense, and deferred tax benefit ofceqapately
$1.9 million related primarily to the reductiontime deferred tax asset valuation allowance.

The Company recognized income tax expense of appadely $5.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2009, which is comprised of currenetgpense of $703,000 related to federal alteraatiinimum
tax and state income tax liabilities and $139,0Df@i®ign income tax expense, and deferred tax mspef
approximately $5.1 million related primarily to th#lization of net operating losses during theryea

The Company recognized an income tax benefit ofapmately $14.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2008, primarily due to the recordihg meduction in the deferred tax asset valuatimwance of
approximately $20.4 million offset by current taxpense of $486,000 related to federal alternatiemum tax
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expense and state and foreign income taxes anféaatbtax expense of approximately $5.0 milliokated
primarily to the utilization of net operating lossguring the year.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying amotfiassets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposegahe amounts used for income tax reporting purpdSignificant
components of the Company’s net deferred incomestaxe as follows:

December 31
2010 2009
(In thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $18,71¢  $18,99:
Tax credits 1,497 1,30¢
Accrued salaries and benel 3432 45
Deferred revenue 503 1,142
Capital lease 3,63¢ 40€
Deferred compensatic 4,36¢€ 2,752
Deferred ren 3,38¢ 3,751
Other 1,91¢ 90&
Gross deferred tax ass 34,36¢ 29,30(
Valuation allowanct (1,0279) (3,550
Net deferred tax asse 33,34: 25,75(
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangibles asse (10,709 (2,256
Property and equipme (4,839 (2,429
Prepaid maintenanc (44%) (67)
Other (20¢) (22)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (16,19¢) (4,76¢)
Net deferred tax ass $17,14¢  $20,98:

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company bhhation allowances of $1.0 million and $3.6 mitijo
respectively, against certain deferred tax assétich consisted primarily of net operating lossrgirwards.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company concludeditias more likely than not that a substantialtiporof
its UK deferred tax assets would be realized anerdgned that it was appropriate to release theeswaluation
allowance of $2.8 million in the fourth quarter.rivaking that determination, the Company considéred
profitability of the UK entity achieved in 2010 apdor years, coupled with the timing of the re\aisf taxable
temporary differences and the forecasted profitgbil future years. The Company also concluded ithaas not
more likely than not that a substantial portiontefdeferred tax assets in certain other foreigisglictions would be
realized and that an increase to the valuationalfte was necessary. In making that determinatienCompany
considered the losses incurred in these foreigsdietions during 2010, the current overall ecoroamvironment,
and the uncertainty regarding the profitabilityceftain foreign operations currently in startplase. As a result, t
Company recorded an increase in the deferred &ot aaluation allowance of approximately $326,000.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company concludedithats not more likely than not that a substargi@tion
of its deferred tax assets in certain foreign flidsons would be realized and that an increaghenvaluation
allowance was necessary. In making that deternginathe Company considered the losses incurrduesetforeign
jurisdictions during 2009, the current overall emmic environment, and the uncertainty regarc
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the profitability of the acquired Certifica busise#s a result, the Company recorded an increaseideferred tax
asset valuation allowance of approximately $719,000

The valuation allowance as of December 31, 201R1d) million relates to the deferred tax assettiervalue
of the auction rate securities and the deferrecsmets of the foreign subsidiaries primarily redrating loss
carryforwards that are in their start-up phasesthcextent the Company determines that, basedeoweight of
available evidence, all or a portion of its valoatallowance is no longer necessary, the Compalhyegbgnize an
income tax benefit in the period such determinaisomade for the reversal of the valuation alloveant
management determines that, based on the weigiviailible evidence, it is more-likely-than-not thiitor a
portion of the net deferred tax assets will notdmized, the Company may recognize income taxres@ the
period such determination is made to increase dghgation allowance. It is possible that any suctuotion of or
addition to the Company’s valuation allowance mayeha material impact on the Company’s results from
operations.

The following is a summary of activities in the defd tax asset valuation allowance for the figeaks
indicated:

December 31

2010 2009
Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance
Beginning Balanc $(3,550)  $(2,83))
Additions (32¢6) (910)
Reductions 2,84¢ 191
Ending Balanct $(1,027)  $(3,550

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had federhktate net operating loss carryforwards for tasppses
of approximately $51.9 million and $37.3 milliomspectively. As of December 31, 2009, the Compauyfaderal
and state net operating loss carryforwards foptaposes of approximately $52.9 million and $39ilfion,
respectively. These net operating loss carryforedehin to expire in 2022 for federal income tarppsges and
begin to expire in 2016 for state income tax puego#t December 31, 2010, the Company had an aaigregt
operating loss carryforward for tax purposes relateits foreign subsidiaries of $27.5 million, whibegins to
expire in 2011. In addition, at December 31, 2@48,Company had alternative minimum tax creditydarwards o
$1.2 million which can be carried forward indefalit and research & development credit carryforwanfd®701,00(
which begin to expire in 2025.

The exercise of certain stock options and the ngsif certain restricted stock awards during theryended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 generated income taixctleds equal to the excess of the fair marketevaler the
exercise price or grant date fair value, as applicarhe Company will not recognize a deferredasset with
respect to the excess of tax over book stock cosgtem deductions until the tax deductions actuatjuce our
current taxes payable. As such, the Company hasootded a deferred tax asset in the accompafiyiagcial
statements related to the additional net operédtisges generated from the windfall tax deducti@s®eated with
the exercise of these stock options and the vesfitige restricted stock awards. If and when wkzetihese net
operating losses to reduce income taxes payaldéaxhbenefit will be recorded as an increase ditamal paid-in
capital. As of December 31, 2010 and December @29 2the cumulative amounts of net operating losslasing tc
such option exercises and vesting events that beee included in the gross net operating loss fakmards above
are $16.6 million and $11.0 million, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2@0&in stock options were exercised and certanesh
related to restricted stock awards vested at tivtesn the Company’s stock price was substantiallyelathan the
fair value of those shares at the time of grantaAssult, the income tax deduction related to shelres is less than
the expense previously recognized for book purpdaesh shortfalls reduce additional paid-in cagitethe extent
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relevant windfall tax benefits have been previouslyognized. However, as mentioned above, the Coynipas not
yet recognized these windfall tax benefits becdlusdax benefits have not resulted in a reductfccuaent taxe:
payable. Therefore, the impact of the shortfaltaliog $944,000 and $785,000, respectively, hawnldecluded in
income tax expense for the years ended Decemb@030,and 2009. Looking forward, we expect our medax
provisions for future reporting periods will be iagied by these stock compensation tax deductiorfate We
cannot predict the stock compensation shortfalldiotfpecause of dependency upon future market peidermance
of our stock.

Under the provisions of Internal Revenue Code 8e@B2, certain substantial changes in the Comgany’
ownership may result in a limitation on the amooint).S. net operating loss carryforwards that cddditilized
annually to offset future taxable income and tgpa@gable. A portion of the Company’s net operatvgs|
carryforwards are subject to an annual limitatioder Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. @ieadl expect
that this limitation will impact our ability to dtze all of our net operating losses prior to theipiration.
Additionally, despite the net operating loss carryfards, the Company may have a future tax lighdlite to
alternative minimum tax, foreign tax or state taguirements.

The Company intends to indefinitely reinvest thdiatributed earnings from its foreign subsidiarigs.of
December 31, 2010, the Company has not recordedri¢@ne tax expense related to undistributed goreiarning
of approximately $1.7 million.

For uncertain tax positions, the Company uses a&#ilzly-than not recognition threshold based an th
technical merits of the tax position taken. Taxifimss that meet the more-likely-than-not recogmitthreshold are
measured as the largest amount of tax benefitsrdigied on a cumulative probability basis, which arare likely
than not to be realized upon ultimate settlemetiénfinancial statements. As a result, the Compreasy
unrecognized tax benefits, which are tax beneditsted to uncertain tax positions which have beenilbbe
reflected in income tax filings that have not beerognized in the financial statements due to piatleadjustments
by taxing authorities in the applicable jurisdictso As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, thepaosnhad
unrecognized tax benefits of $2.4 million, $1.2limil and $240 thousand, respectively, all of whigbuld affect th
Companys tax rate if recognized. The Company anticipatas@approximately $55,000 of unrecognized tax bt
will reverse during the next year due to the filofgelated tax returns and the expiration of degtwf limitation.
The net increase in the liability for unrecognizecbme tax benefits since the date of adoptionlteddrom the
following:

December 31,

2010 2009 2008

(In thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits beginning bala $1,19¢ $ 24C $ 71
Increase related to tax positions of prior ye 121 29 16¢
Increase related to acquired tax positions recotigiexigh purchase accounti 997 864 —
Increase related to tax positions of the curreat 60 65 —
Unrecognized tax benefits ending bala 2,37¢ 1,19¢ 24C

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiessrbtatincome tax matters in income tax expenseafAs
December 31, 2010, the amount of accrued interespanalties on unrecognized tax benefits was $DD1As of
December 31, 2009, the amount of accrued intergEnse on unrecognized tax benefits was $489,009. T
Company or one of its subsidiaries files incomert&inrns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and vas states and
foreign jurisdictions. For income tax returns fileg the Company, the Company is no longer subgett.6. federal
examinations by tax authorities for years befor@720r state and local tax examinations by tax aittbs for years
before 2006, although tax attribute carryforwardeearated prior to these years may still be adjuspech
examination by tax authorities.
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10. Stockholders Equity
1999 Stock Option Plan and 2007 Equity IncentiveaRI

Prior to the effective date of the registratiortestaent for the Company’s initial public offering?O”) on
June 26, 2007, eligible employees and non-employees awarded options to purchase shares of thep@uyis
common stock, restricted stock or restricted stotiks pursuant to the Company’s 1999 Stock Plam ‘{18999
Plan™). Upon the effective date of the registratsdatement of the Company’s IPO, the Company ceasied the
1999 Plan for the issuance of new equity awardendpe closing of the Company’s IPO on July 2, 2068
Company established its 2007 Equity Incentive Piae “2007 Plan” and together with the 1999 Plae, PPlans”).
The 1999 Plan will continue to govern the terms emaditions of outstanding awards granted thereyrulg no
further shares are authorized for new awards utih@et 999 Plan. As of December 31, 2010 and DeceBihe2009
the Plans provided for the issuance of a maximuappfoximately 7.8 million shares and 6.6 millidraees,
respectively, of common stock. In addition, the 2@80an provides for annual increases in the nurabshares
available for issuance thereunder on the firstafagach fiscal year beginning with the 2008 fisczdr, equal to the
lesser of: (i) 4% of the outstanding shares ofGbenpany’s common stock on the last day of the imately
preceding fiscal year; (ii) 1,800,000 shares; iy guch other amount as the Company’s board @fotirs may
determine. The vesting period of options grantedeuthe Plans is determined by the Board of Dimsctalthough,
for service-based options the vesting has histllyibeen generally ratably over a four-year periogtions
generally expire 10 years from the date of the gfaffective January 1, 2010, the shares availtdlgrant
increased 1,215,423 pursuant to the automatic shaegve increase provision under the Plans. Adegiyd as of
December 31, 2010, a total of 1,477,716 shares swaitable for future grant under the 2007 Plan.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock opdiwards using the Black-Scholes option-pricingrfolia
and a single option award approach. The Companydhwrtizes the fair value of awards expected & op a
ratable straight-line basis over the requisiteiserperiods of the awards, which is generally teeqa from the
grant date to the end of the vesting period.

On May 4, 2010, the Compensation Committee of them@any’s Board of Directors awarded on May 4, 2010,
a total of 1,043,045 stock options to the Compathyen employed named executive officers. Thes@pptare
subject to market-based vesting, whereby 100%e§ktares subject to option will vest in the evkat the
Company’s common stock closing price as reportetheyNASDAQ Global Market exceeds an average of (%30
share for a consecutive thirty-day period prioMay 4, 2012 (the “Trigger”). 50% of the shares sabfo the
options will vest upon achievement of the Trigged ¢ghe remaining 50% of the shares subject to ftiems will
vest on the one year anniversary of the achieveofahe Trigger, subject to the named executiviceffs
continued status as a service provider of the Compaough such dates. Stobksed compensation expense foi
year ended December 31, 2010 included $3.6 mitkiteied to the mark-based stock options.

In July 2010, the Compensation Committee of the @amy’s Board of Directors authorized the accelerate
vesting of certain shares of restricted stock astricted stock units. The acceleration of 63,6¥a@es occurred on
July 30, 2010 with a second tranche acceleratedasember 15, 2010 for approximately 63,000 sh&B&sck-
based compensation expense for the year ended bec&t, 2010 included approximately $1.4 millioreda the
accelerated vesting.

On October 25, 2010, the Compensation Committébkeo€ompany’s Board of Directors awarded on
November 15, 2010, a total of 93,253 restrictedlstmits to the members of the Comp’s executive management
team other than the named executive officers. Thestected stock units are subject to market-bassting,
whereby 100% of the shares will vest in the evieat the Compang common stock closing price as reported by
NASDAQ Global Market exceeds an average of $3Gspare for a consecutithirty-day period prior to May 4,
2012 (the “Trigger”). 50% of the shares subjedhi® options will vest upon achievement of the Teigand the
remaining 50% of the shares subject to the optidhvest on the one year anniversary of the ackmeent of the
Trigger, subject to the employee’s continued statua service provider of the Company
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through such dates. Stock-based compensation expenthe year ended December 31, 2010 includeé,$00
related to the market-based restricted stock units.

The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl in valuing the stock options granted duriregytbar
ended December 31, 2010 and a discussion of thep@uyrs assumptions. No stock options were issuedglthe
year ended December 31, 20

Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2008
(In thousands)
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(%
Expected volatility 67.7% 60.0(%
Risk-free interest rat 29(% 2.9%
Expected life of options (in year 2.0C 4.0C

Dividend yield —The Company has never declared or paid dividendss@ommon stock and has no plans to
pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

Expected volatility —Volatility is a measure of the amount by whichrsaficial variable such as a share price
has fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expedtto fluctuate (expected volatility) during a jpeki The expected
volatility is calculated based on the weekly clgsprice volatility of the Company’s common stock foe period
from its initial public offering until the grant ta

Risk-free interest rate -Fhe Company used rates on the grant date of zerpecogovernment bonds with
maturities over periods covering the term of theals, converted to continuously compounded forwareks.

Expected life of the options Fhis is the period of time that the options grardesl expected to remain
outstanding.

The weighted average grant date fair value of ogtgranted during the years ended December 31,&810
2008 was $18.21 and $19.34, respectively, no optizere granted during the years ended Decemb@089, The
total fair value of shares vested during the yeaded December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $826086,000
and $853,000, respectively.
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A summary of the Plans is presented below:

Number of Weighted-Average

Shares Exercise Price
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 2,039,43 2.01
Options grante: 51,90¢ 6.24
Options exercise 611,73: 1.6C
Options forfeitec 24,58¢ 5.62
Options expire( 1,65( 9.5E
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 1,453,37! 2.2¢
Options grante: — —
Options exercise 420,58: 2.1¢
Options forfeitec 36,68¢ 7.01
Options expirec 2,81¢ 4.87
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 993,27 2.11
Options grante: 1,043,04! 18.21
Options exercise 308,08: 3.22
Options forfeitec 5,62¢ 9.6t
Options expire( 9,44 4.72
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 1,713,16! $ 11.6¢
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 665,35. $ 1.47

The following table summarizes information abouti@ps outstanding at December 31, 2010:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Average Remaining Average Remaining
Options Exercise Contractual Options Exercise Contractual
Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Price Life (Years) Exercisable Price Life (Years)
$0.25— $2.50 524,66: $ 0.4 3.07 524,66 $ 0.44 3.07
$2.51— $13.66 145,45¢ $ 5.4¢ 5.21 140,69C $ 5.3¢ 5.1¢
$13.67— $18.21 1,043,04 $ 18.21 4.34 - $ — —
1,713,16/ $ 11.6¢ 4.0: 665,35 $ 1.4i 3.52

The intrinsic value of exercised stock optionsakulated based on the difference between the isgegpcice
and the quoted market price of our common stoaif dse close of the exercise date. The aggreg#iasit value @
options exercised for the years ended Decembe2@1), 2009 and 2008 was $4.7 million, $4.3 millgomd
$10.2 million, respectively. The aggregate intiinglue for all options outstanding under the Comyfrastock
plans as of December 31, 2010 was $18.1 millioe ddgregate intrinsic value for options exercisabider the
Companys stock plans as of December 31, 2010 was $13libmiThe weighted average remaining contractdie
for all options outstanding and all options exeable under the Comparsystock plans as of December 31, 2010
4.03 years and 3.52 years, respectively. As of Bee 31, 2010, total unrecognized compensationresgeelated
to non-vested stock options granted prior to tlzé ds estimated at $2.8 million, which the Compexgects to
recognize over a weighted average period of appratdly 0.94 years. Total unrecognized compensatpense is
estimated and may be increased or decreased e fpdwiods for subsequent grants or forfeitures.
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Our nonvested stock awards are comprised of resdrstock and restricted stock units. The Compasyah
right of repurchase on such shares that lapseadé @f twentyfive percent (25%) of the total shares awardedhek
successive anniversary of the initial award dateyided that the employee continues to provideisesvto the
Company. In the event that an employee terminags ¢mployment with the Company, any shares @ratin
unvested and consequently subject to the rightmfinchase shall be automatically reacquired byCthmpany at th
original cash purchase price paid by the emploiyegy. During the year ended December 31, 2018,518
forfeited shares of restricted stock have beenrodyased by the Company at no cost and subsequetitisd. A
summary of the status for nonvested stock award$é Becember 31, 2010 is presented as follows:

Total of Shares Weighted
Number Average

Restricted Restricted Underlying Grant-Date
Nonvested Stock Award Stock Stock Units Awards Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 771,78: 63,723 835,51( $ 14.0¢
Granted 540,66 63,79 604,46 23.4¢
Vested 193,95 17,24: 211,19¢ 14.2¢
Forfeited 75,39: 13,60 88,99¢ 20.3¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 1,043,10. 96,67 1,139,77. $ 18.5¢
Granted 1,170,38! 138,89! 1,309,27! 10.2Z
Vested 393,76 27,33¢ 421,10: 16.37
Forfeited 220,43: 21,41 241,84! 17.3¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 1,599,28. 186,81 1,786,10. $ 13.11
Granted 991,37¢ 333,15: 1,324,53. 17.1:
Vested 856,96« 88,55¢ 945,52: 13.7¢
Forfeited 142,17¢ 26,34: 168,51¢ 13.6i
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 1,591,52; 405,07 1,996,59. $ 15.4:

The aggregate intrinsic value for all non-vestearsh of restricted common stock and restricteckstods
outstanding as of December 31, 2010 was $44.6amillThe weighted average remaining contractuafdifell non-
vested shares of restricted common stock and eesdrstock units as of December 31, 2010 was Z2afsy

We granted nonvested stock awards at no cost igieats during the years ended December 31, 201@) 2
and 2008. As of December 31, 2010, total unreca@ghtompensation expense related to non-vesteéttedtstock
and restricted stock units was $22.4 million, which Company expects to recognize over a weighterthge
period of approximately 1.68 years. Total unrecegdicompensation expense may be increased or dedrena
future periods for subsequent grants or forfeitures

Of the 945,523 shares of the Company’s restridiecksand restricted stock units vesting duringytear ended
December 31, 2010, the Company repurchased 325[&#2@s at an aggregate purchase price of appretimat
$5.5 million pursuant to the stockholder’s rightlenthe Plans to elect to use common stock tofpass
withholding obligations. The repurchased sharesweabsequently retired.

Common Stock Warrants

In prior years, the Company had granted an aggeeatfat03,368 warrants to purchase common stock. The
common stock warrants began to expire in Febru@®s2hrough to April 2015 with exercise prices riaiggrom
$3.00 to $24.50. As of December 31, 2010 and 2@@8ants to purchase 24,375 shares of common sterk
outstanding.
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Shares Reserved for Issuance

At December 31, 2010, the Company had reserveflifore issuance the following shares of commonkstoc
upon the exercise of options and warrants:

Common stock available for future issuances un@év Zquity Incentive Pla 1,477,711
Common stock available for outstanding options amebsted restricted stock un 2,118,223
Common stock warran 24,37¢

3,620,32

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On July 1, 2010, in connection with its purchasefthe outstanding capital stock of Nexius, thapany
issued a total of 158,070 unregistered sharesraSoore common stock as partial consideration foh sicquisitior

On August 31, 2010, in connection with its purchasall of the outstanding capital stock of Nedstae
Company issued a total of 58,045 shares of comnmmk $0 two key employee shareholders of Nedstags€
shares were issued pursuant to the terms of Stach&se Agreements based on the purchase of sodbenof
shares equal to 30% of such shareholders’ respentinsideration received in the acquisition of Natdsy the
Company.

11. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a 401(k) Plan for the benefitldl&. employees who meet certain eligibility regonents.
This plan covers substantially all of the Compariylstime U.S. employees. Since the Company hapended the
employer match effective January 1, 2009, the Campjpied not make any employer contributions during year
ended December 31, 2009. Effective January 1, 20&80Company reinstated the employer match and made
approximately $327,000 in contributions to the 4)Rlan for the year ended December 31, 2010. Tdregany
made approximately $0 and $366,000 in contributiorthe 401(k) Plan for the years ended Decembg?@19 and
2008, respectively.

12. Related Party Transactions

During 2010, the Company entered into a Data Pedtg@greement with a third party for which the &hi
Executive Officer of the Company was also a menalbéne third party’s board of directors until Oc&rt2010. The
Company paid $144,000 pursuant to such agreemeingdihe year ended December 31, 2010. In relatdhis
counterparty, there was $14,000 included in accopayable balances as of December 31, 2010.

During 2009, the Company entered into a Licensimd) ervices agreement with a third party for which
director of the Company is also a member of theltparty’s board of directors. The Company recoggii$535,000
and $319,000 of revenue pursuant to such agreetneing the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. In relation to this counterparty,rthevas $4,000 and $257,000 included in accountsvaisle balance
as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

13. Geographic Information

The Company attributes revenues to customers lmas#te location of the customer. The compositiothef
Company’s sales to unaffiliated customers betwhege in the United States and those in other locafior each
year is set forth belov

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)
United State: $142,31: $108,01° $100,89!
Europe/United Kingdom/Othe 17,251 11,55 10,46:
Canadz 7,96¢ 6,192 5,821
Latin America 5,471 92¢ —
Asia 1,98¢ 1,04¢ 18€
Total Revenue $174,99¢ $127,74( $117,37:

The composition of the Company’s property and eqpaipt between those in the United States and timose i
other countries as of the end of each year isostt below:

December 31

2010 2009
(In thousands)
United State: $22,627 $17,02:
Europe/United Kingdor 5,221 25€
Canade 411 23
Latin America 37¢ —
Total $28,637 $17,30:

14. Restructuring

During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company amoed a restructuring program and reduced its toesdc
by approximately forty-six full-time positions. Ding the year ended December 31, 2009 a $563,000ehelated
to severance and other costs directly relateddadtuction of our workforce was included in op@gexpenses. In
addition, included in stock-based compensation es@dor the year ended December 31, 2009, was dpmately
$175,000 due to restricted stock awards that werdified to accelerate vesting as part of the restining plan. As
of December 31, 2009, the Company had approxim&te#g,000 in outstanding restructuring liabilitynststing of
employee severance that the Company paid durinfirgteuarter of 2010. No such plans were enténéalin the
fiscal year 2010.
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

15. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Revenue:

Cost of revenues(:

Selling and marketing(1
Research and development
General and administrative(
Amortization

Total expenses from operatio

Income from operation

Interest and other income, r

(Loss) gain from foreign currenc

Gain on sale (impairment) of
marketable securitie

Income (loss) before income tax
(Provisions) benefit for income
taxes

Net (loss) incom

Net (loss) income attributable
common stockholder:
Basic
Diluted

Weighted-average number of
shares used in per share
calculation— common stocl
Basic
Diluted

Cost of revenue
Selling and marketin
Research and developmt

Three Months Ended

Dec. 31, Sep. 30 Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30 Jun. 30, Mar. 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009
(In thousands, except share and per share dat
$ 51,198$ 457008 4196:$ 36,13¢$ 3382% 3191¢$ 31374 $ 30,62«
15,47 13,74: 12,37+ 10,35¢ 9,544 9,45¢ 9,69t 10,03¢
17,71z 16,31¢ 12,89: 12,71¢ 10,89¢ 10,24: 10,32¢ 10,48¢
7,98¢ 7,25¢ 6,08¢ 5,047 4,617 4,677 4,52¢ 4,00t
9,37¢ 10,20 8,167 6,20¢ 5,357 4,35: 4,01¢ 4,507
1,98¢ 1,38( 65¢ 507 42t 38t 327 32C
52,54: 48,90( 40,17¢ 34,831 30,84: 29,117 28,894 29,35¢
(1,347 (3,197 1,78% 1,302 2,98t 2,80t 2,48( 1,27C
(64) 37) 40 114 62 39 134 17t
(13%) (83) (12 (117) (80) (71) 7 12
— — — — 89 — — —
(1,54¢) (3,319 1,811 1,29¢ 3,05¢ 2,77¢ 2,621 1,457
1,051 1,182 (98¢€) (1,070 (1,499 (1,82¢) (1,436 (1,180
$ (495 $ (2,139 % 82t $ 22¢ $ 1,562 $ 94t $ 1,18t $ 2717
$ (495 $ (2,139 % 82t $ 22¢ $ 1,562 $ 94t $ 1,18t $ 277
$ (0.0 $ 0.0 % 0.0: $ 0.01 ¢ 0.0t § 0.0: $ 0.0¢ $ 0.01
$ (0.02) $ (0.079) % 0.0: $ 0.01 $ 0.0t $ 0.0: $ 0.0¢ $ 0.01
31,449,66 31,223,07 30,965,80 30,630,46 30,306,34 30,204,14 30,052,51 29,477,36
31,449,66 31,223,07 31,736,71 31,475,13 31,238,73 31,157,22 31,008,67 30,461,97
(1) Amortization of stoc-based compensation is included in the precedirgitéms as follows
Three Months Ended

Dec.31 Sep.30 Jun.30, Mar.31, Dec.31 Sep.30 Jun.30, Mar. 31,

2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009
$ 44¢ $ 56S $ 24€ $ 23C $ 26z $ 277 $ 327 $ 32
1,88z 2,07¢ 1,03 1,21¢  1,04¢ 1,23¢  1,22¢ 1,11¢
59C 69¢ 31t 264 282 28t 30€ 23¢
2,93¢ 2,407 1,88¢ 961 88¢ 75t 672 62¢

General and administrati
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Finand@ficer, after evaluating the effectiveness of disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Securitieh&nge Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) Rules 134e) and
15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period coverechisyreport (the “Evaluation Date”), have concludeat as of the
Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and proceslare effective, in all material respects, tsuea that
information required to be disclosed in the reptrét we file and submit under the Exchange Ads(iecorded,
processed, summarized and reported as and wheinegqund (ii) is accumulated and communicated to ou
management, including our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to ailimely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control dvancial reporting that occurred during the founytharter of
2010 that have materially affected, or are reaslyriddely to materially affect, our internal controver financial
reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahcia
reporting, as such term is defined in ExchangeRdes 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)nder the supervision and with
participation of our management, including our Clirecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, wenducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our integmaitrol over financial reporting as of December 2110, based on
the guidelines established in Internal Control te¢mated Framework issued by the Committee of Sporg
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOY.iernal control over financial reporting inclidpolicies
and procedures that provide reasonable assuragardieg the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation
of financial statements for external reporting msgs in accordance with U.S. generally acceptesuating
principles. Based on that evaluation, managemeamtladed that our internal control over financigioging was
effective at December 31, 2010.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pusticounting firm, which audits our consolidatedafinial
statements, has issued an attestation report affgrativeness of our internal control over finaieeporting as of
December 31, 2010 included at the end of this @ecti
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of comScorénc.

We have audited comScore, Inc.’s internal contv@rdinancial reporting as of December 31, 2018gllzon
criteria established in Internal Control — Integaframework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the C@8t@ria). comScore, Inc.’s management is respda $dv
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting, and for its assessment of the effeatss of internal
control over financial reporting included in thecampanying ManagemestAnnual Report on Internal Control o
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgg@n opinion on the company’s internal controlr dwencial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Iajpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementa@cordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitex acquisition, use or disposition of the compaassets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, comScore, Inc. maintained, in adlterial respects, effective internal control oveanfcial
reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on theCCEOeria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance sheatsrn&core, Inc. as of December 31, 2010 and 20@bilee relate
consolidated statements of operations and compsareimcome, stockholders’ equity, and cash floarsefach of
the three years in the period ended December 31 @dcomScore, Inc. and our report dated Marci20%,1
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia

March 15, 2011
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 15, 2011, the Compensation Committee oBamard of Directors approved a policy authorizing
annual performance-based stock bonuses based outiereperformance during our 2011 fiscal year af as base
salary levels for our named executive officersdor 2011 fiscal year. A summary of such actiongtalty the
Compensation Committee is filed with this reporEaibit 10.17 and is incorporated herein by rafese

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNXCE

The information required by Item 10 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemamtiie
2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efi the fisca
year ended December 31, 2010. Certain informagguired by this item concerning our executive @ificis se
forth in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report onrfp10-K under “Executive Officers of the Registrant

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemamtiie
2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetdediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efithe fisca
year ended December 31, 20

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemantife
2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetdediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efithe fisca
year ended December 31, 20

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table summarizes our equity compensaplans as of December 31, 2010:

Number of Weighted-
Securities to bt Average Number of Securities
Issued Upon Exercise Remaining Available for
Exercise of Price of Future Issuance Under
Outstanding Outstanding Equity Compensation
Options, Options, Plans (Excluding
Warrants and Warrants Securities Reflected in
Rights and Rights Column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 2,118,231 % 9.4f 1,477,71(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders — — —
Total 2,118,231 $ 9.4f 1,477,711

(1) Our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan provides for anrinateases in the number of shares available foarsse
thereunder on the first day of each fiscal yeagjireng with our 2008 fiscal year, equal to thesteaf: (i) 4% of
the outstanding shares of our common stock onatstediay of the immediately preceding fiscal year;

(i) 1,800,000 shares; or (iii) such other amouwnbar board of directors may determi
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANEDIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemantife
2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetdediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efithe fisca
year ended December 31, 20

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemantife
2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efi the fisca
year ended December 31, 20

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part @ thnnual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements. See Index to Consolidabedncial Statements at Item 8 of this Report on
Form 10-K.

(2) All other schedules are omitted as the requimémrmation is inapplicable or the information is
presented in the Consolidated Financial Statermrsmdsotes thereto in Item 8 of Part Il of this AahReport
on Form 10-K.

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits filed as part of thipoet are listed under “Exhibits” at subsection ¢b}his
Item 15.

(b) Exhibits
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Exhibit Document

2.1(1) Stock Purchase Agreement by and amoung the Reagisiexius, Inc., the Shareholders of Nexius,
Inc. and Nabil Taleb, as representative of theegglldated July 1, 2010. (Exhibit 2.:
2.2(1) Equity Purchase Agreement by and amoung the Ragtst€S Worldnet Holdings B.V., Nedstat B.V.,
the equity holders of Nedstat B.V. and Stichtintje®s Nedstat, as the respresentative of the Seller
dated August 31, 2010. (Exhibit 2.2
3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registrant (Exhibit 3.<
3.2(2) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (iixBi4)
4.1(2) Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Exhibit ¢
4.2(2) Fourth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agraeetmeand among comScore Networks, Inc. and
certain holders of preferred stock, dated Augu®0D3 (Exhibit 4.2
4.3(2) Warrant to purchase 108,382 shares of Series D&thble Preferred Stock, dated July 31, 2002
(Exhibit 4.10)
10.1(2) Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors anakcutive officers (Exhibit 10.:
10.2(3) 1999 Stock Plan (Exhibit 4..
10.3(2) Form of Stock Option Agreement under 1999 Stock Phibit 10.3)
10.4(2) Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock PurehBgght under 1999 Stock Plan (Exhibit 1C
10.5(2) Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unitslar 1999 Stock Plan (Exhibit 10.
10.6(4) 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and res@atgd?9, 2009 (Exhibit 10.:
10.7(2) Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option under 2@xjuity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.’
10.8(2) Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock und@®2 Equity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.
10.9(2) Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Uniteler 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10
10.10(2; Stock Option Agreement with Magid M. Abraham, daletember 16, 2003 (Exhibit 10.1
10.11(2, Stock Option Agreement with Gian M. Fulgoni, daidecember 16, 2003 (Exhibit 10.1
10.12(5, Deed of Lease between South of Market LLC (as Lemilland comScore, Inc. (as Tenant), dated
December 21, 2007 (Exhibit 10.
10.13(6, Summary of 2008 Executive Compensation Bonus P
10.14(7, Summary of 2009 Executive Compensation Bonus P¢lsyibit 10.22)
10.15(8 Letter Agreement with Kenneth J. Tarpey, dated IApr2009 (Exhibit 10.1
10.16(4, Letter Agreement with John M. Green, dated MayZZ@9 (Exhibit 10.2
10.17 Summary of 2011 Executive Compensation Perforr-Based Stock Bonus Polic
211 List of Subsidiarie:
231 Consent of Ernst & Youn
24.1 Power of Attorney (see signature pa
311 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgaa®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgag®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002
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* The Registrant has omitted certain schedules ahibiexidentified therein in accordance with Ite@1fo)(2) of
Regulation S-K. The registrant will furnish the dt®d schedules and exhibits to the Securities athdnhge
Commission upon reque!

(1) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgifeant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed iawer 9,
2010 (File No. 000-1158172). The number given ireptheses indicates the corresponding exhibit nuimbe
suchForm 1(-Q.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgiReant's Registration Statement on Form S-1nasraled,
dated June 26, 2007 (No. 333-141740). The numbengn parentheses indicates the correspondindpiexhi
number in suclForm &-1.

(3) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgiReant's Registration Statement on Form S-8,nasraled,
dated July 2, 2007 (No. 333-144281). The numbegrgin parentheses indicates the corresponding iéxhib
number in suclForm ¢£-8.

(4) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgifeant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed Ay 10,
2009 (File No. 000-1158172). The number given ireptheses indicates the corresponding exhibit nuimbe
suchForm 1(-Q.

(5) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgifeant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed Febyug, 2008
(File No. 000-1158172). The number given in paresd#is indicates the corresponding exhibit numbsudh
Form &K.

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s GurReport on Form 8-K, filed December 27, 20074Fil
No. 00(-1158172).

(7) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to theifeant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed Marc&, 2009
(File No. 000-1158172). The number given in pares#s indicates the corresponding exhibit numbsudh
Form 1(-K.

(8) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to theifeant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed Aprid,22009
(File No. 000-1158172). The number given in pares#s indicates the corresponding exhibit numbsudh
Form &K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

COMSCORE, INC.

By: /s/ MaciD M. ABRAHAM, FH.D.

Magid M. Abraham, Ph.D.
President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director

March 15, 2011

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below hereby
constitutes and appoints Magid M. Abraham, Ph.[. Kkenneth J. Tarpey, and each of them acting iddadly, as
his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agenith full power of each to act alone, with full pomseof substitution
and resubstitution, for him and in his name, plkace stead, in any and all capacities, to sign adyal amendmen
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with all exhgthereto and all documents in connection therewitti the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting uaitbattorneys-in-fact and agents, with full pow&each to act
alone, full power and authority to do and performateand every act and thing requisite and necessdny done in
connection therewith, as fully for all intents gonatposes as he might or could do in person, hewgifying and
confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and ageor his or their substitutes, may lawfully docause to be done
by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl MAGID M. ABRAHAM, FH.D. President, Chief Executive Officer and  March 15, 201
Magid M. Abraham, Ph.C Director (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl KENNETH J. TARPEY Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financi  March 15, 201
Kenneth J. Tarpe and Accounting Officer)

/sl GiaN M. FULGONI Executive Chairman of the Board of March 15, 201

Gian M. Fulgoni Directors
/sl JEFFREY GANEK Director March 15, 201
Jeffrey Ganel
/s/ BRUCE GOLDEN Director March 15, 201

Bruce Golder

/s/ WILLIAM J. FENDERSON Director March 15, 201
William J. Hendersol

108




Signature

/sl WiLLIAM KATZ

William Katz

/s RoNALD J. KORN

Ronald J. Korr

Is/ JARL MOHN

Jarl Mohn

109

Title

Director

Director

Director

Date

March 15, 201

March 15, 201

March 15, 201



Exhibit 10.17

Summary of 2011 Executive Compensation Bonus Policy

On March 15, 2011, the Compensation Comm(ttez“Committee”) of the Board of Directors of coote, Inc. (the “Company”),
following a review of the Company’s executive comgation program in conjunction with its outside gamsation consultant, approved the
following: (i) base salaries for 2011 to be effeetas of March 1, 2011; (ii) short-term performabesed stock bonus target and maximum
levels to be paid entirely with awards of restricstock based on 2011 annual performance for naxeclutive officers of the Company; and
(iii) long-term performance-based stock bonus thagel maximum levels to be paid entirely with avganflrestricted stock based on 2011
annual performance for named executive officethefCompany:

Value of Short-Term Value of Long-Term
Performance-Based Stock Performance-Based Stock Bonus
Bonus Level for Annual Level for Annual Performance at
Performance at Time of Grant Time of Grant
2011 Base
Annualized
Name and Principal Position Salary Target Maximum Target Maximum
Magid M. Abraham, Ph.C $393,10¢* $471,75( $707,62! $1,179,00! $1,768,50!
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Kenneth J. Tarpe 315,00( 118,12! 141,75( 275,62¢ 330,75(
Chief Financial Officel
Gian M. Fulgoni 346,00(* 311,40( 467,10( 795,80( 1,193,80!
Executive Chairman of the Board of Directi
Gregory T. Dale 290,00( 69,60( 130,50( 162,40( 304,50(
Chief Operating Office
Christiana L. Lin 265,00( 79,50( 119,25( 185,50( 278,25(
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and (
Privacy Officer

* Until February 28, 2011, Dr. Abraham and Mrldani each received a base salary paid in cadieatte previously approved by the
Committee for 2010. Following such date, in lieu@feiving a cash salary for the remainder of 2@ath of Dr. Abraham and
Mr. Fulgoni will receive an award of common stodkite Company with a value equal to the amounttdry foregone by Dr. Abraha
and Mr. Fulgoni, respectively, based on the clogirige of Company common stock as reported on Hh8MNAQ Global Market at the
time of grant. The awards in lieu of salary willlpade by the Committee as soon as practicablerfmitpthe end of our 2011 fiscal
year. These awards are expected to be fully vesgtdte time of grant. Dr. Abraham and Mr. Fulgoragosed to be paid in sto
following February 28, 2011 in order to increase @ompany’s flexibility to invest in growth initiaes and to further align key
executive interests with stockholder intere

The Company anticipates that each of the dkam and long-term performanbased stock bonus awards, if awarded, will be ndadieg
the first quarter of 2012 based on each executetsal performance and will be valued based orlth&ng price of the Compargsftcommol
stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market andhte of grant. Recipients must remain employeslthh the date that awards are
granted in order to earn the awards. The Commiiteies sole discretion, retains the right to amesaupplement, supersede or cancel the b
program for any reason, and reserves the righéterchine whether and when to pay out any awardsydéess of the achievement of the
performance targets.

The Company expects that the short-term pmdioce-based stock bonus awards will be fully vespanh the grant date. The Company
further expects that one-quarter of the numbehafes of the long-term performance-based stockamnards to each named executive
officer would vest immediately upon the grant daieg the one-quarter of the shares subject towtaedawould vest annually thereafter
beginning on the first anniversary of the granedatitil the full amount of the award is vested,jeabto continued employment through each
of the vesting dates.



Name of

Subsidiary

Certifica S.A.

Certifica.com S.A.

comScore Canada, In
comScore Europe Ltc
comScore Worldnet Europe, SL
CS Worldnet Holding B\
CSWS, Inc.

Nedstat BV

Nedstat Gmbt

Nedstat Limitec

RSC The Quality Measurement Compi

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Chile

Argentina
Ontario, Canad
United Kingdom
Spain
Netherlands
Delaware, U.S./
Netherlands
Germany
United Kingdom
Indiana, U.S.A



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference iféllewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-144p&ttaining to the 1999 Stock Plan and the 20QTitEq
Incentive Plan of comScore, Inc.;

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-15%3@5taining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan of
comScore, Inc.;

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-159p26taining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan of
comScore, Inc.;

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-166p48taining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan of
comsScore, Inc.; and

(5) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-1663&0the registration of common stock, preferréatk,
warrants and debt securities of comScore, Inc.

of our report dated March 15, 2011, with resped¢htoconsolidated financial statements of comSdare,and our
report dated March 15, 2011, with respect to tliecéf’eness of internal control over financial repay of
comScore, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Rdr0-K) of comScore, Inc. for the year ended Decam3,
2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
March 15, 201:



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Magid M. Abraham, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkKomScore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dmndttate a
material fact necessary to make the statements,rimaliight of the circumstances under which sueteshents were
made, not misleading with respect to the perioceoad by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport,
fairly present in all material respects the finahciondition, results of operations and cash floithe registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdrAitts 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actddul 3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant bhade:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procsdareaused such disclosure controls and procedorre
be designed under our supervision, to ensure thggmal information relating to the registrant,lirding its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during tberiod in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyéeide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerall
accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi
report our conclusions about the effectivenest@fdisclosure controls and procedures, as of thegthe
period covered by this report based on such evahjand

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit’s internal control over financial reportitigat
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fisgalrter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartethe case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, oe#@sonably likely to materially affect, the regsit’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer andve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal
control over financial reporting, to the registrarguditors and the audit committee of the regigisaboard of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfiams):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cootrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to recgrtbcess,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that iniesmanagement or other employees who have a sim
role in the registrant’s internal controls overdintial reporting.

/s/ Macib M. ABRAHAM, PH.D.

Magid M. Abraham, Ph. D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: March 15, 201



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTT O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kenneth J. Tarpey, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkKomScore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dmndttate a
material fact necessary to make the statements,rimaliight of the circumstances under which sueteshents were
made, not misleading with respect to the perioceoad by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport,
fairly present in all material respects the finahciondition, results of operations and cash floithe registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdrAitts 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actddul 3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant bhade:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procsdareaused such disclosure controls and procedorre
be designed under our supervision, to ensure thggmal information relating to the registrant,lirding its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during tberiod in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyéeide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerall
accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi
report our conclusions about the effectivenest@fdisclosure controls and procedures, as of thegthe
period covered by this report based on such evahjand

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit’s internal control over financial reportitigat
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fisgalrter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartethe case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, oe#@sonably likely to materially affect, the regsit’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer andve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal
control over financial reporting, to the registrarguditors and the audit committee of the regigisaboard of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfiams):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cootrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to recgrtbcess,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that iniesmanagement or other employees who have a sim
role in the registrant’s internal controls overdintial reporting.

/s/ KENNETH J. TARPEY

Kenneth J. Tarpey
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 15, 201



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of comScone, (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period g
December 31, 2010 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8part
Magid M. Abraham, Chief Executive Officer of the@pany, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, agpsetl
pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2@ to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®an
Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Macib M. ABRAHAM, PH.D.

Magid M. Abraham, Ph. D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

March 15, 201:



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTT O
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of comScone, (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period g
December 31, 2010 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8part
Kenneth J. Tarpey, Chief Financial Officer of then@pany, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350,dupeed
pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2@ to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®an
Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ KENNETH J. TARPEY

Kenneth J. Tarpey
Chief Financial Officer

March 15, 201:



